### ENDOPOLYPLOIDY IN DENDROBIUM CHAO PRAYA SMILE AND ANTHURIUM ANDRAEANUM CV 'RED HOT'

KOH TENG SEAH

National University of Singapore

2009

### ENDOPOLYPLOIDY IN DENDROBIUM CHAO PRAYA SMILE AND ANTHURIUM ANDRAEANUM CV 'RED HOT'

### KOH TENG SEAH

(B. Sc. (Hons), NUS)

# A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE 2009

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Associate Professor Loh Chiang Shiong, for his constant guidance, advice and encouragement throughout the course of this research.

I would like to especially thank Mr Hee Kim Hor Daryl, for his encouragement, invaluable help and advice on the project. I am also grateful to Ms Tan Wee Kee for her advice and guidance on statistical analysis and thesis writing.

I would also like to express my heart felt appreciation to Mrs Ang Swee Eng for her technical assistance throughout the project.

For advice on nuclei isolation and flow cytometry techniques, I wish to thank Ms Lim Wanli, Mr Toh Kok Tee, Mr Ong Ling Yeow and Mr Mak Kah Jun for their advice and help.

I also wish to thank Ms Lee Lian Lian and Ms Jaclyn Mok for their advice on tissue culture techniques and Mr Chong Chee Seng for his advice on thesis writing.

Big thanks also go to Ms Carol Han, Ms Daphne Lim, Mr Edwin Phua, Ms Jacqueline Chee, Mr Leong Saimun, Mr Sean Tan, Mr Tan Banxiong, Ms Yap Youmin and Ms Zhang Lei for their kindness, help and company.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for their support and understanding and appreciation to all those whom I have missed out above for their help in making this thesis possible.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLI	EDGEMENTS	i
TABLE OF (	CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF AB	BREVIATIONS	vi
LIST OF FIG	JURES	vii
LIST OF TA	BLES	X
SUMMARY		xiii
Chapter 1	Introduction	1
Chapter 2	Literature review	3
2.1	The cell cycle and plant cell cycle	3
2.2	Flow cytometry as a tool to investigate endopolyploidy in plants	6
2.3	Endoreduplication in plants	11
2.4	Molecular mechanisms of plant endoreduplication cycle	17
2.5	Factors affecting endoreduplication in plants	21
2.6	Somaclonal variation and endopolyploidy	26
2.7	Dendrobium	28

ii

	2.8	Anthurium andraeanum	31
Chapt	ter 3	Systemic endopolyploidy in D. Chao Praya Smile	35
	3.1	Introduction	35
	3.2	Materials and methods	37
	3.2.1	Plant materials, culture media and culture conditions	37
	3.2.2	Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses	41
	3.2.3	Flow cytometric analyses	42
	3.2.4	Statistical analyses	42
	3.3	Results	43
	3.3.1	Endopolyploidy in seeds and protocorms cultured in liquid	43
		basal KC medium	
	3.3.2	Endopolyploidy in the shoot tips, axillary buds and	46
		Endenelumbidu in the leaves	10
	5.5.5 2.2.4	Endopolypioldy in the reate	40 52
	5.5.4 2.2.5	Endopolypioldy in the foots	55
	3.3.3	Endopolyploidy in the flowers	22
	3.4	Discussion	60
	3.4.1	Occurrence of endopolyploidy in seeds and developing	60
		protocorms in culture	
	3.4.2	Occurrence of systemic endopolyploidy	61
Chapt	ter 4	Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in	70
_		the protocorm cultures of D. Chao Praya Smile	
	4.1	Introduction	70
	4.2	Materials and methods	72
	4.2.1	Plant materials	72

iii

	4.2.2	Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy	72
	4.2.3	Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses	72
	4.2.4	Flow cytometric analyses	73
	4.2.5	Statistical analyses	73
	4.3	Results	74
	4.3.1	Effect of BA	74
	4.3.2	Effect of 2,4-D	79
	4.3.3	Effect of GA <sub>3</sub>	81
	4.3.4	Effect of TIBA	83
	4.3.5	Effect of PAC	86
	4.4	Discussion	90
	4.4.1	Effect of BA	90
	4.4.2	Effect of 2,4-D	91
	4.4.3	Effect of GA <sub>3</sub>	92
	4.4.4	Effect of TIBA	94
	4.4.5	Effect of PAC	96
Chapte	er 5	Tissue culture and endopolyploidy in A. andraeanum cv	100
		'Red Hot'	
	5.1	Introduction	100
	5.2	Materials and methods	102
	5.2.1	Plant materials	102
	5.2.2	Callus induction and shoot regeneration	104
	5.2.3	Shoot multiplication	104
	5.2.4	Measurement of plant growth and development	105
	5.2.5	Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in the	105
		callus tissues	
	5.2.6	Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses	105
	5.2.7	Flow cytometric analyses	105

5.	3	Results	107
5.	3.1	Effects of auxins on callus induction and shoot regeneration	107
5.	3.2	Effects of cytokinins on shoot multiplication of tissue-	112
		cultured plantlets	
5.	3.3	Growth patterns of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-	116
		cultured plantlets	
5.	3.4	Endopolyploidy analyses of greenhouse-grown plants and	119
		tissue-cultured plantlets	
5.	3.5	Effects of BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus	122
		tissues	
5.4	4	Discussion	124
5.4	4.1	Tissue culture	124
5.4	4.2	Growth patterns of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-	128
		cultured plantlets	
5.4	4.3	Endopolyploidy in the tissues of greenhouse-grown plants	129
		and tissue-cultured plantlets	
5.4	4.4	Effects of BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus	130
		tissues	
Chapter	6	Concluding remarks	133

106

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BA	Benzyl-aminopurine
CDC6	Cell division cycle 6
CYC/CDK	Cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinases
2,4-D	2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
EDTA	Ethylene-diaminetetraacetic acid
GA	Gibberellic acid
IAA	Indole-3-acetic acid
2-iP	6-(γ-γ-dimethylallylamino) purine
КС	Knudson C
KRP	Kip-related protein
MS	Murashige and Skoog
NAA	α-naphthaleneacetic acid
PAC	Paclobutrazol
PCIB	α-(p-chlorophenoxy) isobutryic acid
TIBA	2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Titles	Pages
2.1	The classical cell cycle.	4
2.2	Comparison of endomitosis and endoreduplication (One pair of chromosome is shown).	12
2.3	Flowers of greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants.	29
2.4	A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' plants.	32
3.1	Pseudobulbs of D. Chao Praya Smile.	38
3.2	Greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants.	39
3.3	Flowers of greenhouse-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile plants at different stages of anthesis.	39
3.4	Aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings.	40
3.5	Development of seeds and protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile in liquid basal KC medium over 12 weeks.	45
3.6	Aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings with flowers.	57
4.1	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 3 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or media supplemented with BA, 2,4-D or GA <sub>3</sub> .	77
4.2	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 6 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or media supplemented with BA, 2,4-D or GA <sub>3</sub> .	78

4.3	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 3 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with 2,4-D or TIBA.	85
4.4	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 6 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with 2,4-D or TIBA.	85
4.5	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 3 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with GA <sub>3</sub> , absolute ethanol or PAC.	88
4.6	Protocorms of <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile cultured for 6 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with $GA_3$ , absolute ethanol or PAC.	89
4.7	A simplified GA biosynthesis pathway showing the points of PAC activities.	97
5.1	Developmental stages of greenhouse-grown <i>A. andraeanum</i> cv 'Red Hot' leaves and flowers.	103
5.2	Young leaf lamina explants from greenhouse-grown A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' cultured on basal medium supplemented with 4.44 $\mu$ M BA and 2.26 $\mu$ M 2,4-D.	108
5.3	Effect of 2,4-D on callus induction of different types of explant from tissue-cultured <i>A. andraeanum</i> cv 'Red Hot' plantlets.	110
5.4	Effect of 2,4-D on shoot regeneration from callus explants cultured in media containing 4.44 $\mu$ M BA and 2,4-D for 3 months.	111
5.5	Effect of BA on shoot multiplication from tissue-cultured <i>A</i> . <i>andraeanum</i> cv 'Red Hot' plantlets cultured in media containing BA for 28 days.	113
		viii

- 5.6 Shoots cultured for 28 days in basal medium or media 114 supplemented with BA.
- 5.7 Effect of 11.1 μM of cytokinin (BA, kinetin, zeatin or 2-iP) on 115 shoot multiplication and leaf production of tissue-cultured A.
  *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets cultured in media containing cytokinin for 56 days.
- 5.8 Growth curves of leaf petioles, laminas, peduncles and spathes of 117 greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants.
- 5.9 Growth curves of leaf petioles and laminas of tissue-cultured *A*. 118 *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets.
- 6.1 Maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of 133 greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants.
- 6.2 Maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of 134 aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings.
- 6.3 Maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of 135 greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'.

# LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Titles	Pages
3.1	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile seeds and protocorms cultured in liquid basal KC medium during development.	44
3.2	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from the shoot tip, axillary bud and pseudobulb tissues of greenhouse-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile plants.	47
3.3	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from the shoot tip, axillary bud and pseudobulb tissues and 0.5-cm lateral shoots of aseptically-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile seedlings.	47
3.4	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of greenhouse-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile leaves during vegetative development.	49
3.5	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of the first leaves of greenhouse-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile taken from shoots just before bolting and 4 months after bolting.	51
3.6	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of aseptically-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile leaves during vegetative development.	52
3.7	Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of greenhouse-grown <i>D</i> . Chao Praya Smile roots during development.	54

Х

- 3.8 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values)
  54 from different parts of aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile roots during development.
- 3.9 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from 56 different floral tissues of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants during development.
- 3.10 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values)
  58 from different floral tissues of complete flowers from asepticallygrown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings during development.
- 3.11 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values)
  59 from different floral tissues of deformed flowers (without dorsal sepal) from aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings.
- 4.1 Effect of BA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of 76*D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with BA.
- 4.2 Effect of 2,4-D on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms 80 of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with 2,4-D.
- 4.3 Effect of GA<sub>3</sub> on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of 82 *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with GA<sub>3</sub>.
- 4.4 Effects of 2,4-D and TIBA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the 84 protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC medium and KC medium supplemented with 1.0 μM 2,4-D or 50.0 μM TIBA.

xi

- 4.5 Effects of  $GA_3$  and PAC on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the 87 protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC medium and KC medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub>, 2.0 ml I<sup>-1</sup> absolute ethanol or 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC.
- 5.1 Effects of auxins (2,4-D, IAA and NAA) on callus induction of 108 young leaf lamina explants from greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants.
- 5.2 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) 120 from different parts of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants during development.
- 5.3 Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) 121
  from different parts of tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'
  plantlets during development.
- 5.4 Effect of BA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the callus tissues 123 of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' after 6 weeks of culturing in media containing BA.
- 5.5 Effect of 2,4-D on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the callus tissues 123 of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' after 6 weeks of culturing in media containing 2,4-D.

### SUMMARY

Endopolyploidy profiles of greenhouse-grown and aseptically-grown Dendrobium Chao Praya Smile and Anthurium andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' were investigated using flow cytometric analysis. For D. Chao Praya Smile, the occurrence of systemic endopolyploidy, with nuclear DNA content ranging from 2C to 32C, was detected in both greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings. Multiploid cells were found in all the tissues analysed except in seeds where only 2C nuclei were detected. Endoreduplication was observed to be developmentally regulated in the cells of protocorms, leaves and roots, but not in the flowers. In the flowers of D. Chao Praya Smile, higher ploidy level was observed in the cells of column as compared to the dorsal and lateral sepals, petals, labellum and pedicel. Similar phenomena were observed in the aseptically-grown seedlings. Protocorms cultured in media containing BA resulted in a decrease in endoreduplication. Conversely, the presence of 2,4-D or GA<sub>3</sub> in the culture medium increased ploidy variation in the protocorms. Addition of TIBA or PAC to the culture medium only inhibited endoreduplication in the protocorms after 6 weeks of culture. On the other hand, the nuclei of greenhousegrown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' were relatively stable with minimal ploidy variations. Only nuclei with 2C and 4C DNA content were detected in the leaves, petioles, roots and spathes. However, nuclei with up to 8C DNA content were detected in the spadices of greenhouse-grown plants. In the callus tissues of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot', addition of 2,4-D or BA to the culture medium had no effect on endopolyploidy variation. The possible relation between somaclonal variation and endopolyploidy in the explant tissues is discussed.

### Chapter 1 Introduction

Endopolyploidy, a result of endoreduplication, has been reported to be common in angiosperms, but not gymnosperms (Barow 2006). Endoreduplication occurs when the normal cell cycle is disrupted and an endonuclear chromosome duplicates in the absence of intervening segregation and cytokinesis (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). The occurrence of endopolyploidy is thought to be family-specific (Barow 2006). For instance, endopolyploidy is common in members of the Cucurbitaceae and Orchidaceae families, but not in members of the Araceae and Liliaceae families (Barow 2006). Endopolyploidy has been observed in different tissues and is spatially and temporally regulated in plants such as *Arabidopsis* (Galbraith et al. 1991), cabbage (Kudo and Kimura 2001a), cucumber (Gilissen et al. 1993), tomato (Smulders et al. 1994), orchids (Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004) and ice plant (De Rocher et al. 1990). The extent of endopolyploidy in plants has been found to be affected by both endogenous (genetic variations and plant growth regulators) and exogenous (light, temperature, nutrients and presence of symbionts or parasites) factors (Barow 2006).

The occurrence of endopolyploidy in plants is suggested to be one of the possible mechanisms of somaclonal variation (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). Somaclonal variants are considered undesirable if clonal materials are required (Vajrabhaya 1977). Nevertheless, the ability to generate variations in a control manner could be beneficial for crop improvement (Gould 1986). However, somaclonal variation occurs randomly (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981) and the mechanism of somaclonal variation is poorly understood (Puente et al. 2008). One of the possible causes of somaclonal variation could be the pre-existing genetic differences in somatic cells of the initial explants (Evans 1989). Explants that exhibit endopolyploidy would contain a mixture of cells

of varying ploidy levels and shoots with different ploidy levels might be regenerated from these explants (Lim and Loh 2003). Thus culturing explants with multiploid cells might be a cause of somaclonal variation. Therefore, an insight to the endopolyploidy profiles of plants would be useful in the understanding of the nature of explant tissues and provide a possible explanation to the role of endoreduplication in somaclonal variation.

In the present study, the endopolyploidy profiles of two horticulturally important plants, an orchid hybrid (*Dendrobium* Chao Praya Smile) and an anthurium hybrid (*Anthurium andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot') were analysed. The effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in the protocorm cultures of *D*. Chao Praya Smile and the callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' were also determined. The objectives of this study are: (1) to analyse the occurrence of multiploid cells in different tissues; (2) to study on the patterns of endopolyploidy throughout the development and (3) to examine the effects of selected plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in the protocorm cultures of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'.

### **Chapter 2** Literature review

#### 2.1 The cell cycle and plant cell cycle

The typical cell cycle is considered as the mechanism for cell growth and development. Stringent control of the cell cycle is required to ensure that the complete genome is only duplicated once per cell cycle, so as to maintain the genome integrity during the development of a multicellular organism (Francis 1998, Gutierrez et al. 2002). Cell cycling occurs in proliferative cells (Francis 1998, Francis 2007) and involves the accurate duplication, segregation of the chromosomal DNA and division of cell leading to the passing of genetic information from one mother cell to two daughter cells (Joubes and Chevalier 2000).

The cell cycle composes of four distinct phases, namely  $G_1$ , S,  $G_2$  and M phase (Fig 2.1) (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). At the  $G_1$  phase, which is also known as the postmitotic interphase, the cell will grow and integrate the relevant signals that will trigger the cell to enter into the S phase and progress through the rest of the cell cycle (Dewitte and Murray 2003). In the S phase, replication of DNA occurs. The DNA content in a nuclear doubles (increases from 2C to 4C, where C is the DNA content of the haploid nuclear genome complement). After the S phase, it proceeds to  $G_2$  phase. At  $G_2$  phase, materials that are needed for nuclear and cell division accumulate and cytoskeletons are reorganised. These allow the separation of chromosome to occur. The cell then proceeds to M phase where mitosis occurs. The whole cell cycle ends when cytokinesis occurs and two daughter cells are formed (Dewitte and Murray 2003). Depending on the environmental conditions, availability of nutrients and plant growth regulators, the newly divided cells would either exit or re-enter into another cell cycle (Doonan 2005).



Fig 2.1. The classical cell cycle (adapted from Brooker 1999). See text for detailed description of each stage.

For proliferative cells to complete the whole cell cycle, they must be competent to pass through the checkpoints of cell cycle, namely late  $G_1$  ( $G_1$ /S) and late  $G_2$  phase ( $G_2$ /M) (Fig 2.1) (Francis and Inze 2001). The competency of the proliferative cells to complete the whole cell cycle is influenced by the availability of nutrients, plant growth regulators and environmental conditions such as light and water (Francis and Inze 2001). If these factors are lacking, the cell cycle will be arrested at the  $G_1$ /S or  $G_2$ /M transition phase. The  $G_1$ /S and  $G_2$ /M transition phases are the two main phases where the extracellular signals seem to act on (Doonan 2005). The effects and nature of these signals are tissue dependent and vary with developmental stages (Doonan 2005). During these phases in the cell cycle, the co-ordinated assembly, activation and sequential inactivation of specific cyclin/cyclin-dependent kinases complexes (CYC/CDK complexes) occur to ensure that the DNA contents in the cells replicate only once per cycle (Fowler et al. 1998). CDKs belong to a class of Ser/Thr kinases and their kinase activities depend on their association with cyclin (CYC) proteins (Churchman et al. 2006). Studies have shown that D-type cyclins (CYCD) regulated the mitotic cycles at the G<sub>1</sub>/S transition and over-expression of CYCD3;1 resulted in multicellular trichomes and inhibited endoreduplication in the trichomes of Arabidopsis (Schnittger et al. 2002, Dewitte et al. 2003). Hence, genes that regulate cell cycle would influence the endoreduplication cycle in plant cells (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). Over-expression of CDK inhibitors such as Kip-related proteins (KRPs) and SIAMESE (SIM) gene was reported to be able to inhibit cell and endoreduplication cycles (Verkest et al. 2005, Churchman et al. 2006). Hence, the mitotic cell cycle and the endoreduplication cycle might share the same machinery even though the regulatory mechanisms controlling the transition between both cycles have yet to be fully elucidated (Verkest et al. 2005).

The growth and development of eukaryotic organisms depend on the stringent spatial and temporal coordination of cell proliferation, cell differentiation and cell specialisation (Coffman 2004). The overall control of the cell cycle is conserved in all eukaryotic organisms (Murray et al. 2001, De Jager et al. 2005) and orthologs of cell cycle genes have also been found in plants (Sabelli et al. 1996, Springer et al. 2000, Castellano et al. 2001, De Jager et al. 2001, Ramos et al. 2001, Castellano et al. 2004).

However, plants exhibit unique growth characteristics, developmental patterns and body architectures (Kondorosi and Kondorosi 2004). Unlike animal, plant cells that are involved in cell cycle reside only in the meristem regions (Anova and Rost 1998, Doonan 2005). In plants, formation of adult organs and structures occur after seed germination instead of embryogenesis (Doonan 2005). Many plant cells also have the potential to de-differentiate in response to external signals, such as pathogen infection, wounding, and plant growth regulator treatments (Kondorosi and Kondorosi 2004). Thus the control of the entry and exit from the cell cycle in plant cells is more flexible than that in the animal cells. This flexibility allows the plants which are sessile to better adapt to the environment (Kondorosi and Kondorosi 2004).

Plant meristem consists of a mixture of non-cycling, slowly cycling and rapidly cycling cells (Murray et al. 2001, Doonan 2005). Given the appropriate signals (abiotic or biotic), the meristem cells will continuously divide, to form a new layer of meristem cells, while the older cells behind the new meristem cells will differentiate to produce new organs such as leaves, roots and flowers (De Jager et al. 2005, Doonan 2005). It has been proposed that differentiating cells will exit cell cycle and become quiescent or enter endoreduplication cycle (Kondorosi and Kondorosi 2004). Endoreduplication cycle is believed to be the switch between cell proliferation and cell differentiation during the developmental stages (Jasinski et al. 2002). This cycle shares several characteristics with the mitotic cycle and is considered to be a modified form of the typical cell cycle (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). Studies on endoreduplication and cell cycles are often carried out with flow cytometer (Yanpaisan et al. 1999).

#### 2.2 Flow cytometry as a tool to investigate endopolyploidy in plants

Flow cytometry is a technique used for measuring or analysing the property of single biological particles such as cells, nuclei and organelles in a fluid suspension (Dolezel et al. 1994, Yanpaisan et al. 1999, Carter and Ormerod 2000). These cells are usually

stained by fluorochromes. The intensity of fluorescence given out by each cell will be measured by the flow cytometer. The results can be shown as peaks in the form of histograms (Yanpaisan et al. 1999).

A flow cytometer basically consists of a fluidics system, an optical system and a signal processing system (Carter and Ormerod 2000). The fluidics system will deliver the suspended particles from the sample individually into the sensing region of the flow chamber where the light is focused. The light source is usually an argon-ion gas laser, which emits light at a specific wavelength to excite the fluorochromes (Carter and Ormerod 2000). The emitted fluorescence will be detected and recorded by the photomultiplier tubes and photodiode of the optical system. The light signals will subsequently be converted to proportional electronic signals that are digitised for computational analysis (Carter and Ormerod 2000). For the determination of absolute DNA amount, the fluorescence intensities of nuclei of internal or external standard and sample population are compared (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991). Background or noise due to debris with low fluorescence can be eliminated from the analysis by creating a gating region around the signals due to intact nuclei on a bivariate histogram (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991). For each sample, about 10 000 nuclei are usually analysed as large sample size improves the accuracy of the reading (Galbraith 1990). In addition, the accuracy of the reading is also influenced by factors intrinsic to the instrument and factors associated with sample preparation and material used (Galbraith 1990). Natural pigments (chlorophyll) and organelles that auto-fluoresce would reduce the resolution of the analysis (Bergounioux and Brown 1990, Galbraith and Lambert 1996). Furthermore, certain flurochrome stains which bind preferentially to the AT-rich or the GC-rich regions of the DNA would result in inaccuracy when determining the absolute amount of nuclear DNA from AT-rich or GC-rich samples (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Therefore, the selection of an appropriate flurochrome stain and optimisation of instrumentation settings are essential when using a flow cytometer.

Before the application of flow cytometry in plant system, Feulgen microdensitometry and microspectrofluorometry were the main methods used in determining ploidy levels and DNA contents in the plants. In comparison to these cytophotometric methods, flow cytometry is a more rapid, convenient and sensitive technique for analysing large nuclei population (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991, Dolezel 1991, Jones et al. 1998). Most of the flow cytometry methods have been developed using animal systems (Yanpaisan et al. 1999). Plant cells are usually much larger than the animal cells (mammalian blood and lymphoid cells) for which the flow cytometer was initially designed for (Galbraith 1989). Therefore, modifications to the flow cytometer are required before it can be used in plant research (Galbraith et al. 1983). The first attempt to use flow cytometry in plants was done by Heller (1973). However, application of this technique in plant research was limited by the lack of investment in plant cell biology as compared to animals and problems in the preparation of intact plant cells and nuclei suspension that were suitable for flow cytometry (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). This technique was only adapted and widely used for the application to plant cells after Galbraith et al. (1983) reported a simplified and rapid isolation protocol. Modifications to this protocol allow rapid analysis of DNA and RNA contents, karyotyping, cell counting, studying of chloroplasts and selection of particular cells or subcellular organelles of interest (Yanpaisan et al. 1999). Flow cytometry is a powerful tool for fast and accurate detection of DNA contents and endopolyploidy in both animal and plant systems (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991, Biradar and Rayburn 1993, Yanpaisan et al. 1999). It has been used for the analyses of endoreduplication of a variety of tissue types and development stages of *Arabidopsis* (Galbraith et al. 1991), cabbage (Kudo and Kimura 2001a), orchids (Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004) and ice plant (De Rocher et al. 1990).

Flow cytometry and cell sorting require the sample to be a single intact cell or nuclei suspension (Galbraith 1989). Therefore, the accuracy of the analysis depends on the quality of the cells or nuclei suspension. As higher plants comprise of a complex threedimensional structure of inter-connected tissues with cells having thick cellulose walls, nuclei isolation is more difficult than animals (Bergounioux and Brown 1990). During the preparation of nuclei suspension, sample preparation methods and the composition and pH of the extraction buffer are critical in ensuring the quality and quantity of the nuclei (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Intact nuclei can be isolated from the plant cells and tissues by direct chopping with a razor blade in the extraction buffer (Galbraith et al. 1983, Lim and Loh 2003), crushing with a glass rod in buffer (Lim and Loh 2003), beating with beads in buffer (Roberts 2007) or grinding in a small homogeniser (Rayburn et al. 1989). Among them, the direct chopping method is the most commonly used (Yanpaisan et al. 1999). However, extensive chopping, which causes nuclear damage and generates more debris, has to be avoided (Dolezel et al. 1994). Modifications such as freezing plant suspensions before chopping and fixing plant materials before or after isolation are made to improve the quantity and quality of nuclei suspension (Yanpaisan et al. 1999).

As the stability of plant nuclei declines with time, the isolation of nuclei must be carried out on ice and analyses with flow cytometer must be carried out within 24 hours (Galbraith 1989, Arumuganathan and Earle 1991, Dolezel et al. 1994). Furthermore, during the isolation of nuclei, proper ratio of plant material to extraction

buffer must be used (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991). A high plant material to extraction buffer ratio will result in an increase in the amount of cellular debris and interfere with analysis, while a low plant material to extraction buffer ratio will dilute the nuclei concentration in the sample. In *Dendrobium*, it was found that young leaf tissues would produce mucous exudates that interfere with nuclei extraction (Jones and Kuehnle 1998). In such case, a low plant material to extraction buffer ratio is preferred.

The functions of the extraction buffer are to ensure the release of nuclei, maintain the integrity of the nuclei by protecting the nuclei DNA against endonucleases and facilitate DNA staining (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Due to the diversity in tissue anatomy and chemistry among plant species, no single extraction buffer is universally optimum for all plants (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Modifications are made to the existing extraction buffers to obtain one that is optimal for the plant material used. Magnesium ions and spermine are usually used in the buffers to stabilise the nuclear chromatin. Metal chelator such as ethylene-diaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) is used to bind the divalent cations which are cofactors of nucleases (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Furthermore, glucose is sometimes added to help in maintaining nuclear integrity and preventing the clumping of nuclei (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Inorganic salts such as KCl and NaCl are added to achieve the adequate ionic strength, while surfactants such as Triton X-100 and Tween 20 are included to facilitate the release of nuclei from the cytoplasm, remove cytoplasmic remnants from the surface of isolated nuclei, disperse chloroplasts and prevent the aggregation of nuclei with the cytoplasmic debris (Dolezel and Bartos 2005). To improve the cell cycle resolution and nuclear extraction of certain plant material, 0.5 to 1.0 % (v/v) of Triton X-100 is used (De La Pena and Brown 2001). When browning (due to release of phenolic compounds) occurs, reducing agents (dithiothreitol or  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) or protectants (polyvinyl pyrrolidone) are used to preserve chromatic proteins and counteract the interference of phenolic compounds with DNA staining (De La Pena and Brown 2001). Organic buffers such as Tris, MOPS and HEPES are often used to stabilise the pH of the buffer at the range of 7.0 to 8.0, which is compatible with the common DNA fluorochromes (Dolezel 1991, Dolezel and Bartos 2005).

The DNA fluorochromes that are commonly used in flow cytometry are propidium iodide, 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI), Hoechst dyes and mithramycin (Dolezel 1991, Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Propidium iodide is a DNA intercalator and binds to double-stranded DNA and RNA. Therefore, samples that are stained with propidium iodide have to be pre-treated with RNase (Yanpaisan et al. 1999, Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Hoechst dyes and DAPI are easy to excite and measure by flow cytometer. They bind to double-stranded DNA and their bindings are not influenced by chromatin structure which would reduce the resolution of the peaks. They bind preferentially to AT-rich region, while mithramycin is specific to GC-rich region (Yanpaisan et al. 1999, Dolezel and Bartos 2005). Therefore, inaccuracy will be resulted if these stains are used for the analyses of AT-rich or GC-rich samples. Thus the choice of fluorochromes used is dependent on the resolution, stability of the fluorochromes, incubation time, excitation wavelength available in the flow cytometer, compatibility with other simultaneous staining, DNA stiochiometry and cost (Yanpaisan et al. 1999).

#### 2.3 Endoreduplication in plants

Cell polyploidisation, also known as endoployploidisation, has been reported to be a widespread occurrence in eukaryotes (Brodsky and Uryvaeva 1977). Endopolyploidy

is generally used to describe the result of multiple doubling (2<sup>n</sup>) of nuclear DNA without the occurrence of nuclear division (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). In both animal and plant, endopolyploidy in the somatic cells is mainly due to either endomitosis or endoreduplication (D'Amato 1964, Brodsky and Uryvaeva 1977, Joubes and Chevalier 2000). Geitler (1939) first reported on the occurrence of endomitosis (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). Unlike the classical cell cycle, endomitosis occurs in the absence of mitotic spindle and cytokinesis. After each round of endomitosis, chromosome number in the cells doubles (Fig 2.2) (Joubes and Chevalier 2000). Its occurrence is reported in several animal groups and rarely in the angiosperms (D'Amato 1984).



Fig 2.2. Comparison of endomitosis and endoreduplication (One pair of chromosome is shown) (adapted from D'Amato 1984).

On the other hand, endoreduplication has been reported to be common in many plant species (Joubes and Chevalier 2000, Barow 2006). It has been observed in over 90 % of angiosperms (D'Amato 1984), but its occurrence is not common in gymnosperms (Barow 2006). It was first reported by Levan (1939) to occur in the elongation zone of onion roots that were subjected to auxin treatment. Unlike endomitosis, endoreduplication does not result in an increase in chromosome number in each nuclear. Instead it leads to the production of chromosomes with 2<sup>n</sup> chromatids (Fig 2.2) (Lorz 1947, Levan and Hauschka 1953). The degree of endopolyploidy might differ with nuclei, thus resulting in a tissue possessing a mixture of cells of varying ploidy levels that are a multiple of 2C (Joubes and Chevalier 2000, Edgar and Orr-Weaver 2001). Endoreduplication has been hypothesised to be an evolutionary alternative for plants with small genome to achieve high nuclear DNA contents so as to support the differentiation and specialised function of certain cells (Nagl 1976, Galbraith et al. 1991). However, such phenomenon was also observed in plants with large genome (Joubes and Chevalier 2000).

Nevertheless, endoreduplication was reported to be common in tissues with specific function and cells of large size (Alvarez 1968, Joubes and Chevalier 2000, Kondorosi et al. 2000, Lim and Loh 2003). It was observed in endosperms of *Zea may* (Schweizer et al. 1995), suspensor cells of *Phaseolus* (Brodsky and Uryvaeva 1977), trichomes of *Arabidopsis* (Melaragno et al. 1993), raphide crystal idioblasts of *Vanilla* (Kausch and Horner 1984), parenchyma of orchid protocorms (Alvarez 1968), root hairs of *Elodea canadensis* (Dosier and Riopel 1978) and basal cells of the hairs of *Bryonia* anthers (Barlow 1975). It has also been observed in other types of tissue such as cotyledons (Dhillon and Miksche 1982) and leaf epidermal cells (Kinoshita et al. 1991, Melaragno et al. 1993).

Its occurrence may bring about certain advantages to the plants to help them better adapt to their environment (John and Qi 2008). Endoreduplication has been shown to be needed for the development of the enlarged symbiotic nodule cells in *Medicago truncatula* and *M. sativa* (Cebolla et al. 1999). Root nodule cells that lacked endoreduplication could not mature into nitrogen-fixing cells and symbiotic bacteria could not enter diploid cells (Vinardell et al. 2003). Endoreduplication during the development of these cells was to ensure that the symbiotic cells were large enough to host the nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Vinardell et al. 2003). It was also to provide the energy and nutrient for the bacteria by increasing transcriptional and metabolic activities of the host cells (Vinardell et al. 2003).

Endoreduplication might also participate in the formation of plant defense mechanisms. Calcium oxalate crystals are one of the defense mechanisms of plants against herbivores (Franceschi and Nakata 2005). These crystals accumulate in the idioblasts (Foster 1956). Since endoreduplication was reported in the idioblasts of *Vanilla planifolia* (Kausch and Horner 1984), this process might be required for the accumulation of calcium oxalate in idioblasts. Another defense mechanism of the plants is the formation of hair-like structures such as trichomes. Trichomes help to reduce the heat load of plants, increase freeze tolerance and protect the plant from ultraviolet light. They also protect the plants from biotic factors such as insects, herbivores and pathogens (Johnson 1975, Mauricio and Rausher 1997, Werker 2000, Serna and Martin 2006). Studies have shown that four rounds of endoreduplication cycle occur in the trichomes of *Arabidopsis* which are unicellular (Hulskamp et al. 1999) and the cell size and degree of branching of trichomes are affected by endoreduplication (Cebolla et al. 1999). Further advantage of endopolyploidy is to aid in the development of endosperm (Leiva-Neto et al. 2004) and tapetal tissues (Weiss and Maluszynska 2001), which help in the nutrition of the embryos and pollen grains. For instance, during the development of maize endosperm, endoreduplication was required to drive the production of storage proteins and starch which act as nutrient sources for the developing embryo (Lur and Setter 1993).

It has been shown that endopolyploidy in the plant tissues are developmentally regulated. For instance, endopolyploidy in different tissues and its changes throughout development stages have been observed in *Arabidopsis* (Galbraith et al. 1991), cabbage (Kudo and Kimura 2001a), cucumber (Gilissen et al. 1993), tomato (Smulders et al. 1994), orchids (Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004) and ice plant (De Rocher et al. 1990). These studies showed that endopolyploidy in the tissues was spatially and temporally regulated. In most plant species, the percentage of multiploid cells increases as the tissue aged (Joubes and Chevalier 2000, Barow 2006). Furthermore, there are increasing evidences showing a positive correlation between cell size and variation in endopolyploidy (Melaragno et al. 1993, Folkers et al. 1997, Cebolla et al. 1999, Kondorosi et al. 2000). It is speculated that endoreduplication is required for the expansion and differentiation of plant cells which is essential for the specific function of a given type of cell (Kondorosi et al. 2000, Barow 2006). It has also been suggested to be involved in the vegetative growth of plants (De Veylder et al. 2001).

However, cell elongation could be uncoupled from endoreduplication (Gendreau et al. 1998). It was observed that the root cells from different ecotypes of *Arabidopsis* had varied size, but no correlation was found between their cell size and ploidy level (Beemster et al. 2002). Therefore, the involvement of endoreduplication in the vegetative growth of plants has been questioned (John and Qi 2008). It has been

suggested that in the vegetative tissues, the potential to resume cell division is preserved by the scattered distribution of endoreduplicated cells intercalated among surrounding unreduplicated cells which can divide for wound repair (John and Qi 2008). Therefore, endoreduplication is not directly involved during the vegetative growth of the plants as endoreduplication is generally an irreversible process and further cell proliferation is prevented (John and Qi 2008). However, endoreduplicated cells may still have the potential to re-enter normal cell cycle. In the epidermal cells of tobacco hornworms (*Manduca sexta*), cells that had endoreduplicated to 32C would re-enter mitosis and reduced their ploidy back to 2C in an increase in the steroid hormone, ecdysone (Kato et al. 1987). Furthermore, Weinl et al. (2005) reported that *Arabidopsis* cells, which were induced to endoreduplicate by the mis-expression of ICK1/KRP1, could re-enter normal cell cycle.

Besides cell cycle and endoreduplication, other mechanisms might be present in the regulation of the vegetative growth of plants (Sugimoto-shirasu and Roberts 2003). Plant organ growth is also determined by cell number and size (Horiguchi et al. 2006). It has been shown that plants could detect and control the size of an organ and regulate their growth accordingly (Tsuge et al. 1996, Day and Lawrence 2000). Therefore, the growth of cell is influenced by their interactions with the neighboring cells and controlled by other regulatory systems. The coordination of these regulatory networks would lead to the formation of organs (Kondorosi et al. 2000). All these networks might have been interlinked with the cell and endoreduplication cycles. The regulatory mechanisms in different tissues might also differ (Churchman et al. 2006). Hence, it is difficult to establish a general relationship between endoreduplication, cell growth and differentiation during plant development.

#### 2.4 Molecular mechanisms of plant endoreduplication cycle

Many recent studies have been carried out to establish a relationship between cell differentiation and endoreduplication cycle. Regulatory mechanisms have also been proposed (Cebolla et al. 1999, Vinardell et al. 2003, Churchman et al. 2006, Yoshizumi et al. 2006). However, this knowledge is insufficient to fully elucidate the link between development and the degree of endoreduplication in various plant tissues (Churchman et al. 2006, Dewitte et al. 2007). The occurrence of large number of genes encoding the core cell cycle factors in plants and the redundancy in some of the gene functions further complicate genetic analyses (Menges et al. 2005, Dewitte et al. 2007). This redundancy in gene functions might be an adaption to ensure the loss of one component in the regulatory mechanisms could be compensated by another. Recent studies seem to suggest that endoreduplication is spatially and temporally regulated by more than one pathway, which is dependent on the biotic and abiotic conditions that the plants are subjected to (Yoshizumi et al. 2006).

In the normal cell cycle, cells have a mechanism to ensure that chromosomes are replicated only once per cycle (Sugimoto-shirasu and Roberts 2003). However, in endoreduplication cycle, chromosomes in the cells are re-replicated in the absence of mitosis. In the switch from normal cell cycle to endoreduplication cycle, the cells must be able to start another round of DNA replication (S phase), while inhibiting mitosis at the same time (Sugimoto-shirasu and Roberts 2003). For an endoreduplication cycle to re-enter S phase, mechanisms similar to the normal cell cycle could be involved (Sugimoto-shirasu and Roberts 2003, Kondorosi and Kondorosi 2004). Therefore, it has been proposed that the endoreduplication cycle is regulated at the level of replication activity, cyclin-dependent origin the kinase activity, the

retinoblastoma/E2F pathway, and also the degradation of G1/S and G2/M-phase specific factors (Sabelli and Larkins 2007).

The control and regulation at the replication origin has been suggested to be one of the key mechanisms in the switch from cell cycle to endoreduplication cycle (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). Before DNA replication, pre-replication complex (pre-RC) will be assembled at the replication origin (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). The pre-RC is formed by the assembly of origin recognition complex, cell division cycle 6 (CDC6), CDT1 (DNA replication factor) and minichromosome maintenance proteins (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). However, reports on the regulation of pre-RC components and DNA replication licensing in plants are limited (Castellano et al. 2004). In Arabidopsis, both AtCDT1 and AtCDC6 exhibited a positive role in the regulation of endoreduplication in the leaf epidermis cells (Castellano et al. 2001, Castellano et al. 2004). Ectopic expression of AtCDC6 induced endoreduplication in leaves and the stability of CDC6 protein was enhanced in cells undergoing endoreduplication (Castellano et al. 2001). Castellano et al. (2004) also showed that in cells that were competent to divide or with limited stem cell potential, an increase in CDT1 and CDC6 levels would result in cell proliferation, while in cells programmed to undergo endoreduplication, extra rounds of endoreduplication cycle would be triggered.

The retinoblastoma-adenovirus E2-promoter binding factor (Rb-E2F) pathway is another proposed mechanism in the regulation of endoreduplication (De Veylder et al. 2002, Shen 2002, Boudolf et al. 2004, Del Pozo et al. 2006). E2F genes are found in *Arabidopsis* (Magyar et al. 2000), carrot (Albani et al. 2000), tobacco (Sekine et al. 1999) and wheat (Ramirez-Parra et al. 1999). De Veylder et al. (2002) reported that ectopic expression of E2Fa-DPa could sustain cell division in cells that were competent to divide and induce endopolyploidy in endoreduplicating cells. Therefore, the ectopic expression of E2Fa-DPa was proposed to stimulate cell cycle progression by triggering S phase entry and cells with mitosis inducing factor would proceed into mitosis (De Veylder et al. 2002). In cells lacking this mitosis inducing factor, E2Fa-DPa would stimulate S phase re-entry, resulting in the increase in ploidy level (De Veylder et al. 2002). Boudolf et al. (2004) suggested that CDKB1;1 might be part of this mitosis inducing factor. E2Fc/DPb was also reported to be a key component in controlling the switch to endoreduplication cycle. E2Fc was suggested to repress the expression of cell cycle genes and over-expression of E2Fc induced endoreduplication in the cells of *Arabidopsis* (Del Pozo et al. 2006).

Cyclin/CDKs complexes are also reported to be the key components of the regulatory mechanisms of both cell and endoreduplication cycles (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). For instance, over-expression of D-type cyclin (CYCD) in the *Arabidopsis* cells inhibited endoreduplication (Dewitte et al. 2003). Moreover, the loss of CYCD3 function in leaf development would lead to an early onset of endoreduplication (Dewitte et al. 2007). In *Arabidopsis*, the expression of CYCD3;1 gene was reported to be induced by cytokinin, suggesting that the CYCD3 gene family might be a key component in integrating both cell and endoreduplication cycles of plants in response to hormonal signals (Dewitte et al. 2007).

Regulation of endoreduplication also involves the sustaining or up-regulation of S phase CDKs and down-regulation of M phase CDKs. This depends on the time and specific interaction of CDKs with cyclins, which involves processes such as cyclins synthesis, degradation and compartmentalisation (Sauer et al. 1995, Edgar and Orr-Weaver 2001, Larkins et al. 2001, Sabelli and Larkins 2007). It is proposed that the

transition to endoreduplication is promoted by a decrease in the activities of mitotic kinases such as CDKs (Dewitte et al. 2007). These kinases activities can be regulated by anaphase promoting complex (APC) (Vinardell et al. 2003) and CDK inhibitory proteins such as Kip-related protein2 (KRP2) (Schnittger et al. 2003, Verkest et al. 2005), SIM (Walker et al. 2000, Churchman et al. 2006), and NtKIS1a (Jasinski et al. 2002).

The APC is an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex involves in the degradation of key cell cycle proteins. It has been observed to play an important role in the regulation of cell cycle transition such as mitosis exit and DNA replication (Sabelli and Larkins 2007). The ccs52A gene is a plant ortholog of yeast and animal cdh1/srw1/fzr genes. It is a substrate-specific activator of the APC ubiquitin ligase (Cebolla et al. 1999, Vinardell et al. 2003). CCS52A protein is involved in the transition of mitotic to endoreduplication cycle and plays a key role in the formation of large highly multiploid symbiotic cells of the nitrogen-fixing root nodules (Vinardell et al. 2003).

KRP2 levels are more abundant in endoreduplicating than mitotically dividing tissues (Verkest et al. 2005). It inhibits the activity of CDKA;1/cyclin complex during the onset of endoreduplication. Hence, KRP2 might be an activator of the mitosis-to-endoreduplication transition (Verkest et al. 2005). SIM protein is another CDK inhibitor found in *Arabidopsis* and is associated with CYCD and CDKA;1. Over-expression of SIM resulted in an increase in endoreduplication, although this was tissue specific (Churchman et al. 2006).

#### 2.5 Factors affecting endoreduplication in plants

Endogenous (genetic variations and plant growth regulators) and exogenous (light, temperature, water and presence of symbionts or parasites) factors are suggested to affect signals that will initiate endoreduplication and influence the ploidy variation in plants (Barow 2006).

Genetic variations between individuals of the same species belonging to different ecotypes or varieties may result in variations in endopolyploidisation (Barow 2006). It has been shown that there is a negative correlation between ploidy level of plants and endoreduplication. For instance, the seedlings of polyploid sugar-beet (Sliwinska and Lukaszewska 2005), tetraploids of *Portulaca grandiflora* that were obtained by colchicines treatment (Mishiba and Mii 2000) and mesocotyls of tetraploid *Zea mays* (Biradar et al. 1993) had a lower extent of endoreduplication than their corresponding diploids. Moreover, the crossing of two varieties of *Zea mays* that exhibited different endoreduplication patterns in their leaf epidermis resulted in a F1 generation having ploidy levels of the epidermis cells that were intermediate to that of the parents (Cavallini et al. 1997). Contrary to this, no difference in the patterns of endopolyploidy of diploid and tetraploid of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum cv*. Moneymaker) has been found (Smulders et al. 1994). Thus the influence of genetic variation on endopolyploidy might be genetically dependent and vary between ecotypes or varieties.

Plant growth regulators such as cytokinins and auxins have been reported to affect cell (Dewitte and Murray 2003, Menges et al. 2006) and endoreduplication cycles (Kende and Zeevaart 1997) in plants. Molecular analysis has shown that cytokinin regulates cell division in the developing leaves and shoot meristem of *Arabidopsis* by inducing
the expression of the cyclin, CYCD3 (Dewitte et al. 2007). CYCD3 is proposed to delay the onset of endoreduplication by extending the "mitotic window" of leaf development (Dewitte et al. 2007). In suspension cultures of *Doritaenopsis*, the presence of benzyl-aminopurine (BA) or thidiazuron in the medium resulted in a decrease in endoreduplication in the cells (Mishiba et al. 2001). However, increased endoreduplication was observed in the mesophyll and abaxial epidermal cells of bean plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) watered with BA solution (Kinoshita et al. 1991). In cell cultures of tobacco, the addition of both cytokinin and auxin to the culture medium induced cell division, resulting in DNA deduplication in the cells, while in medium containing auxin, cell elongation and endoreduplication were induced (Valente et al. 1998). In cultured pea root cortex cells, medium containing both auxin and cytokinin induced endoreduplication, but no effect on endopolyploidy was observed in auxin-only medium (Libbenga and Torrey 1973).

Enhancing effect of endoreduplication by exogenous auxin was first observed in the roots of onion after watering with auxin solution (Levan 1939). Increased endopolyploidy was also reported in the fruits of apricot trees that were sprayed with 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) solution (Bradley and Crane 1955) and endosperm of maize (*Zea mays*) after the application of lanolin paste containing 2,4-D on the exposed pericarp surface of kernel (Lur and Setter 1993). However, the enhancing effect of auxin varied among plants. An increase in endoreduplication has been observed in the protocorms of *Vanda* Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003) cultured in medium containing auxin, but auxin has no effect on endopolyploidy in the regenerants of cactus *Mammillaria san-angelensis* cultures (Palomino et al. 1999). In the cells of suspension cultures of *Doritaenopsis*, an increase in endoreduplication was only detected in medium supplemented with 2,4-D or picloram and not other auxins

(Mishiba et al. 2001). Thus different types of auxin have different effect on endoreduplication.

Gibberellic acid (GA) has been suggested to regulate the size of mesocarp cells of tomato by increasing ploidy level in the cells (Serrani et al. 2007). However, the effect of GA on endopolyploidy is variable. For instance, it was found to enhance endoreduplication in one variety of Pisum sativum, but had no effect on another (Callebaut et al. 1982). Moreover, the presence of GA<sub>3</sub> only resulted in an increase in endopolyploidy in the leaf cells of Triticum durum cultivated in the dark, while another cultivar, Creso, was insensitive to GA3 in dark and light treatments (Cavallini et al. 1995). The difference in the effect of GA was due to the *Rht 1* gene in *T. durum* cv Creso. It influenced both plant height and sensitivity to endogenous GA (Cavallini et al. 1995). This further supports the hypothesis on the influence of genetic variation on endoreduplication (Barow 2006). Furthermore, in the cells of V. Miss Joaquim protocorms, the addition of  $GA_3$  to the culture medium only resulted in a slight increase in endoreduplication (Lim and Loh 2003). In the cells of dark-grown GAdeficient mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana, medium containing GA increased ploidy variation (Gendreau et al. 1999). Hence, the effect of GA may be cultivar dependent and vary in different species.

Ethylene regulates a wide variety of developmental processes in plants (Dan et al. 2003). It was reported that ethylene enhanced endoreduplication in the hypocotyl epidermis of cucumber seedlings cultured in container filled with ethylene gas. When ethylene was removed, cytokinesis of cells was observed (Dan et al. 2003). Extra rounds of endoreduplication were also induced in the hypocotyls of light- and dark-grown *Arabidopsis* seedlings after culturing in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M ethylene

precursor (1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid) (Gendreau et al. 1999). Therefore, further investigations on the effects of different plant growth regulators on endoreduplication would enhance the understanding of their role in this process.

Plant growth conditions such as light and temperature have also been suggested to influence endopolyploidy (Joubes and Chevalier 2000, Jovtchev et al. 2007). Light is an important environmental factor that regulates plant growth and development throughout its life cycle (Neff et al. 2000, Franklin and Whitelam 2004). The ploidy levels of dark-grown seedlings of *T. durum* (Cavallini et al.1995), *P. sativum* (Van Oostveldt and Van Parijs 1975, Callebaut et al. 1982), *Glycine max* (Galli 1988) and *Arabidopsis* (Gendreau et al. 1998, Tsumoto et al. 2006) were found to be higher than those grown under the light. Furthermore, endoreduplication in *Arabidopsis* has been reported to be regulated by phytochrome which was a photoreceptor that the plants used to detect light (Gendreau et al. 1998). Therefore, endoreduplication might be a mechanism to enhance the elongation of the hypocotyls of dark-grown seedlings in the process of detecting light source.

Alteration in temperature has an influence on the development of plants (Franklin and Whitelam 2004). It could also affect endoreduplication in plants. In chill-sensitive plant such as soybean, chilling reduced its growth and inhibition in endoreduplication was observed in the root cortex and root hairs cells (Stepinski 2003). In orchids, a decrease in growth and endoreduplication transition rates during flower development was observed when the temperature was lowered from 25 to 15 °C (Lee et al. 2007). A significant decrease in endopolyploidy was also observed in the mesocotyls of maize when the growing mesocotyls were exposed to a temperature change from 23 to 15 °C for 5 days (Wilhelm et al. 1995). Furthermore, exposure to high temperature (35 °C)

instead of 25 °C) for 4 to 6 days resulted in a significant decrease in endoreduplication in the maize endosperm and affected its development (Engelen-Eigles et al. 2000).

Due to their sessile lifestyle, plants must be able to adjust their growth to the environmental conditions. Other than the above mentioned, salt stress and water deficit are the common problems that are experienced by the plants. It was found that endoreduplication was induced during the differentiation of root cortex cells of Sorghum bicolor watered with increasing concentrations of NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution (Ceccarelli et al. 2006). Hence, endoreduplication is suggested to be a factor of salt adaptation in S. bicolor (Ceccarelli et al. 2006). In the endosperm of maize, the rate of cell division decreased drastically, while cells undergoing endoreduplication increased steadily at the onset of water deficit (Artlip et al. 1995, Setter and Flannigan 2001). However, in the advanced stage of water deficit, endoreduplication and associated S phase processes in the endosperm were both inhibited (Artlip et al. 1995, Setter and Flannigan 2001). Therefore, in the maize endosperm, mitosis appeared to be more sensitive to water stress as compared to endoreduplication (Artlip et al. 1995, Setter and Flannigan 2001). Moreover, study has also shown that polyploid plants were more tolerance to water stress than their diploid counterparts (Li et al. 1996). Thus water and salt stress might affect endopolyploidy variation in plants.

Another factor that has been reported to affect the occurrence of endopolyploidy is the presence of symbionts or parasites. Cells of crown galls have higher degree of ploidy variation than the tissues that they are derived from (D'Amato 1964). The root nodule cells of *P. sativum* (Barow 2006) and *M. truncatula* (Vinardell et al. 2003) that have symbiotic bacteria also exhibited higher degree of endopolyploidy as compared to other root cells. Furthermore, infection of root cells of tomato plants by *Arbuscular* 

*mycorrhizal* had resulted in a significant increase in the degree of endopolyploidy as compared to non-infected cells (Berta et al. 2000). The symbionts or parasites might have produced compounds to induce endoreduplication in the host cells (Schultze and Kondorosi 1998). Endoreduplication in the host cells might be to ensure that the cells are large enough to host the bacteroids and provide sufficient energy and nutrients for the bacteriods (Vinardell et al. 2003).

### 2.6 Somaclonal variation and endopolyploidy

During plant propagation, maintaining the genetic integrity with respect to the parent plants is very important (Lee and Phillips 1988). However, during micro-propagation of plants, somaclonal variation is common (Lee and Phillips 1988). Somaclonal variation is referred to as the variation arising in the cell cultures, regenerated plants and their progenies during micro-propagation (Brar and Jain 1998). It appears to be non-species specific as variations among tissue-cultured plantlets have been observed in different plants (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). Variations have been observed in cultures of sugar cane (Singh et al. 2007), potato (Shepard et al. 1980), rice (Nishi et al. 1968), barley (Li et al. 2001), maize (Brettell et al. 1980), rye (Linacero and Vazquez 1993), *Pelargonuium* species (Skirvin and Janick 1976), orchid (Ferreira et al. 2006a) and other plants (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). Flow cytometry, chromosomal number counter, random amplified polymorphic DNA and simple sequence repeat have been used to detect somaclonal variation (Linacero and Vazquez 1993, Ferreira et al. 2006a, Borchert et al. 2007, Jin et al. 2008).

Somaclonal variants are considered undesirable if clonal materials are required (Vajrabhaya 1977). Nevertheless, the ability to generate variations in a control manner could be beneficial for crop improvement (Gould 1986). However, somaclonal

variation occurs randomly (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981) and the mechanism of somaclonal variation is poorly understood (Puente et al. 2008). Possible mechanisms leading to somaclonal variation have been proposed. Somaclonal variation could be arise from genetic changes such as gene mutation (Dennis et al. 1987), a change in chromosome numbers (Lewis-Smith et al. 1990), the action of transposable elements and DNA methylation (Jaligot et al. 2000).

The frequency of somaclonal variation has been suggested to be affected by factors such as culture medium (Liscum and Hangarter 1991, Jin et al. 2008), the duration of the culture (Ezura and Oosawa 1994), genotype of the original explants (Brar and Jain 1998) and the source of explant (shoot tip, leaf, floral bud or root) (Vasil 1987, Linacero and Varquez 1993). The presence of plant growth regulator in the culture medium has an effect on the occurrence of somaclonal variants in cultures (Brar and Jain 1998). For instance, the addition of auxin, such as 2,4-D or IAA, to the culture medium resulted in an increase in the frequency of somaclonal variants in cotton and *Petunia* cultures (Liscum and Hangarter 1991, Jin et al. 2008). Somaclonal variation in the micro-propagated oil palm cultures was suspected to be due to the presence of cytokinins in the culture medium (Besse et al. 1992). These plant growth regulators may act as mutagens to the explants (Brar and Jain 1998).

The age of culture also influences somaclonal variation. In many long-term callus or cell cultures, a reduction or a complete loss of regeneration ability was generally observed (Brar and Jain 1998, Borchert et al. 2007). Muller et al. (1990) reported that the frequency of somaclonal variation increased with the duration of culture. Deletion of sections of the chloroplast genome of rice was observed in prolonged culture (Kawata et al. 1995). Furthermore, increased in ploidy of the somaclones were

reported in the *Quercus robur* after several years of continuous culture (Endemann et al. 2001).

Genotype also has an effect on somaclonal variation regardless of the regeneration mode (Bebeli et al. 1988). Among species or among genotypes within a species, differences in the frequency of variations have been observed (Brar and Jain 1998). Genotypes that carried transposable elements were more prone to somaclonal variation as compared to those without (Peschke and Phillips 1991).

Lastly, the source of explant has been found to influence the type and degree of somaclonal variation (Jain et al. 1998a, b). Plant regeneration is based on the concept of cell totipotency, so variations in the cells of explants hold the potential to result in the occurrence of somaclonal variants in cultures. For instance, explants that exhibit endopolyploidy would contain a mixture of cells of varying ploidy levels and shoots with varying ploidy levels might be regenerated from these explants (Lim and Loh 2003). Thus culturing of explants with cells of different ploidy levels might be a cause of somaclonal variation. An insight to the endopolyploidy profiles of plant tissues would be useful in providing a possible explanation to the role of endoreduplication in somaclonal variation.

# 2.7 Dendrobium

Orchids are monocots and belong to the family Orchidaceae of the order Orchidales. The orchid family is probably the largest in the plant kingdom (Arditti 1992) with about 750 different genera, 25,000 species and more than 30,000 hybrids (Hew and Yong 2004). Orchids can grow in two ways, namely sympodial and monopodial (Hew and Yong 2004). The growth of the shoot of sympodial orchid terminates in a flower or inflorescence and continues its growth by laterally budding. However, in monopodial orchid, growth of shoot is continuous (Hew and Yong 2004). Orchid flowers are zygomorphic (symmetrical about a single plane). Each flower consists of a dorsal sepal, two lateral sepals, two petals, a labellum (modified petal), column (a coalescence of both male and female reproductive organs) and pedicel (Fig 2.3) that is connected to the pseudobulb or inflorescence stalk (Hew and Yong 2004).

*Dendrobium* is one of the largest genera in the family of Orchidaceae. It comprises of more than 1,000 species and distributed throughout Southeast Asia, Japan, Australia and the Pacific Islands (Kamemoto et al. 1999). The plants can be epiphytic or lithophytic with swollen stems or pseudobulbs. Its juvenile phase ranges from 2 to 5 years (Fadelah 2006, Sim et al. 2008). Cytological and ploidy studies on some *Dendrobium* species and hybrids showed that diploid *Dendrobium* generally had 38 chromosomes (Tanaka and Kamemoto 1984) and endoreduplication had been reported in some *Dendrobium* species (Jones and Kuehnle 1998).



Fig 2.3. Flowers of greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants.

- A: An inflorescence stalk, bar 2.33 cm.
- **B**: Flower anatomy, bar 1.0 cm.

There is an increase in the popularity and demand of orchids (Winkelmann et al. 2006). Micro-propagation of orchids (Navak et al. 2002, Park et al. 2002, Kuo et al. 2005, Martin and Madassery 2006) has been developed to meet the demand. Shoot tips (Roy et al. 2007), axillary buds (Ferreira et al. 2006b) and leaves (Martin and Madassery 2006) of Dendrobium are often used as explants for micro-propagation. High frequency in vitro flowering system has also been developed in Dendrobium hybrids, D. Madam Thong-In (Sim et al. 2007) and D. Chao Praya Smile (Hee et al. 2007). This allows early assessment (from 2-3 years to 3-5 months) of flower characteristics such as size, shape, tones and variation of colours (Hee et al. 2007, Sim et al. 2007). Furthermore, using the *in vitro* flowering cultures, studies on the effect of endogenous cytokinin on flowering and the identification of flower transition genes in D. Madam Thong-In were carried out (Yu et al. 2000, Yu and Goh 2000, Sim et al. 2008). Floral identity genes have also been isolated and studied in D. crumenatum (Xu et al. 2006). Other physiological and developmental studies of *Dendrobium* species and hybrids had also been reported (Goh et al. 1992, Stern et al. 1994, Carlsward et al. 1997, Vellupillai et al. 1997, Lopez and Runkle 2005, Ferreira et al. 2006b, Zha et al. 2007, He and Woon 2008, Yen et al. 2008).

In *D*. Second Love, it has been found that using protocorm-like bodies as explants for micro-propagation would lead to somaclonal variation which affected the clonal propagation of high quality hybrids (Ferreira et al. 2006a). It is speculated that endoreduplication might be one of the possible causes of somaclonal variation (Evans 1989, Lewis-Smith et al. 1990, Lim and Loh 2003). Therefore, the study of endoreduplication would provide a better understanding of the nature of the tissues that are often used in micro-propagation and aid our understanding of somaclonal variation in orchids.

In orchids, endoreduplication has been observed in leaves (Jones and Kuehnle 1998, Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004), root tips (Jones and Kuehnle 1998, Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004), perianth (Mishiba and Mii 2000, Lim and Loh 2003, Yang and Loh 2004) and protocorms (Alvarez 1968, Nagl 1972, Lim and Loh 2003). Systemic control of endoreduplication has also been reported in *V*. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003) and *Spathoglottis plicata* (Yang and Loh 2004). However, detail study on the systemic control of endoreduplication in *Dendrobium* hybrid has yet to be investigated. With the high frequency *in vitro* flowering system that is developed in *D*. Chao Praya Smile, analyses of the endoreduplication profiles throughout the development of aseptically-grown *Dendrobium* seedlings are made possible.

#### 2.8 Anthurium andraeanum

Anthurium is a monocot and belongs to the family Araceae. It is the largest and most morphologically diverse genus of Araceae, consisting of more than 1000 species (Martin et al. 2003). It is also one of the most important horticultural genera in the world (Matsumoto et al. 1998). In the global market, anthurium is second only to orchid among the tropical cut flower (Dufour and Guerin 2003). *A. andraeanum* is one of the highly cultivated anthurium (Dufour and Guerin 2003). Various herbaceous perennial ornamental species of *Anthurium* such as *A. andraeanum* and *A. scherzerianum* are commonly cultivated for their highly-prized flowers (Martin et al. 2003) and hybridisation of anthurium is usually limited to intra-specific hybridisations within *A. andraeanum* and *A. scherzerianum* (Sheffer and Kamemoto 1976a).

Each anthurium flower consists of a modified leaf (spathe) that subtends a cylindrical inflorescence called spadix (Fig 2.4) (Dufour and Guerin 2003). Unlike orchid,



Fig 2.4. A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' plants.

- A: Greenhouse-grown plants, bar 3.99 cm.
- **B**: Flower anatomy, bar 1.0 cm.

anthurium exhibits both monopodial and sympodial growth within the same plant. During the juvenile and vegetative growth phase, it exhibits monopodial growth and the duration of monopodial phase is variety dependent (Dufour and Guerin 2003). During the adult stage, the plant has a sympodial phase with flower produced for each leaf (Dufour and Guerin 2003).

In *A. andraeanum*, several *in vivo* studies (Imamura and Higaki 1988, Dai and Paull 1990, Henny and Hamilton 1992, Hew et al. 1994, Dufour and Guerin 2003) have been carried out to investigate the respiration of flowers and factors affecting its growth and flowering. However, *in vitro* study of *A. andraeanum* is lacking and few cytological studies have been done on anthurium. Random amplified polymorphic DNA markers have been used to determine the genetic relationships of morphologically similar cultivars of potted *A. andraeanum* and other anthurium species (Ranamukhaarachchi et al. 2001). The chromosome numbers in several anthurium species studied varied, but majority of the species had chromosome number

of 30 (Sheffer and Kamemoto 1976b, Sheffer and Croat 1983). However, the number of chromosome in *A. andraeanum* is not investigated and cytological study of *A. andraeanum* is limited.

Anthurium can be propagated vegetatively or via seed germination. Propagation through seeds is difficult because some of the taxa fail to develop viable seeds due to incompatibility (Sheffer and Kamemoto 1976a). When pollination is successful, each berry (fruit) only contains 1 to 2 seeds which have low germination rate. Moreover, it may take 3 years from seed to bloom (Pierik et al. 1974). Hence, vegetative propagation is desirable. However, the conventional vegetative propagation of anthuriums by separating young plants from parents is time consuming and will take years to develop commercial quantities of the elite clone. Micro-propagation is an attractive alternative to propagate these plants in large quantity at a faster rate (Pierik et al. 1974). Micro-propagation of anthuriums was first reported by Pierik et al. (1974) and further refined by others (Kunisaki 1980, Kuehnle and Sugii 1991, Teng 1997, Martin et al. 2003). It has been shown that age and genotype of the explants would influence plant regeneration of A. andraeanum (Geier 1986). Micro-propagation allows a large number of anthurium plantlets to be produced from a small section of a piece of leaf or shoot tip. These micro-propagated plantlets are free from microorganisms. Moreover, these plantlets could also be genetically modified to make them more resistance to some of the common plant diseases (Chen et al. 1997). The induction of somaclonal variation in the micro-propagated plants might also be a useful tool to improve the quality of horticulturally important plants (Brar and Jain 1998) such as A. andraeanum.

A possible cause of somaclonal variation is endoreduplication (Evans 1989, Lewis-Smith et al. 1990). However, nothing is known about endoreduplication in *A. andraeanum*. Thus, establishing the endoreduplication profiles of greenhouse-grown and micro-propagated *A. andraeanum* plants would be insightful and enhanced an understanding to the nature of tissues used for micro-propagation and the cytological and physiological aspects of anthurium. It might also provide an insight into the relation between somaclonal variation and endoreduplication.

# Chapter 3 Systemic endopolyploidy in D. Chao Praya Smile

#### 3.1 Introduction

*Dendrobium* is one of the largest genera in the family of Orchidaceae (Kamemoto et al. 1999). The genus comprises of more than 1,000 species and is distributed throughout Southeast Asia, Japan, Australia and the Pacific Islands (Kamemoto et al. 1999). Cytological studies have shown that diploid *Dendrobium* generally has 38 chromosomes per nucleus (Tanaka and Kamemoto 1984).

In *Dendrobium*, micro-propagation has been widely used to produce large number of true-to-type plants from the elite hybrids (Nayak et al. 2002, Martin and Madassery 2006, Arditti 2008). Unfortunately, not all the plants produced through micro-propagation were found to be true-to-type (Ferreira et al. 2006a). Variations have been reported among plants regenerated from tissue cultures of orchids (Vajrabhaya 1977, Ferreira et al. 2006a, Chen et al. 2008). A possible cause of the observed somaclonal variants could be the pre-existing genetic differences in somatic cells of the initial explants (Evans 1989). For instance, in tomato, the frequency of variants in the regenerants was positively correlated to the percentage of polyploid cells in the initial explants (Van den Bulk et al. 1990).

Different parts of the *Dendrobium* plants have been used as explants for micropropagation and these include the shoot tips (Roy et al. 2007, Arditti 2008), axillary buds (Ferreira et al. 2006b, Arditti 2008), leaves (Martin and Madassery 2006, Arditti 2008), pseudobulb segments (Nayak et al. 1997, Arditti 2008) and floral stalks (Arditti 2008). However, very little is known about the ploidy variations in different tissues of *Dendrobium* plants during their development. The understanding of the degree of endopolyploidy in the explant will therefore be beneficial for the maintenance of the original ploidy level in culture (Evans 1989, Kudo and Kimura 2001a).

Previously, endopolyploidy profiles of different organs and at different developmental stages of *Vanda* Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003), a monopodial orchid hybrid, and *Spathoglottis plicata* (Yang and Loh 2004), a terrestrial orchid, have been analysed. Jones and Kuehnle (1998) had made some examinations of the ploidy level in leaves, pollenia and to a lesser extent, roots in four *Dendrobium* species. As most commercially important dendrobiums are hybrids and not species, a better insight to their cellular ploidy profiles in different organs would be useful in understanding the nature of tissues used for micro-propagation. In addition, method to induce early *in vitro* flowering in an orchid hybrid, *D*. Chao Praya Smile, has been developed (Hee et al. 2007). It will, therefore, be interesting to investigate the endopolyploidy profiles of these cultures at different developmental stages.

Hence, the objectives of this chapter are: (1) to analyse the occurrence of multiploid cells in different tissues in greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings of a commercial hybrid, *D*. Chao Praya Smile, and (2) to determine the pattern of endopolyploidy throughout the development of the plant. The patterns of endopolyploidy in different organs of greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings of *D*. Chao Praya Smile were followed from seed germination to different developmental stages.

#### **3.2** Materials and methods

#### **3.2.1** Plant materials, culture media and culture conditions

*D*. Chao Praya Smile (*D*. Pinky × *D*. Kiyomi Beauty) plants were grown in pots in the greenhouse in the Department of Biological Sciences, National University of Singapore, at  $28 \pm 4$  °C with natural lighting of intensity  $90.4 \pm 12.4 \ \mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$ .

#### Seeds and protocorms

Three-month-old seed pods were washed with detergent, surface sterilised in 20 % (v/v) Clorox<sup>TM</sup> solution with a drop of Tween 20 for 15 min with constant agitation. The seed pods were then rinsed twice with autoclaved water and cut into halves. Seeds were germinated aseptically in 50 ml Knudson C medium (KC, Knudson 1946) supplemented with 2 % (w/v) sucrose and 15 % (v/v) coconut water at pH 5.3 in 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks on rotary shakers at 120 rpm for proliferation. The cultures were maintained at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity 45.9 ± 1.3  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Flow cytometric analyses of seeds and protocorms were conducted every 3 weeks for 12 weeks, starting from week 0 of germination.

#### Greenhouse-grown plants

Shoot tips (0.1- to 0.2-cm in length) and axillary buds (0.1- to 0.2-cm in diameter) (see Fig 3.1A) from greenhouse-grown plants with six fully expanded leaves were used. Each replicate was made up of 4 samples and triplicates were conducted.

Greenhouse-grown plants of about 16-cm tall (measured from the youngest leaf tip to the bottom of pseudobulb) with unopened and fully expanded leaves were used for flow cytometric analyses. The leaves were numbered from the shoot apex downwards, with the youngest leaf as first leaf (normally concealed by the second leaf) (see Fig 3.2). For the 1<sup>st</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> leaves, the entire leaf was analysed as one sample due to their smaller size. For the rest (2<sup>nd</sup> to 5<sup>th</sup> leaves), the tip (distal lamina), mid (middle lamina) and base (proximal lamina) sections of the leaves were analysed separately. For roots shorter than 1.5-cm, they were analysed as one sample. For roots of 6-cm in length, the tip and base sections were analysed separately. As for the flower, the column (with pollenia removed), pedicel, labellum, petals, dorsal and lateral sepals were analysed separately. Floral stages were investigated 1 day before anthesis and 5, 15 and 25 days after anthesis (Fig 3.3). Anthesis was taken as the time at which the flower bud fully opened.



Fig 3.1. Pseudobulbs of D. Chao Praya Smile.

- A: From greenhouse-grown plant, bar: 0.5 cm.
- **B**: From aseptically-grown seedling, bar: 0.2 cm.



Fig 3.2. Greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants.

- A: Potted plants, bar: 2.4 cm.
- **B**: A shoot taken from a greenhouse-grown plant showing position of the second leaf (first leaf was concealed), bar: 2.7 cm.



Fig 3.3. Flowers of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants at different stages of anthesis (Days before (-) and after (+) anthesis), bar: 1.0 cm.

The aseptically-grown seedlings were maintained at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity  $45.9 \pm 1.3 \ \mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$ . Shoot tips (0.1- to 0.2-cm in length) and axillary buds (0.1- to 0.2-cm in diameter) (Fig 3.1B) from seedlings (about 10-month-old) with five fully expanded leaves were used for flow cytometric analyses. Each replicate was made up of 4 samples and triplicates were conducted.

For the analyses of leaves, leaves from the 10-month-old seedlings were numbered from the shoot apex downwards, with the youngest fully expanded leaf as 1<sup>st</sup> leaf (Fig 3.4A). For the 5<sup>th</sup> leaf, the entire leaf was analysed as a whole due to its small size. The tip, mid and base sections of the other leaves (1<sup>st</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> leaves) were analysed separately. Analysis of unopened leaf was done on the 1<sup>st</sup> unopened leaf of 7-month-old seedlings (Fig 3.4B). Roots of 1.5-cm were analysed as one sample. The tip and base sections of 6-cm long root were analysed separately.



Fig 3.4. Aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings.

- A: Ten-month-old aseptically-grown seedling with five fully expanded leaves, bar:
  1.2 cm.
- **B**: Seven-month-old aseptically-grown seedling with unopened leaf, bar: 1.5 cm.

#### Induction of in vitro flowering

Eight-week-old protocorms were transferred to 50 ml of liquid modified KC medium, according to Hee et al. (2007), in 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks on rotary shakers at 120 rpm for proliferation. The liquid medium was also supplemented with 2 % (w/v) sucrose, 15 % (v/v) coconut water and 11.1  $\mu$ M BA (Hee et al. 2007). After three rounds of subculturing in the liquid medium at 3-week intervals, the seedlings were transferred to two layer modified KC medium in Magenta GA7<sup>TM</sup> containers (Hee et al. 2007, Sim et al. 2007). The two-layer culture media consisted of 50 ml of gelrite-solidified medium topped with a layer of liquid medium of the same volume and composition (Hee et al. 2007). All cultures were incubated at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity 45.9 ± 1.3  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Flowers induced from the seedlings were used for flow cytometric analyses. Different flower parts were analysed separately.

#### 3.2.2 Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses

All samples, excluding seeds, were washed with de-ionised water and dried before nuclei isolation. All steps of nuclei isolation were carried out on ice. The sample was fixed in 3-5 ml of fixation buffer containing (mM): Tris (10), Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA (10), NaCl (100) and 0.1 % (v/v) Triton X-100, pH 7.5 (20 min for perianth and 30 min for other sample types). The sample was then washed once with 2 ml extraction buffer containing (mM): MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O (10), KCl (50), HEPES (5), 1 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> dithiothreitol and 0.25 % (v/v) Triton X-100 (Arumuganathan and Earle 1991). Tissue samples were chopped with a sterile doubled-sided razor blade in extraction buffer at 0.08 g tissue to 1 ml extraction buffer ratio. For seeds and 3-week-old protocorms, they were gently pressed in the buffer with a clean glass rod to release the nuclei. After incubation for 1

hour in the extraction buffer, the nuclei suspension was filtered through a 40-µm nylon cell strainer and kept on ice until flow cytometric analysis was carried out.

# 3.2.3 Flow cytometric analyses

Nuclei staining was carried out by incubating 500  $\mu$ l of nuclei suspension with 25  $\mu$ l of 5 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> propidium iodide and 50  $\mu$ l of 10  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> DNase-free RNase for 30 min at room temperature. Each sample was filtered through 40- $\mu$ m nylon filter prior to analysis. Flow cytometric analyses were performed using a Coulter EPICS® Altra ESP flow cytometer (Coulter, Miami, Florida, USA) with laser at 488 nm excitation. For each sample, 10 000 nuclei were analysed, where C is the nuclear DNA content of haploid genome. The 2C peak of fluorescence produced by nuclei extracted from the tip of the 4<sup>th</sup> leaf of mature greenhouse-grown plant was used to estimate the standard peak position of 2C nuclei. Data were analysed with software WINMDI (version 2.8). Quadruplicates were done for all experiments unless otherwise stated.

#### 3.2.4 Statistical analyses

All percentage data were analysed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test at 95 % confidence level was performed for multiple pair-wise comparisons. Data were arcsine-transformed to meet assumptions of ANOVA (normality and homogeneity of variance) and analysed with Minitab<sup>™</sup> 15.

#### 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Endopolyploidy in seeds and protocorms cultured in liquid basal KC medium

Nuclei extracted from the seeds freshly isolated from seed pods (week 0) were found to have only 2C DNA content (Table 3.1; Fig 3.5A). After 3 weeks of culture, the seeds developed into small protocorms (Fig 3.5B). During protocorm development, endopolyploidy occurred progressively. Nuclei of five ploidy levels corresponding to 2C, 4C, 8C, 16C and 32C were found in the 3-week-old protocorms (Table 3.1). In 3-week-old protocorms, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei (54.06 %) was significantly higher, while the mean frequency of 8C nuclei (10.56 %) was significantly lower than that of the older protocorms (Table 3.1).

After 9 weeks of culture, the protocorms consisted of nuclei with up to 64C DNA content (Table 3.1). At 9<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> weeks of culture, some protocorms developed leaves (Figs 3.5D and F). Majority of the protocorms, however, remained leafless (Figs 3.5E and G). In both 9- and 12-week-old cultures, the protocorms with leaves were found to contain more 2C nuclei than the leafless protocorms. The mean frequencies of the various nuclei (up to 32C) in the protocorms of the same type from 9- and 12-week-old cultures showed no significant differences (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from *D*. Chao Praya Smile seeds and protocorms cultured in liquid basal KC medium during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Weeks of	Type of Culture		Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) $\pm$ SE					
Culture		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C	
0	Seeds	$100 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	
3	Protocorms	$54.06\pm0.34^{\rm c}$	$30.06\pm0.39^b$	$10.56\pm0.31^{\rm c}$	$4.02\pm0.24^{b}$	$1.30\pm0.15^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^a$	
6	Protocorms	$46.97\pm0.46^b$	$31.84\pm0.36^{bc}$	$14.08\pm0.25^{b}$	$5.35\pm0.35^{bd}$	$1.76\pm0.10^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$	
9	Protocorms Protocorms with Leaves	$\begin{array}{c} 34.03 \pm 0.99^{d} \\ 40.83 \pm 1.58^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 31.50 \pm 1.48^{bc} \\ 30.71 \pm 0.80^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20.44 \pm 0.91^{d} \\ 17.35 \pm 0.76^{bd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 11.19 \pm 0.96^{e} \\ 8.27 \pm 0.76^{cde} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.84 \pm 0.74^{b} \\ 2.37 \pm 0.66^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \pm 0.00^{a} \\ 0.47 \pm 0.18^{b} \end{array}$	
12	Protocorms Protocorms with Leaves	$\begin{array}{c} 32.02 \pm 1.03^{d} \\ 40.85 \pm 2.72^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.28 \pm 0.72^{bc} \\ 34.09 \pm 0.26^{c} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20.48 \pm 0.55^{d} \\ 16.35 \pm 1.57^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.00 \pm 0.73^{e} \\ 6.92 \pm 1.60^{bc} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.22 \pm 0.56^{b} \\ 1.79 \pm 0.33^{b} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \pm 0.00^{a} \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00^{a} \end{array}$	



Fig 3.5. Development of seeds and protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile in liquid basal KC medium over 12 weeks.

- A: Seeds at week 0, bar: 0.05 cm.
- **B**: 3-week-old protocorms, bar: 0.3 cm.
- C: 6-week-old protocorms, bar: 0.3 cm.
- **D**, **E**: 9-week-old protocorms, bar: 0.5 cm.
- **F**, **G**: 12-week-old protocorms, bar: 0.8 cm.

Note that in 9- and 12-week-old cultures, some protocorms developed leaves (D, F).

#### 3.3.2 Endopolyploidy in the shoot tips, axillary buds and pseudobulbs

#### Greenhouse-grown plants

The shoot tips of greenhouse-grown plants were made up of nuclei from 2C to 8C DNA content (Table 3.2; Fig 3.1A). No significant difference was found in the mean proportions of 2C and 4C nuclei in the shoot tips compared to those in the 1<sup>st</sup> axillary buds (Table 3.2). The mean frequency of 8C nuclei in the 1<sup>st</sup> axillary buds was 7.44 %, which was significantly higher than that in the shoot tips (4.83 %) (Table 3.2). Some 16C nuclei (with mean frequency of about 1 %) were detected in the axillary buds and pseudobulbs, but not in the shoot tips (Table 3.2).

#### Aseptically-grown seedlings

Shoot tips and 1<sup>st</sup> axillary buds of aseptically-grown seedlings consisted of nuclei of up to 8C DNA content (Table 3.3; Fig 3.1B). 16C nuclei were detected in the lateral shoots and pseudobulbs. The distributions of the various nuclei in the shoot tips were not significantly different from those of the 1<sup>st</sup> axillary buds (Table 3.3). In the 0.5-cm lateral shoots developed from axillary buds, the mean proportion of 16C nuclei (0.84%) was higher than those of the shoot tips and 1<sup>st</sup> axillary buds (Table 3.3). In the pseudobulbs, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei was significantly lower, while the mean frequencies of 8C and 16C nuclei were found to be significantly higher as compared to those from the shoot tips, axillary buds and lateral shoots (Table 3.3).

Table 3.2. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from the shoot tip, axillary bud and pseudobulb tissues of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants (For shoot tips and axillary buds, triplicates were conducted and results are presented as means of triplicates). Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Plant Part	Me	ean Proportion of	SE	
	2C	4C	8C	16C
Shoot Tip	$53.88\pm0.83^{\mathrm{a}}$	$41.29 \pm 1.18^{ab}$	$4.83 \pm 0.35^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
1 <sup>st</sup> Axillary Bud	$48.79 \pm 1.24^a$	$43.21\pm1.45^{ab}$	$7.44\pm0.12^{b}$	$0.56\pm0.31^{a}$
3 <sup>rd</sup> Axillary Bud	$45.31\pm2.60^a$	$44.94\pm3.07^a$	$8.89 \pm 1.05^{b}$	$0.86\pm0.20^{a}$
Pseudobulb	$53.66 \pm 3.12^{a}$	$35.91 \pm 1.55^{b}$	$9.48 \pm 1.39^{\text{b}}$	$0.95\pm0.30^a$

Table 3.3. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from the shoot tip, axillary bud and pseudobulb tissues and 0.5-cm lateral shoots of aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Plant Part	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE						
	2C	4C	8C	16C			
Shoot Tip	$70.45 \pm 3.92^{a}$	$28.12 \pm 3.88^{a}$	$1.43 \pm 0.19^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$			
1 <sup>st</sup> Axillary Bud	$61.00\pm6.37^a$	$36.13\pm5.81^{ab}$	$2.87\pm0.62^{ab}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$			
Lateral Shoot	$64.63\pm2.21^a$	$29.83 \pm 1.74^a$	$4.70\pm0.69^{b}$	$0.84\pm0.07^{b}$			
Pseudobulb	$33.67 \pm 1.13^{b}$	$50.79 \pm 1.68^{b}$	$14.25\pm0.87^{c}$	$1.29\pm0.18^{\rm c}$			

#### **3.3.3** Endopolyploidy in the leaves

#### Greenhouse-grown plants

Endopolyploidy profiles of developing and matured leaves were shown in Table 3.4. Leaves from greenhouse-grown plants contained nuclei of up to 16C DNA content (Table 3.4). The unopened 1<sup>st</sup> leaf (youngest leaf) of a vegetatively growing shoot contained 56.02 % of 2C nuclei, while the mean proportion of 8C nuclei was about 4 % (Table 3.4). As the leaves developed, nuclei of 16C DNA content were detected from the 3<sup>rd</sup> leaf onwards (Table 3.4). The 6<sup>th</sup> leaf (oldest leaf) contained only a mean proportion of 15.32 % 2C nuclei and its 8C and 16C nuclei accounted for up to 28.06 and 2.59 % of the total nuclei population analysed, respectively (Table 3.4). The 6<sup>th</sup> leaf was found to contain significantly less 2C nuclei and more 8C nuclei than the 1<sup>st</sup> leaf (Table 3.4).

For the  $2^{nd}$  to  $5^{th}$  leaves, endopolyploidy in the tip, mid and base sections were analysed (Table 3.4). The mean proportion of 2C nuclei in the tip of the  $2^{nd}$  leaf was 24.66 % and was significantly lower than that in its base (59.88 %) (Table 3.4). Furthermore, the mean frequencies of 4C and 8C nuclei in the tip of  $2^{nd}$  leaf (55.13 and 20.21 %, respectively) were found to be significantly higher than those in its base (34.06 and 6.06 %, respectively) (Table 3.4).

Similarly, the tips of the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> leaves were found to contain significantly less 2C nuclei and more 8C nuclei than their bases (Table 3.4). In the 4<sup>th</sup> leaf, nuclei with 16C DNA content were detected in the tip and mid sections, but not the base section (Table 3.4). For the 5<sup>th</sup> leaf, no significant difference in the proportions of nuclei with 2C, 4C, 8C and 16C DNA content was observed among the tip, mid and base sections. These

Table 3.4. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile leaves during vegetative development. The 1<sup>st</sup> leaf (starting from the shoot tip was unopened and the youngest). Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Position	Leaf	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
of Leaf	Part	2C	4C	8C	16C		
$1^{st}$	Whole	$56.02 \pm 2.41^{a}$	$39.74 \pm 1.70^{\rm ac}$	$4.24 \pm 1.02^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
$2^{nd}$	Tip	$24.66 \pm 4.17^{bc}$	$55.13\pm0.80^{ab}$	$20.21 \pm 4.76^{bd}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$		
	Mid	$26.45 \pm 3.53^{\rm bc}$	$56.47 \pm 1.83^{b}$	$17.08 \pm 3.03^{bce}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Base	$59.88\pm4.44^a$	$34.06 \pm 3.71^{\circ}$	$6.06 \pm 2.32^{\rm ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$		
,				,			
$3^{ra}$	Tip	$20.26 \pm 2.52^{\text{bc}}$	$51.06 \pm 1.92^{abd}$	$28.68 \pm 1.91^{\text{ed}}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$		
	Mid	$26.20 \pm 2.30^{\text{bc}}$	$50.45 \pm 2.37^{abd}$	$22.47 \pm 2.73^{\text{bde}}$	$0.88 \pm 0.88^{ab}$		
	Base	$54.41 \pm 5.74^{a}$	$39.67 \pm 4.25^{ac}$	$5.92 \pm 1.65^{\rm ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
⊿th	Tin	$12.56 \pm 2.56^{\circ}$	51 20 + 1 12 <sup>abd</sup>	$22.22 + 4.46^{de}$	$282 + 0.72^{b}$		
4	np Mid	$15.30 \pm 2.30$ 22.51 + 2.04 <sup>bc</sup>	$51.50 \pm 4.42$	$32.32 \pm 4.40$ 25.12 + 2.51 <sup>de</sup>	$2.82 \pm 0.75$		
		$25.31 \pm 5.04$ 20.54 + 7.11 <sup>ab</sup>	$50.99 \pm 4.46$	$23.12 \pm 3.31$	$0.38 \pm 0.24$		
	Dase	<i>59.3</i> 4 ± 7.11	$50.79 \pm 4.90$	$9.07 \pm 2.23$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$		
$5^{\text{th}}$	Tip	$17.25 + 2.58^{\circ}$	$45.17 \pm 1.70^{abc}$	$35.45 \pm 2.78^{d}$	$2.13 \pm 0.57^{ab}$		
c	Mid	$15.60 \pm 2.38^{\circ}$	$48.49 + 2.14^{abc}$	$34.47 + 3.86^{de}$	$1.44 \pm 0.78^{ab}$		
	Base	$19.63 \pm 2.08^{\circ}$	$57.20 \pm 0.85^{b}$	$22.71 \pm 2.60^{\text{bde}}$	$0.46 \pm 0.28^{ab}$		
6 <sup>th</sup>	Whole	$15.32 \pm 4.11^{\circ}$	$54.03\pm5.36^{ab}$	$28.06\pm5.25^{de}$	$2.59\pm2.06^{ab}$		

mean nuclei frequencies were not significantly different from those of the 6<sup>th</sup> leaf (Table 3.4).

Comparisons between the first leaves from plants at the early (before bolting) and late stages of the reproductive (4 months after bolting) phase were made (Table 3.5). No significant difference in the distributions of multiploid cells were observed among the tip, mid and base sections of the 1<sup>st</sup> leaves at these two stages (Table 3.5). However, the mean frequencies of 4C nuclei in the tip and base sections of leaf at the late reproductive phase (37.32 and 37.86 %, respectively) were found to be significantly lower than those in the tip and base sections of the leaf just before bolting (Table 3.5). Furthermore, the distributions of 16C nuclei in the tip and base sections of the leaf at the late the late reproductive phase (12.71 and 7.15 %, respectively) were found to be significantly higher than those in the tip and base sections of the leaf at the beginning of bolting (Table 3.5). Only leaf at the late reproductive phase contained nuclei with 32C DNA content (Table 3.5).

### Aseptically-grown seedlings

The mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the unopened  $1^{st}$  leaf was 61.84 % and 2.3 % of the total nuclei population analysed was found to be 8C nuclei (Table 3.6). The unopened  $1^{st}$  leaf was found to contain significantly more 2C nuclei (about 27 % more) and less 8C nuclei (about 15 % less) than the 5<sup>th</sup> leaf (Table 3.6).

The  $1^{st}$  to  $3^{rd}$  leaves were found to contain nuclei of up to 8C DNA content. 16C nuclei were detected only in the  $4^{th}$  and  $5^{th}$  leaves (Table 3.6). The tip sections of the  $3^{rd}$  and  $4^{th}$  leaves contained less 2C nuclei than their base sections (Table 3.6).

Table 3.5. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of the first leaves of greenhousegrown *D*. Chao Praya Smile taken from shoots just before bolting and 4 months after bolting. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Stage of	Parts of		Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) $\pm$ SE						
Shoot	First Leaf	2C	4C	8C	16C	32C			
Before	Tip	$20.80 \pm 1.26^{ab}$	$51.83\pm0.89^{\rm a}$	$25.91 \pm 1.72^{a}$	$1.46\pm0.23^{ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$			
Bolting	Mid	$22.12 \pm 2.04^{ab}$	$47.17 \pm 0.71^{ac}$	$28.96 \pm 2.20^{ab}$	$1.75\pm0.43^{ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$			
	Base	$25.74\pm1.95^a$	$49.01\pm0.45^a$	$24.67\pm1.98^{a}$	$0.59\pm0.34^{\rm a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$			
Four Months	Tip	$18.01 \pm 1.35^{ab}$	$37.32\pm3.06^{b}$	$31.13\pm0.87^{ab}$	$12.71 \pm 3.63^{b}$	$0.83\pm0.47^{a}$			
After Bolting	Mid	$16.59 \pm 1.89^{\mathrm{b}}$	$37.84 \pm 3.72^{bc}$	$34.07 \pm 2.03^{b}$	$10.94 \pm 4.62^{bc}$	$0.56\pm0.56^{\rm a}$			
	Base	$20.52\pm2.17^{ab}$	$37.86 \pm 1.18^{bc}$	$34.20\pm1.32^{b}$	$7.15 \pm 1.33^{bc}$	$0.27\pm0.16^{a}$			

Table 3.6. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile leaves during vegetative development. The  $1^{st}$  (Opened) leaf represented the youngest fully expanded leaf from 10-month-old seedlings, while  $1^{st}$  (Unopened) leaf was obtained from 7-month-old seedlings with unopened leaves (Fig 3.4). Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Position	Leaf	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) $\pm$ SE					
of Leaf	Part	2C	4C	8C	16C		
1 <sup>st</sup> (Unopened)	Whole	$61.84 \pm 2.87^{a}$	$35.85 \pm 2.38^{a}$	$2.30\pm0.57^a$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
1 <sup>st</sup> (Opened)	Tip	$29.57 \pm 0.36^{cdf}$	$57.73 \pm 2.13^{\circ}$	$12.70 \pm 2.38^{\mathrm{ba}}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$		
-	Mid	$25.19 \pm 2.41^{bd}$	$51.37 \pm 3.09^{\rm ac}$	$23.44 \pm 4.39^{bc}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Base	$29.97\pm0.56^{bde}$	$54.25 \pm 2.48^{\rm ac}$	$17.78 \pm 2.69^{\mathrm{b}}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
$2^{nd}$	Tip	$25.76\pm0.84^{bd}$	$54.01 \pm 0.84^{ac}$	$20.23 \pm 2.41^{bc}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Mid	$22.17 \pm 1.49^{\mathrm{bf}}$	$50.46\pm4.08^{ac}$	$27.37 \pm 5.26^{bc}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Base	$33.16 \pm 1.77^{cd}$	$51.38\pm0.98^{ac}$	$15.46 \pm 2.36^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$		
_				_			
$3^{rd}$	Tip	$25.83 \pm 2.33^{bd}$	$55.43 \pm 2.61^{ac}$	$18.74 \pm 3.98^{\rm bc}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Mid	$27.87 \pm 2.08^{\rm bc}$	$56.10 \pm 2.93^{ac}$	$16.03 \pm 4.21^{bc}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	Base	$34.59 \pm 2.99^{ce}$	$50.12 \pm 0.92^{ac}$	$15.29 \pm 2.68^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
$4^{th}$	Tip	$21.96 \pm 1.41^{\text{bf}}$	$52.07 \pm 3.31^{\text{ac}}$	$25.61 \pm 3.92^{bc}$	$0.36 \pm 0.36^{ab}$		
	Mid	$18.88 \pm 1.22^{b}$	$46.19 \pm 4.54^{\rm bc}$	$34.36 \pm 5.00^{\circ}$	$0.57 \pm 0.33^{abc}$		
	Base	$36.66 \pm 1.42^{\circ}$	$45.56 \pm 1.86^{bc}$	$16.80 \pm 1.79^{bc}$	$0.98\pm0.58^{abc}$		
5 <sup>th</sup>	Whole	$34.86 \pm 0.80^{ce}$	$45.53 \pm 2.46^{bc}$	$17.22 \pm 1.14^{bc}$	$2.39 \pm 0.94^{\circ}$		

#### **3.3.4** Endopolyploidy in the roots

Greenhouse-grown plants

More than half of the nuclei in the 1.5-cm root were 2C. The highest DNA content detected in the 1.5-cm root and the tip of the 6-cm root was 8C in a mean frequency of 4.17 and 9.27 %, respectively (Table 3.7). The mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the 1.5-cm root was 52.91 % and was significantly higher than that in the base section of the 6-cm root (37.92 %) (Table 3.7). 16C nuclei were detected in the base section of the 6-cm root (Table 3.7).

Aseptically-grown seedlings

Nuclei of up to 32C DNA content were detected in the roots of aseptically-grown seedlings; ranging from 0.5 to 1.4 % of the total nuclei population analysed (Table 3.8). The mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the tip of the 6-cm root (30.99 %) was significantly higher than that in its base (16.46 %). However, the tip of the 6-cm root was found to contain significantly less 8C nuclei (about 15 % less) than its base (Table 3.8).

Table 3.7. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile roots during development (Triplicates were conducted and results are presented as means of triplicates). Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Length	Part	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
(cm)		2C	4C	8C	16C		
1.5	Whole	$52.91 \pm 3.88^{a}$	$42.92 \pm 4.07^{a}$	$4.17 \pm 1.68^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
6	Tip	$49.04 \pm 1.12^{ab}$	$41.69 \pm 0.94$	$9.27 \pm 1.15^{ab}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$		
	I						
	Base	$37.92 \pm 5.06^{b}$	$41.96 \pm 1.74^a$	$18.69\pm3.72^{b}$	$1.43\pm0.26^{b}$		

Table 3.8. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile roots during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Length	Part		Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE						
(cm)		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C			
1.5	Whole	$18.09 \pm 0.93^{a}$	$39.97 \pm 1.36^{a}$	$33.22 \pm 0.84^{ab}$	$8.15 \pm 1.49^{a}$	$0.57 \pm 0.19^{a}$			
6	Tip	$30.99\pm2.58^{b}$	$40.01 \pm 1.15^{a}$	$23.51\pm2.17^{b}$	$4.96\pm0.71^{a}$	$0.53\pm0.04^{a}$			
	Base	$16.46\pm1.39^{\rm a}$	$36.43\pm0.80^a$	$38.01 \pm 2.52^{a}$	$7.71 \pm 1.40^{\rm a}$	$1.39\pm0.41^{a}$			

# **3.3.5** Endopolyploidy in the flowers

Greenhouse-grown plants

Flowers were found to exhibit endopolyploidy and the distributions of the multiploid cells were found not to be developmentally regulated (Table 3.9). From 1 day before anthesis to 25 days after anthesis, no significant change was observed in the endopolyploidy patterns in the floral tissues (Table 3.9). Nuclei with 2C and 4C DNA content accounted for over 80 % of the cells in all the floral tissues analysed (Table 3.9). In the column, the mean proportions of 8C nuclei from 1 day before anthesis to 25 days after anthesis ranged from 12.18 to 14.11 % and the mean proportion of the 16C nuclei was significantly higher than other floral parts (Table 3.9).

# Aseptically-grown seedlings

Endopolyploidy was observed in complete flowers of aseptically-grown seedlings (Table 3.10; Fig 3.6A). There were no significant changes in the endopolyploidy patterns in the floral tissues at 5 and 15 days after anthesis (Table 3.10). The mean frequencies of 8C nuclei in the column at 5 and 15 days after anthesis were 12.05 and 14.27 %, respectively and were found to be higher than other floral tissues (Table 3.10).

Some flowers produced in the cultures were deformed. In such flowers, the dorsal sepal was absent and the flowers failed to open fully (Fig 3.6B). At 15 days after anthesis, nuclei with up to 8C DNA content were detected in all the tissues of the deformed flowers analysed (Table 3.11). 32C nuclei were only detected in the column of the deformed flowers at a mean frequency of 0.65 % (Table 3.11).

Table 3.9. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different floral tissues of greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Floral	Floral Stage	Μ	ean Proportion of I	Nuclei (%) $\pm$ SE	
Part	Days Before (-)	2C	4C	8C	16C
	And After (+)				
	Anthesis				
Dorsal	- 1	$41.44 \pm 1.0^{abc}$	$53.35\pm0.78^{acd}$	$4.70\pm0.26^{ac}$	$0.51\pm0.07^{\rm a}$
Sepal	+ 5	$39.57 \pm 0.36^{ad}$	$56.17\pm0.85^{ad}$	$4.26\pm0.72^{ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$
	+ 15	$41.68 \pm 1.21^{abc}$	$53.77 \pm 1.88^{acd}$	$4.55\pm0.68^{ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$
	+ 25	$40.71 \pm 2.68^{ac}$	$53.35 \pm 2.90^{acd}$	$5.39\pm0.71^{ac}$	$0.55\pm0.07^{\rm a}$
Lateral	- 1	$37.23 \pm 0.50^{a}$	$56.70 \pm 0.44^{a}$	$5.38 \pm 0.30^{\rm ac}$	$0.69 \pm 0.16^{a}$
Sepals	+ 5	$41.01 \pm 2.14^{ac}$	$54.56 \pm 2.11^{ad}$	$4.43 \pm 0.27^{ac}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
	+ 15	$41.73 \pm 1.80^{abc}$	$52.25 \pm 1.37^{acde}$	$5.59 \pm 0.58^{ac}$	$0.43 \pm 0.08^{a}$
	+ 25	$42.37 \pm 1.88^{\text{abc}}$	$52.14 \pm 1.71^{acde}$	$4.97 \pm 0.85^{ac}$	$0.52 \pm 0.08^{a}$
Data la	1	51 10 · 0 c5 <sup>bfh</sup>	12 (0 1 7 cbeh	$4.21 + 1.20^{ac}$	$1.00 + 0.50^{3}$
Petais	- 1	$51.19 \pm 0.03$ 56.07 + 1.84 <sup>fh</sup>	$45.00 \pm 1.70$	$4.21 \pm 1.28$	$1.00 \pm 0.38$
	+ 5	$30.07 \pm 1.84$	$41.09 \pm 1.40^{\circ}$	$2.84 \pm 0.40$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
	+ 15	$50.72 \pm 1.14$	$39.10 \pm 2.24^{\circ}$	$4.18 \pm 1.38$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
	+ 25	$55.74 \pm 0.98$	$39.83 \pm 1.48^{-9}$	$3.97 \pm 0.33$	$0.40 \pm 0.21$
Labellum	- 1	$48.69 \pm 0.65^{cdf}$	$47.78 \pm 0.79^{bd}$	$353 \pm 028^{ad}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
Lucenum	+ 5	$51.21 \pm 0.00^{\text{cfh}}$	$45.19 \pm 0.19^{\text{bc}}$	$3.60 \pm 0.20^{ad}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
	+ 15	$55.48 \pm 0.65^{\text{fh}}$	$41.20 \pm 0.69^{bfg}$	$3.32 \pm 0.10^{ad}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
	+ 25	$50.27 \pm 1.23^{cef}$	$45.59 \pm 0.86^{bc}$	$4.14 \pm 0.42^{\rm ac}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
Column	- 1	$40.95\pm2.50^{ac}$	$42.75 \pm 2.44^{bg}$	$14.11 \pm 0.90^{be}$	$2.19\pm0.21^{bc}$
	+ 5	$39.67 \pm 1.12^{ad}$	$45.93 \pm 1.32^{bc}$	$12.43 \pm 1.97^{be}$	$1.97 \pm 0.51^{bc}$
	+ 15	$41.24 \pm 1.24^{ac}$	$44.01 \pm 1.63^{beh}$	$12.18 \pm 1.36^{be}$	$2.57 \pm 0.55^{b}$
	+ 25	$41.56\pm0.91^{abc}$	$44.19\pm1.31^{beh}$	$12.63 \pm 1.78^{be}$	$1.62\pm0.16^{c}$
		. (	6.1	. 1.	
Pedicel	- 1	$55.64 \pm 4.83^{\text{erg}}$	$35.37 \pm 2.72^{\text{tgh}}_{L}$	$8.48 \pm 2.47^{ade}$	$0.51 \pm 0.20^{a}$
	+ 5	$60.56 \pm 3.00^{\text{gh}}$	$33.17 \pm 1.72^{t}$	$5.77 \pm 1.12^{\rm ac}$	$0.50 \pm 0.19^{a}$
	+ 15	$56.72 \pm 2.12^{\text{en}}$	$36.92 \pm 1.68^{\text{tg}}$	$5.87 \pm 0.40^{\rm ac}$	$0.49 \pm 0.10^{a}$
	+ 25	$50.17 \pm 1.95^{cetg}$	$40.19 \pm 0.96^{\text{dig}}$	$8.82 \pm 0.90^{ce}$	$0.82 \pm 0.22^{a}$



Fig 3.6. Aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings with flowers, bar: 1.0 cm.

- A: Seedling with complete flowers.
- **B**: Seedling with deformed flower (without dorsal sepal).
Table 3.10. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different floral tissues of complete flowers from aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Floral	Days	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE							
Part	After	2C	4C	8C	16C				
_	Anthesis								
Dorsal	5	$33.41 \pm 3.41^{a}$	$57.15 \pm 1.39^{a}$	$8.45\pm1.95^{\rm ab}$	$0.99 \pm 0.22^{\rm ac}$				
Sepal	15	$39.62\pm2.64^{abde}$	$51.35 \pm 2.30^{ac}$	$9.03\pm0.36^{acd}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{b}$				
Lateral Sepals	5 15	$\begin{array}{c} 38.99 \pm 4.04^{abd} \\ 45.82 \pm 1.06^{abf} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 53.59 \pm 2.06^{ac} \\ 47.79 \pm 0.74^{abc} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 6.81 \pm 2.00^{bc} \\ 6.39 \pm 0.37^{bc} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.61 \pm 0.16^{bc} \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00^{b} \end{array}$				
Petals	5 15	$\begin{array}{c} 54.48 \pm 8.28^{cdf} \\ 56.10 \pm 3.63^{cf} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 42.17 \pm 7.08^{bcd} \\ 40.39 \pm 3.57^{bd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.35 \pm 1.21^{b} \\ 3.51 \pm 0.36^{bd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \pm 0.00^{b} \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00^{b} \end{array}$				
Labellum	5 15	$\begin{array}{l} 51.65 \pm 2.45^{bf} \\ 56.39 \pm 1.44^{cef} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 44.13 \pm 1.93^{abcd} \\ 39.93 \pm 1.22^{bcd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 4.22 \pm 0.57^{bd} \\ 3.68 \pm 0.53^{bd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00 \pm 0.00^{b} \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00^{b} \end{array}$				
Column	5 15	$\begin{array}{l} 41.80 \pm 1.79^{abc} \\ 36.77 \pm 2.44^{ab} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 44.13 \pm 2.35^{abcd} \\ 47.40 \pm 2.45^{abc} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.05 \pm 2.04^{ac} \\ 14.27 \pm 2.09^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.02 \pm 0.43^{a} \\ 1.56 \pm 0.41^{ac} \end{array}$				
Pedicel	5 15	$\begin{array}{c} 60.52 \pm 2.69^{f} \\ 45.91 \pm 1.18^{abf} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 31.10 \pm 1.19^{d} \\ 39.69 \pm 1.80^{bcd} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.54 \pm 1.85^{ab} \\ 12.27 \pm 0.92^{ac} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.84 \pm 0.14^{ac} \\ 2.13 \pm 0.59^{ac} \end{array}$				

Table 3.11. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different floral tissues of deformed flowers (without dorsal sepal) from asepticallygrown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings. Analysis was made 15 days after anthesis. Different letters following the standard error within the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Floral	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE								
Parts	2C	4C	8C	16C	32C				
Lateral Sepals	$42.78\pm4.34^a$	$50.46 \pm 2.94^{a}$	$6.76 \pm 1.97^{ab}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$				
Labellum	$47.49\pm5.88^a$	$46.04\pm4.26^a$	$6.47\pm2.45^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$				
Petals	$47.76\pm6.57^a$	$48.26\pm6.24^a$	$3.98\pm0.41^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$				
Column	$33.86\pm3.07^a$	$45.16\pm0.90^a$	$15.28\pm1.45^a$	$5.05\pm0.89^{b}$	$0.65\pm0.23^{b}$				
Pedicel	$46.28\pm7.51^a$	$39.10\pm2.56^{\rm a}$	$12.82\pm4.34^{ab}$	$1.81 \pm 1.03^{\rm c}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$				

# 3.4.1 Occurrence of endopolyploidy in seeds and developing protocorms in culture

The seeds of *D*. Chao Praya Smile were found to contain only 2C nuclei (Table 3.1; Fig 3.5A), indicating that the cell cycle in seeds was arrested at the presynthetic G1 phase (Bino et al. 1992, Kudo and Kimura 2001a). Similar findings were described in *V*. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003), tomato (Smulders et al. 1994), *Brassica rapa* and *B. oleracea* (Kudo and Kimura 2001a, c).

Rapid endoreduplication occurred during seed development was evident from the presence of multiploid cells with 32C nuclei after 3 weeks of culture (Table 3.1; Fig 3.5B). A further decrease in the mean frequency of 2C nuclei was observed in the 6-week-old cultures (Table 3.1; Fig 3.5C). Multiploid cells were also observed in the developing embryos of other orchids such as *V. sanderiana* (Alvarez 1968), *Cymbidium* orchids (Nagl 1972) and *V.* Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003).

Orchid seeds lacked endosperm and cells present in the embryos were heavily packed with food reserves (Arditti 1992). Developing embryos of *V. sanderiana* were reported to consist of meristemic, parenchymatous and suspensor regions (Alvarez 1968). During embryo development of *V. sanderiana*, the parenchymal cells were found to exhibit endopolyploidy. However, the meristemic cells remained 2C throughout the development (Alvarez 1968). The parenchymatous region was suggested to be analogous to the endosperm of other angiosperms, in that both tissues aided in the nutrition of the embryos (Alvarez 1968). In the development of maize endosperm, endoreduplication was required to drive the production of storage proteins (zein) and

starch which act as nutrients for the developing embryo (Lur and Setter 1993). In the parenchyma cell of cotyledons of *Pisum sativum*, an increase in endopolyploidy coincided with the rapid increase in RNA and protein synthesis (Scharpe and Van Parijs 1973). In *V*. Miss Joaquim, it was suggested that the degree of endopolyploidy aided the development of the parenchymal region to synthesise the nutrients required to support the growing protocorms (Lim and Loh 2003). Hence, the increase in the frequencies of multiploid cells in *D*. Chao Praya Smile protocorms during development could possibly served similar functions.

After 9 and 12 weeks of culture, the distribution of multiploid cells in the protocorms stabilised (Table 3.1). Similar phenomenon was observed in the protocorms of *V*. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003). In *V. sanderiana*, it was reported that the protocorms became autotrophic when the primordial leaves and roots had developed from the meristem region. The parenchymal region of the protocorms would then slowly degrade (Alvarez 1969, 1970). In this study, protocorms with leaves (Figs 3.5D and F) were observed in the 9- and 12-week-old cultures. Therefore, after 9 weeks of culture, the nutrient needs of the protocorms might be supplemented via photosynthesis instead of endoreduplication.

#### 3.4.2 Occurrence of systemic endopolyploidy

In *Dendrobium*, various parts of the plants had been used as explants for clonal propagation via tissue culture (Nayak et al. 1997, Ferreira et al. 2006b, Roy et al. 2007, Arditti 2008). If the explants exhibited endopolyploidy, shoots with varying ploidy levels might be regenerated (Lim and Loh 2003). Therefore, increasing the knowledge on the ploidy level of the different parts of *Dendrobium* plants would provide an insight to the nature of the explants used for micro-propagation.

Endopolyploidy in shoot tips and axillary buds

Unlike V. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003), *B. rapa* and *B. oleracea* (Kudo and Kimura 2001c), polyploid cells were detected in the shoot tips and axillary buds of both greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings of *D*. Chao Praya Smile (Tables 3.2 and 3.3). This indicated that in the shoot tips and axillary buds of *D*. Chao Praya Smile, some polyploid cells were intercalated among surrounding diploid cells. Endoreduplication patterns in the shoot tips and  $3^{rd}$  axillary buds of greenhouse-grown plants revealed that endoreduplication increased as the meristem cells in the shoot tips and axillary buds developed (Table 3.2). The 0.5-cm lateral shoots of the aseptically-grown seedlings were developed from the axillary buds. The mean frequencies of nuclei with DNA content higher than 4C in the 0.5-cm lateral shoots were found to be higher than those in the shoot tips and axillary buds of the aseptically-grown seedlings (Table 3.3). These results suggest that endopolyploidy in the shoot tips and axillary buds are developmentally regulated.

# Endopolyploidy in leaves

Similar to the findings described by Jones and Kuehnle (1998), the distributions of multiploid cells in the greenhouse-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants varied in different parts of the leaf (Table 3.4). The newly emerged leaves of *D*. Chao Praya Smile were light-green and unopened. They were usually concealed by the adjacent leaves (Fig 3.2B). Young leaves in the greenhouse-grown plants were found to contain multiploid cells (Table 3.4). However, in *V*. Miss Joaquim, young leaves were found to contain only 2C nuclei (Lim and Loh 2003). The endoreduplication process was observed to be most rapid and active in newly emerged leaves as indicated by the difference in the distribution of multiploid cells in the 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> leaves of the

greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants (Table 3.4). As the leaves developed, there was a gradual shift in the ploidy distributions towards higher ploidy levels and new rounds of endoreduplication were observed to start from the leaf tip in a basipetal manner as indicated in the 4<sup>th</sup> leaf (Table 3.4). However, the difference in the ploidy variations between the different parts of the leaves stabilised once they matured (Table 3.4). This is consistent with the findings previously described in V. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003) and S. plicata (Yang and Loh 2004). The increase in the occurrence of multiploid cells in a basipetal manner in the leaf tissues suggests that endoreduplication in the greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants is developmentally regulated. In Arabidopsis, endoreduplication in the leaves was also found to be developmentally regulated (Galbraith et al. 1991). In the leaf epidermis cells of Arabidopsis, it was found that cell cycle genes such as CDT1 and CDC6 exhibited a positive role in the regulation of endoreduplication (Castellano et al. 2001, Castellano et al. 2004). Castellano et al. (2004) showed that in cells that were competent to divide, an increase in CDT1 and CDC6 levels would result in cell proliferation, while in cells programmed to undergo endoreduplication, extra rounds of endoreduplication cycle would be triggered. These genes were also important for the coordination of cell proliferation, differentiation and development (Castellano et al. 2001, Castellano et al. 2004). Therefore, in orchids, similar regulatory mechanism could possibly be involved in the regulation of endoreduplication during development. However, further verification is required to validate this speculation.

Analyses of the first leaf from plants just before bolting and 4 months after bolting further demonstrated that once the leaves matured, the distribution of multiploid cells between the tip and the basal sections of the same leaf did not differ significantly (Table 3.5). However, further increase in endopolyploidy in the whole leaves was observed as the leaves aged (Table 3.5). This indicated that endoreduplication might be closely associated with aging. There were evidence in other plant species that endoreduplication and aging/senescing were linked. For instance, in tomato, significantly more nuclei with higher DNA content were detected in the leaf tips of yellowing leaves (senescing) (Smulders et al. 1994). In the maize endosperm, the aleurone (outermost layer of cells) was reported to be analogous to the meristem by providing more cells to the inner regions of the kernel. In the inner regions, endoreduplication of the cells was observed to increase during development. Endoreduplication of the central region of maize endosperm was reported to be related to the endosperm development (Kowles and Phillips 1985, Kowles et al. 1990). In the central endosperm of maize, the completion of endoreduplication was followed by rapid cell death, suggesting that these two processes were linked (Young and Gallie 2000). In maize and tobacco, homologues of the retinoblastoma protein, which was involved in cell cycle control, cell differentiation and apoptosis in animals, have been identified (Grafi et al. 1996, Nakagami et al. 2002). These homologues were suggested to be involved in the regulation of endoreduplication (Park et al. 2005), supporting the relationship between aging/cell death and endoreduplication.

The older leaves of aseptically-grown seedlings of *D*. Chao Praya Smile also exhibited higher ploidy level than younger leaves and the ploidy level increased in a basipetal manner (Table 3.6). However, fully expanded leaves of the aseptically-grown seedlings were found to have lower level of endopolyploidy than that of the greenhouse-grown plants (Tables 3.4 and 3.6). In the oldest leaf (5<sup>th</sup> leaf) of the aseptically-grown seedlings, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei was 34.86 % (Table 3.6). However, in the greenhouse-grown plants, only a mean frequency of 15.32 % of the nuclei in the oldest leaves (6<sup>th</sup> leaf) was found to contain 2C DNA content (Table

3.4). This is consistent with Smulders et al. (1994) who reported that the ploidy levels of the cotyledons and leaves of greenhouse-grown tomato plants were much higher as compared to the aseptically-grown tomato seedlings. The mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the cotyledons of aseptically-grown tomato seedlings was 51.9 %, while that of the greenhouse-grown tomato plants was only 9.5 % (Smulders et al. 1994). Smulders et al. (1994) suggested that the growth conditions such as light would influence the degree of endopolyploidy in plants. In the current study, greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants were exposed to natural lighting of intensity about 90.4  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup>  $s^{-1}$ , while aseptically-grown seedlings were maintained under illumination of intensity about 45.9  $\mu E m^{-2} s^{-1}$ . This implies that the difference in the extent of endopolyploidy in the greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings of D. Chao Praya Smile could be due the difference in the light intensity. Moreover, studies have shown that light would affect the extent of endoreduplication in plants. These studies demonstrated that the ploidy levels of dark-grown seedlings such as Triticum durum (Cavallini et al. 1995), P. sativum (Callebaut et al. 1982), Glycine max (Galli 1988) and Arabidopsis (Tsumoto et al. 2006, Gendreau et al. 1998) were higher than those seedlings grown under the light.

On the other hand, in potatoes, only small differences were observed in the ploidy levels between the greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings. The difference between the mean frequencies of 2C nuclei in these two types of plant was only 6 % (Uijtewaal 1987). Furthermore, the endopolyploidy patterns in *S. plicata* were found to be similar in both aseptically-grown seedlings and greenhouse-grown plants (Yang and Loh 2004). These demonstrated that the effects of growth conditions on endopolyploidy varied with plants.

The roots of D. Chao Praya Smile were divided into parts to determine the actual localisation of the polyploid cells. The results revealed that endoreduplication was not restricted to specific regions of the roots in both greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings (Tables 3.7 and 3.8). Endopolyploidy patterns appeared to be coupled with development. Jones and Kuehnle (1998) reported that multiploid cells were observed in the root tips of four Dendrobium species and nuclei with up to 8C DNA content were observed. The ploidy variations in the root tips of these *Dendrobium* species were observed to differ greatly with their mean frequencies of 8C nuclei ranging from 0 to 41.7 %. In the root tips of greenhouse-grown D. Chao Praya Smile plants, only 9.27 % of the total nuclei population analysed was found to contain 8C DNA content (Table 3.7). Orchid roots consisted of different cell layers namely endodermis, exodermis, stele and velamen (Arditti 1992). The roots of epiphytic orchids, such as *Dendrobium* plants, were observed to vary in habits, appearance, and cross-section among and within genera and species (Arditti 1992). These differences could have contributed to the variations in the endopolyploidy patterns among these Dendrobium plants. In general, the roots from aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings were found to exhibit higher ploidy level as compared to that from the greenhouse-grown plants (Tables 3.7 and 3.8). This could possibly be due to the medium compositions as the root systems of aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings were submerged in nutrient-rich medium. In the current study, coconut water was one of the medium components. It was reported to contain a large spectrum of uncharacterised biochemicals (Ma et al. 2008, Shantz and Steward 1952). For instance, biochemicals such as 1,3-diphenylurea (which exhibits cytokinin-like activity) (Shantz and Steward 1955), cytokinins (Van Staden and Drewes 1975, Ge et al. 2004, 2005),

indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and abscisic acid (Ma et al. 2008) were detected in the coconut water. These biochemicals could act as plant growth regulators individually or synergistically (Ma et al. 2008, Shantz and Steward 1952). Plant growth regulators such as auxins and cytokinins could affect the endopolyploidy patterns of orchids (Mishiba et al. 2001, Lim and Loh 2003), tobacco (Valente et al. 1998), bean (Kinoshita et al. 1991) and pea (Libbenga and Torrey 1973). Therefore, the presence of these growth regulators in coconut water may affect the degree of endopolyploidy in the roots of aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings cultured in medium supplemented with coconut water.

#### Endopolyploidy in flowers

Multiploid cells were found in the flowers of greenhouse-grown plants (Table 3.9) and complete flowers of aseptically-grown seedlings of *D*. Chao Praya Smile (Table 3.10). In the flowers of *B. oleracea* (Kudo and Kimura 2001b) and *Portulaca grandiflora* (Mishiba and Mii 2000), multiploid cells were also detected. However, in the flowers of *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants, no significant change in the ploidy variations in all the floral tissues examined after anthesis was observed (Tables 3.9 and 3.10). This indicated that endoreduplication in the floral tissues was not developmentally regulated. In the flowers of other orchids such as *Phalaenopsis* and *Oncidium*, endoreduplication stopped and ploidy level stabilised once the flowers were fully opened (Lee et al. 2004). Thus, endoreduplication in the floral tissues of *D*. Chao Praya Smile might have ceased before anthesis.

The ploidy variation in the column of the flowers of *D*. Chao Praya Smile was different from other floral parts; the columns contained higher mean frequencies of nuclei with 8C DNA content (12.18 to 14.11 %) and 16C DNA content (1.62 to 2.57

%) (Table 3.9). Similarly, the ploidy levels in the columns of *V*. Miss Joaquim flowers were found to be higher than other floral parts (Lim and Loh 2003). Since the column of orchid flower is a modified organ derived from the fusion of stigma, style and anthers (Hew and Yong 2004), it was suggested that the unique endopolyploidy patterns in the column could be due to its structural modification (Lim and Loh 2003). However, a detail histological and cytological analysis on the column of *D*. Chao Praya Smile flowers would be required to provide further insight on the effect of this structural modification on endopolyploidy in the *D*. Chao Praya Smile flowers.

Endoreduplication has been reported to be common in the reproductive organs and tissues of angiosperms (D'Amato 1984) and in specific cell types or tissues (Nagl 1976, Galbraith et al. 1991, Carvalheira 2000) such as endosperms of maize (Kowles and Phillips 1985) and raphide crystal idioblasts of Vanilla (Kausch and Horner 1984). Galbraith et al. (1991) suggested that endoreduplication was common in cells that were required to increase their size in order to maintain their functions. It was proposed that in these tissues, endoreduplication was required to increase the transcriptional and metabolic activities which were necessary for their functions (D'Amato 1984). For instance, in the parenchyma cell of cotyledons of P. sativum, the increase in polyploidy coincided with a rapid increase in RNA and protein synthesis (Scharpe and Van Parijs 1973). In sugar-beet plant, high degree of endopolyploidy was observed in the storage parenchyma cells of roots (Lukaszewska and Sliwinska 2007). Therefore, the higher degree of endopolyploidy in the column of D. Chao Praya Smile could possibly serve to increase its RNA and protein synthesis so as to maintain its function as a reproductive organ. However, further verification is required to validate this speculation.

From the aseptically-grown seedlings, some of the flowers induced were deformed (Fig 3.6B). In such flowers, the ploidy levels in the column were higher than that of the flowers from greenhouse-grown plants and the complete flowers from aseptically-grown seedlings (Tables 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11). This suggests that deformity in flowers could possibly result in an increase in endopolyploidy. Lim and Loh (2003) reported that in the column of complete flower from greenhouse-grown *V*. Miss Joaquim plants, cell types of different sizes and nuclear DNA contents were present. Similar phenomenon could possibly exist in the columns of *D*. Chao Praya Smile flowers. The deformity in the flowers from aseptically-grown seedlings could have resulted in changes in the cell types and nuclear DNA contents in the column of the deformed flowers. Therefore, to determine the cause of the increase in ploidy level in the deformed flowers, confocal microscopic and cytological studies on the columns of the deformed and complete flowers are required.

In this chapter, detailed analyses of endopolyploidy in greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile seedlings revealed the presence of systemic control of endopolyploidy. Multiploid cells were found in majority of the tissues analysed. In most of the tissues analysed, endopolyploidy was observed to be developmentally regulated. In addition, the extent of endopolyploidy in the roots and leaves of aseptically-grown seedlings was different from that of greenhouse-grown plants, suggesting that plant growth conditions such as light and medium compositions could have an effect on endopolyploidy in *D*. Chao Praya Smile.

# Chapter 4 Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in the protocorm cultures of *D*. Chao Praya Smile

# 4.1 Introduction

During micro-propagation of orchids, plant growth regulators such as cytokinins and auxins have often been used (Nayak et al. 1997, 2002, Arditti 2008). For instance, 2,4-D has been used in callus induction from the root tip explants of *Cattleya* (Kerbauy 1991). Auxin transport inhibitors such as 2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid (TIBA) induced somatic embryogenesis from the leaf explants of *Oncidium* (Chen and Chang 2005). Cytokinin such as BA has been used to induce flowers from aseptically-grown *Cymbidium* (Kostenyuk et al. 1999) and *Dendrobium* seedlings (Sim et al. 2007, Hee et al. 2007). In *Cymbidium*, GA was found to delay flowering, while paclobutrazol (PAC, GA biosynthesis inhibitor) blocked the inductive effect of cytokinin on flowering (Kostenyuk et al. 1999).

The addition of plant growth regulators to the culture medium could affect the extent of somaclonal variation in the regenerants by affecting cell cycle or endoreduplication cycle in the explants (Brar and Jain 1998). Previous studies showed that plant growth regulators such as cytokinins, auxins and GAs would either enhance, reduce or have no effect on endoreduplication in aseptically-grown plantlets (Kinoshita et al. 1991, Gendreau et al. 1999), callus cultures (Libbenga and Torrey 1973), suspension cell cultures (Valente et al. 1998, Mishiba et al. 2001) and protocorm cultures (Lim and Loh 2003). The effect of GA on endopolyploidy appeared to be dosage (Lim and Loh 2003) and cultivar (Callebaut et al. 1982, Cavallini et al. 1995) dependent. In the orchid Doritaenopsis, addition of cytokinin to the culture medium was reported to result in a slight decrease in endoreduplication in the suspension cell cultures (Mishiba et al. 2001). However, the effects of auxins on endoreduplication in the suspension cells of Doritaenopsis varied, depending on the types of auxin used. In the medium supplemented with 2,4-D or picloram, culture an increase in endoreduplication was observed. Yet in media containing other types of auxin, no effect on endopolyploidy in the suspension cells was observed (Mishiba et al. 2001). In the protocorms of V. Miss Joaquim, the addition of 10.0  $\mu$ M  $\alpha$ -naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) to the culture medium enhanced endoreduplication (Lim and Loh 2003). In culture medium supplemented with 10.0 µM GA<sub>3</sub>, only slight increase in endoreduplication was observed (Lim and Loh 2003). The effects of these plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in *Dendrobium* have not been reported.

Hence, the objective of this chapter is to study the effects of a common cytokinin, BA, auxin, 2,4-D, and a gibberellic acid,  $GA_3$ , on endopolyploidy in the protocorm cultures of *D*. Chao Praya Smile. In addition, the effects of an auxin transport inhibitor, TIBA, and PAC, a GA biosynthesis inhibitor, were also studied.

# 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Plant materials

*D*. Chao Praya Smile (*D*. Pinky × *D*. Kiyomi Beauty) plants were grown in pots in the greenhouse in the Department of Biological Sciences, National University of Singapore, at 28 ± 4 °C with natural lighting of intensity 90.4 ± 12.4  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Flowers from the greenhouse-grown plants were hand-pollinated.

Three-month-old seed pods were washed with detergent, surface sterilised in 20 % (v/v) Clorox<sup>TM</sup> solution with a drop of Tween 20 for 15 min with constant agitation. The seed pods were then rinsed twice with autoclaved water and cut into halves. Seeds were germinated aseptically in 50 ml of basal KC medium (KC, Knudson 1946) supplemented with 2 % (w/v) sucrose and 15 % (v/v) coconut water at pH 5.3 in 150 ml Erlenmeyer flasks on rotary shakers at 120 rpm. The cultures were maintained at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity  $45.9 \pm 1.3 \,\mu\text{E m}^{-2} \,\text{s}^{-1}$ .

# 4.2.2 Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy

Three-week-old protocorms were transferred to 50 ml of KC medium supplemented with BA, 2,4-D, GA<sub>3</sub>, TIBA, absolute ethanol or PAC. All cultures were maintained on a rotary shaker at 120 rpm at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity  $45.9 \pm 1.3 \ \mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$  and subculturing was done every 3 weeks. Flow cytometric analyses of protocorms were conducted every 3 weeks for a period of 6 weeks.

# 4.2.3 Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses

Extraction of nuclei was conducted according to section 3.2.2.

# 4.2.4 Flow cytometric analyses

Method described in section 3.2.3 was used for flow cytometric analyses.

# 4.2.5 Statistical analyses

All percentage data were analysed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test at 95 % confidence level was performed for multiple pair-wise comparisons. Data were arcsine-transformed to meet assumptions of ANOVA (normality and homogeneity of variance) and analysed with Minitab<sup>TM</sup> 15.

# 4.3 Results

### 4.3.1 Effect of BA

Compared to protocorms cultured in basal KC medium for 3 weeks, a significant decrease in endopolyploidy was observed in the protocorms cultured in media containing BA (Table 4.1; Figs 4.1A - D). For protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (Fig 4.1A), the mean frequency of 2C nuclei was 46.61 %, which was significantly lower than that in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M BA (48.82 %) (Table 4.1). However, the mean frequencies of nuclei with DNA content higher than 2C from the protocorms cultured in medium with 0.1  $\mu$ M BA (Fig 4.1B) did not differ significantly from those of the protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.1).

Protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M BA (Fig 4.1D) contained a mean frequency of 56.88 % 2C nuclei, which was significantly higher than that in the protocorms cultured in basal KC medium and medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M BA (Table 4.1). Conversely, the mean frequencies of 8C and 16C nuclei in the protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M BA were significantly lower as compared to the protocorms cultured in basal KC medium and medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M BA (Table 4.1). 32C and 64C nuclei were not detected in protocorms cultured in medium with 10.0  $\mu$ M BA for 3 weeks (Table 4.1).

After 6 weeks of culture, some protocorms cultured in basal KC medium and media containing 0.1 and 1.0  $\mu$ M BA developed leaves (Figs 4.2A, C and E). However, majority of the protocorms remained leafless (Figs 4.2B, D and F). For protocorms

cultured in medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M BA, only leafless protocorms were observed (Fig 4.2G).

For protocorms cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M BA for 6 weeks, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei was 50.37 %. This was significantly higher than the mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the leafless protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (31.82 %) and media with 0.1 and 1.0  $\mu$ M BA for 6 weeks (33.18 and 36.48 %, respectively) (Table 4.1).

In medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M BA for 6 weeks, 32C nuclei were detected and less 2C nuclei (about 6 % less) were found in the protocorms cultured compared to those cultured in the same medium for 3 weeks (Table 4.1; Figs 4.1D and 4.2G).

Table 4.1. Effect of BA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with BA, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Within the same week of culture, different letters following the standard error for the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

BA	Type of Culture	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
(µM)		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C
3 Week	s After Culture						
0.0	Protocorms	$46.61\pm0.30^a$	$31.59\pm0.32^a$	$13.76\pm0.28^{a}$	$5.73\pm0.39^{\rm a}$	$1.84\pm0.13^{ac}$	$0.47\pm0.17^{a}$
0.1	Protocorms	$48.82 \pm 0.21^{b}$	$31.63 \pm 0.39^{a}$	$12.02 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$4.99 \pm 0.23^{ab}$	$1.92 \pm 0.09^{a}$	$0.62 \pm 0.07^{a}$
1.0	Protocorms	$50.39 \pm 0.34^{\circ}$	$32.16 \pm 0.30^{a}$	$11.68 \pm 0.22^{ab}$	$4.20 \pm 0.12^{b}$	$1.57 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{ m b}$
10.0	Protocorms	$56.88\pm0.32^{\rm d}$	$30.68\pm1.00^a$	$9.71 \pm 0.85^{ m b}$	$2.73 \pm 0.22^{\circ}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{ m b}$
6 Week	s After Culture						
0.0	Protocorms with Leaves	$43.17\pm0.21^{ac}$	$32.55 \pm 1.00^{a}$	$15.12 \pm 0.77^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$7.34 \pm 0.21^{bc}$	$1.82\pm0.45^{\rm a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$31.82 \pm 0.12^{d}$	$34.68\pm0.81^a$	$19.57 \pm 1.03^{\circ}$	$11.08 \pm 0.74^{\rm bc}$	$2.85\pm0.58^{\rm a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
0.1	Protocorms with Leaves	$43.42\pm2.20^{ac}$	$33.20\pm1.03^a$	$15.17 \pm 0.93^{ab}$	$6.35\pm0.75^{ac}$	$1.86\pm0.63^a$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$33.18\pm0.59^{bd}$	$31.80\pm1.23^{a}$	$20.60 \pm 0.40^{\circ}$	$11.80\pm0.88^{\mathrm{b}}$	$2.62\pm0.84^a$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
1.0	Protocorms with Leaves	$39.39 \pm 0.91^{bc}$	$34.46\pm0.74^a$	$16.38 \pm 1.09^{abc}$	$8.27\pm0.70^{\rm bc}$	$1.53\pm0.34^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$36.48 \pm 3.33^{bcd}$	$34.42 \pm 0.60^{a}$	$18.23 \pm 1.15^{\rm bc}$	$8.33 \pm 2.27^{bc}$	$2.54\pm0.98^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
10.0	Protocorms	$50.37\pm0.78^a$	$32.26\pm0.77^a$	$13.12\pm0.67^a$	$3.29\pm0.13^a$	$0.96\pm0.05^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$



Fig 4.1. Protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured for 3 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or media supplemented with BA, 2,4-D or GA<sub>3</sub>, bar: 0.3 cm.

- A: Basal KC medium.
- **B D**: Basal KC media with BA.
- **E**, **F**: Basal KC media with 2,4-D.
- **G I**: Basal KC media with GA<sub>3</sub>.



Fig 4.2. Protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured for 6 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or media supplemented with BA, 2,4-D or GA<sub>3</sub>.

- **A**, **B**: Basal KC medium (**A**: Protocorms with leaves), bar: 0.41 cm.
- C G: Basal KC media with BA (C, E: Protocorms with leaves), bar: 0.53 cm.
- H J: Basal KC media with 2,4-D (H: Protocorms with leaves), bar: 0.42 cm.
- **K P**: Basal KC media with GA<sub>3</sub> (**K**, **M**: Protocorms with leaves, **O**: Elongated protocorms), bar: 0.30 cm.

#### 4.3.2 Effect of 2,4-D

Protocorms cultured in medium with 10.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D for 3 weeks turned brown and could not be used for nuclei isolation. Thus, only protocorms cultured in media containing 0.1 and 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D were analysed. Protocorms cultured in basal KC medium for 3 weeks (Fig 4.1A) contained a mean frequency of 46.61 % nuclei with 2C DNA content. This was significantly higher than the mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the protocorms cultured in media containing 0.1 and 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (44.77 and 40.79 %, respectively) for 3 weeks (Table 4.2; Figs 4.1E and F). In medium containing 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D, a significant increase was observed in the mean frequencies of 8C, 16C, 32C and 64C nuclei in the protocorms cultured as compared to those cultured in basal KC medium and medium supplemented with 0.1  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (Table 4.2).

After 6 weeks of culturing in medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M 2,4-D, some protocorms developed leaves (Fig 4.2H), but majority of the protocorms remained leafless (Fig 4.2I). In medium containing 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D, only leafless protocorms were observed (Fig 4.2J) and they contained 64C nuclei with a mean frequency of 1.17 % (Table 4.2). However, in basal KC medium and medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M 2,4-D for 6 weeks, the highest DNA content detected in the protocorms was 32C (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2. Effect of 2,4-D on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with 2,4-D, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Within the same week of culture, different letters following the standard error for the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

2,4-D	Type of Culture		Μ	lean Proportion of	of Nuclei (%) ± S	E	
(µM)		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C
3 Wee	ks After Culture						
0.0	Protocorms	$46.61\pm0.30^a$	$31.59\pm0.32^a$	$13.76\pm0.28^a$	$5.73\pm0.39^a$	$1.84\pm0.13^{a}$	$0.47\pm0.17^{a}$
0.1	Protocorms	$44.77\pm0.27^{b}$	$32.67\pm0.60^a$	$13.31 \pm 0.17^{a}$	$6.03\pm0.38^{\rm a}$	$2.42\pm0.15^a$	$0.80\pm0.13^{a}$
1.0	Protocorms	$40.79\pm0.23^{c}$	$31.20\pm0.52^a$	$15.69\pm0.13^{b}$	$7.71\pm0.25^{b}$	$3.50\pm0.29^{b}$	$1.11\pm0.09^{b}$
6 Wee	ks After Culture						
0.0	Protocorms with Leaves	$43.17 \pm 0.21^{a}_{}$	$32.55 \pm 1.00^{a}$	$15.12 \pm 0.77^{a}$	$7.34 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$1.82 \pm 0.45^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$31.82 \pm 0.12^{b}$	$34.68 \pm 0.81^{a}$	$19.57 \pm 1.03^{b}$	$11.08 \pm 0.74^{ab}$	$2.85 \pm 0.58^{ab}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
0.1	Protocorms with Leaves	$41.02 \pm 1.10^{a}$	$32.51 \pm 0.65^{a}$	$16.74 \pm 1.22^{ab}$	$7.36 \pm 0.64^{a}$	$2.37\pm0.51^{ab}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$33.90\pm0.26^{b}$	$31.98\pm2.53^a$	$19.57 \pm 0.60^{b}$	$11.25 \pm 1.56^{b}$	$3.30\pm0.67^{ab}$	$0.00\pm0.00^a$
1.0	Protocorms	$32.80\pm0.76^{b}$	$31.02\pm0.92^a$	$19.04\pm0.76^b$	$11.41 \pm 0.89^{b}$	$4.56\pm0.13^{b}$	$1.17\pm0.16^{b}$

## 4.3.3 Effect of GA<sub>3</sub>

Compared to protocorms cultured in basal KC medium for 3 weeks, the presence of  $GA_3$  in the culture medium resulted in a significant decrease in the mean frequency of 2C nuclei and an increase in 4C nuclei in the protocorms (Table 4.3; Figs 4.1A and G - I). The addition of 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> to the culture medium resulted in about 2 % decrease in the mean frequency of 2C nuclei and about 4 % increase in 4C nuclei in the protocorms as compared to those cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.3).

After culturing in media containing 0.1 and 1.0  $\mu$ M of GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks, majority of the protocorms remained leafless (Figs 4.2L and N). However, a small population of the protocorms was observed to have developed leaves (Figs 4.2K and M). In medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks, the protocorms remained leafless and majority of the protocorms were elongated (Figs 4.2O and P). The elongated protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks contained less 2C nuclei (about 11 % less) and more 8C nuclei (about 6 % more) than the protocorms with leaves in the basal KC medium (Table 4.3; Figs 4.2A and O). In the medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M of GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks, the elongated protocorms contained significantly higher mean frequency of 16C nuclei (10.47 %) than that in the non-elongated protocorms (6.06 %) (Table 4.3; Figs 4.2O and P).

Table 4.3. Effect of  $GA_3$  on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC media supplemented with  $GA_3$ , based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Within the same week of culture, different letters following the standard error for the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

GA <sub>3</sub>	Type of Culture	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
(µM)		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C
3 Week	s After Culture						
0.0	Protocorms	$46.61 \pm 0.30^{a}$	$31.59\pm0.32^a$	$13.76 \pm 0.28^{a}$	$5.73\pm0.39^{a}$	$1.84\pm0.13^{a}$	$0.47\pm0.17^{a}$
0.1	Protocorms	$43.95\pm0.75^{b}$	$34.02\pm0.53^b$	$14.34\pm0.22^{ab}$	$5.60 \pm 0.11^{a}$	$1.63\pm0.06^{ac}$	$0.46\pm0.15^{a}$
1.0	Protocorms	$43.61 \pm 0.26^{b}$	$33.54\pm0.48^{b}$	$15.15 \pm 0.16^{\mathrm{b}}$	$5.91\pm0.14^{a}$	$1.26 \pm 0.11^{bc}$	$0.53\pm0.23^{a}$
10.0	Protocorms	$44.16 \pm 0.40^{ m b}$	$35.90\pm0.23^{c}$	$14.62 \pm 0.16^{ab}$	$4.29 \pm 0.14^{b}$	$1.03 \pm 0.10^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{a}$
6 Week	s After Culture		_				
0.0	Protocorms with Leaves	$43.17 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$32.55 \pm 1.00^{ab}$	$15.12 \pm 0.77^{a}$	$7.34 \pm 0.21^{ac}$	$1.82 \pm 0.45^{\rm ac}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Protocorms	$31.82 \pm 0.12^{bc}$	$34.68 \pm 0.81^{ac}$	$19.57 \pm 1.03^{b}$	$11.08 \pm 0.74^{bcd}$	$2.85 \pm 0.58^{ab}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
		ah	ha	h	ha	ab	
0.1	Protocorms with Leaves	$34.77 \pm 4.22^{ab}$	$31.53 \pm 0.55^{\text{bc}}$	$20.44 \pm 2.03^{\circ}$	$10.32 \pm 1.57^{\text{bc}}$	$2.94 \pm 0.61^{ab}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
	Protocorms	$28.97 \pm 2.70^{\circ}$	$29.30 \pm 0.38^{\circ}$	$21.68 \pm 1.14^{\circ}$	$15.63 \pm 1.22^{d}$	$4.42 \pm 0.29^{6}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
1.0	D					a z c c c c c ab	
1.0	Protocorms with Leaves	$41.30 \pm 1.74^{\text{ac}}$	$31.49 \pm 1.11^{bc}$	$16.88 \pm 0.59^{\text{ab}}$	$7.57 \pm 0.45^{\text{uc}}$	$2.76 \pm 0.33^{\text{ac}}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
	Protocorms	$29.36 \pm 1.92^{\circ}$	$31.09 \pm 1.41^{\circ\circ}$	$22.12 \pm 1.14^{\circ}$	$13.44 \pm 1.49^{50}$	$3.99 \pm 0.84^{\circ\circ}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$ "
10.0	Elenasted Ducto commo	$22.20 + 2.20^{bc}$	$22.02 \pm 1.22^{ab}$	$21.01 \pm 0.04^{b}$	$10.47 \pm 0.72^{bc}$	$2.20 + 0.44^{ab}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
10.0	Elongated Protocorms	$32.39 \pm 2.29$	$33.93 \pm 1.33$	$21.01 \pm 0.94$	$10.4 / \pm 0.73$	$2.20 \pm 0.44$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
	Protocorins	$38.38 \pm 1.03$	$30.25 \pm 0.92$	$18.10 \pm 0.89$	$0.00 \pm 0.41$	$1.21 \pm 0.07$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$

# 4.3.4 Effect of TIBA

Compared to protocorms cultured in basal KC medium for 3 weeks, no significant difference was observed in the mean frequencies of 2C, 8C and 64C nuclei in the protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA (Table 4.4; Figs 4.3A and C). However, the presence of 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA in the culture medium resulted in about 1 % increase in the mean frequencies of 16C and 32C nuclei in the protocorms after 3 weeks as compared to protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.4). Protocorms cultured in medium containing 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D had significantly less 2C nuclei than those cultured in basal KC medium and medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA (Table 4.4; Fig 4.3). Conversely, the protocorms in medium containing 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D had more 8C, 16C and 64C nuclei as compared to those cultured in basal KC medium and medium with 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA (Table 4.4).

After culturing in medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA for 6 weeks, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the protocorms (43.09 %) was significantly higher as compared to the protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (33.29 %) and medium containing 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (35.06 %) (Table 4.4; Fig 4.4).

On the other hand, no difference in the ploidy variation was observed in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA for 3 and 6 weeks (Table 4.4).

Table 4.4. Effects of 2,4-D and TIBA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC medium and KC medium supplemented with 1.0  $\mu$ M 2,4-D or 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Within the same week of culture, different letters following the standard error for the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Plant Growth	Type of Culture	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
Regulator		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C
3 Weeks After	r Culture						
-	Protocorms	$43.30\pm0.89^a$	$33.76 \pm 0.25^{a}$	$13.85 \pm 0.35^{a}$	$5.92\pm0.21^a$	$2.32\pm0.11^a$	$0.85\pm0.15^a$
2,4-D	Protocorms	$40.08\pm0.84^{b}$	$31.74\pm0.32^{b}$	$15.98\pm0.29^{b}$	$7.34\pm0.12^{b}$	$3.55\pm0.15^{b}$	$1.31\pm0.06^{b}$
TIBA	Protocorms	$45.43\pm0.40^a$	$29.66\pm0.50^{c}$	$14.26\pm0.17^{a}$	$6.51\pm0.05^c$	$3.40\pm0.08^{b}$	$0.74\pm0.04^{a}$
6 Weeks After	r Culture						
-	Protocorms with Leaves	$41.88 \pm 1.04^{ac}$	$30.95\pm0.37^a$	$16.84 \pm 1.47^{ab}$	$7.71 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$2.62\pm0.13^a$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$
	Protocorms	$33.29\pm0.38^b$	$28.94 \pm 1.06^{a}$	$20.18\pm0.39^{b}$	$11.65 \pm 0.79^{b}$	$4.57 \pm 0.23^{bc}$	$1.37 \pm 0.23^{bc}$
2,4-D	Protocorms	$35.06\pm2.39^b$	$29.37\pm0.98^a$	$17.45 \pm 1.32^{ab}$	$11.08\pm0.98^{b}$	$5.09\pm0.37^{b}$	$1.95\pm0.40^{b}$
TIBA	Protocorms	$43.09\pm0.46^{c}$	$29.36\pm0.32^a$	$14.97\pm0.10^a$	$8.49\pm0.25^{\rm a}$	$3.14\pm0.17^{ad}$	$0.95\pm0.08^{\rm c}$



Fig 4.3. Protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured for 3 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with 2,4-D or TIBA, bar: 0.3 cm.

- A: Basal KC medium.
- **B**: Basal KC medium with 2,4-D.
- C: Basal KC medium with TIBA.





- A, B: Basal KC medium (A: Protocorms with leaves).
- C: Basal KC medium with 2,4-D.
- **D**: Basal KC medium with TIBA.

# 4.3.5 Effect of PAC

In this study, PAC was dissolved in absolute ethanol. Therefore, endopolyploidy profile of protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0 ml  $\Gamma^1$  absolute ethanol was analysed for comparison. Protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC were found to contain significantly less 2C and 4C nuclei (about 4 and 1 % less, respectively) and more 8C, 16C and 32C nuclei (about 2, 2 and 1 % more, respectively) as compared to the protocorms cultured in medium with 2.0 ml  $\Gamma^1$  absolute ethanol for 3 weeks (Table 4.5; Fig 4.5). For protocorms cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 3 weeks, they contained less 2C nuclei (about 5 % less) and more 8C nuclei (about 4 % more) than those cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.5; Fig 4.5). Therefore, the increase in the mean frequency of 8C nuclei in protocorms cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> was greater than those cultured in medium in medium supplemented with 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC for 3 weeks (Table 4.5).

After 6 weeks of culture, the mean frequency of 2C nuclei in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC was significantly higher than those cultured in medium with 2.0 ml I<sup>-1</sup> absolute ethanol (Table 4.5; Fig 4.6). On the other hand, no significant difference was observed in the mean frequencies of the nuclei with higher than 2C DNA content in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC as compared to those cultured in medium with 2.0 ml I<sup>-1</sup> absolute ethanol (Table 4.5).

In addition, no difference was observed in the distributions of the various nuclei in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC for 3 and 6 weeks (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5. Effects of GA<sub>3</sub> and PAC on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in liquid basal KC medium and KC medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub>, 2.0 ml l<sup>-1</sup> absolute ethanol or 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Within the same week of culture, different letters following the standard error for the same C-values indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Plant Growth	Type of Culture	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE					
Regulator /		2C	4C	8C	16C	32C	64C
Solvent							
<b>3 Weeks After</b>	r Culture						
-	Protocorms	$43.30\pm0.89^a$	$33.76\pm0.25^a$	$13.85 \pm 0.35^{a}$	$5.92\pm0.21^{a}$	$2.32\pm0.11^a$	$0.85\pm0.15^a$
GA <sub>3</sub>	Protocorms	$38.48\pm0.66^{b}$	$36.69\pm0.51^{b}$	$17.77 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$	$5.75\pm0.16^{a}$	$1.31\pm0.13^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{b}$
Ethanol	Protocorms	$41.57\pm0.45^{a}$	$32.21\pm0.27^{b}$	$15.71\pm0.13^{b}$	$7.04\pm0.39^{b}$	$2.54\pm0.12^a$	$0.93\pm0.07^{a}$
PAC	Protocorms	$37.50 \pm 0.48^b$	$30.87\pm0.19^{c}$	$17.83\pm0.29^{c}$	$8.80\pm0.21^{c}$	$3.60\pm0.13^{c}$	$1.22\pm0.11^{a}$
6 Weeks After	r Culture						
-	Protocorms with Leaves	$41.88 \pm 1.04^{a}$	$30.95 \pm 0.37^{ac}$	$16.84 + 1.47^{a}$	$7.71 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$2.62 \pm 0.13^{ac}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
	Protocorms	$33.29 \pm 0.38^{\text{bh}}$	$29.94 \pm 1.06^{\circ}$	$20.18 \pm 0.39^{abcd}$	$11.65 \pm 0.79^{bd}$	$4.57 \pm 0.23^{b}$	$1.37 \pm 0.23^{\rm bc}$
GAa	Flongated Protocorms	22 57 + 0 76 <sup>eg</sup>	$34.86 \pm 0.38^{ab}$	$26.67 \pm 0.21^{\text{ef}}$	$11\ 24 + 0\ 94^{abd}$	$3.67 \pm 0.33^{ab}$	$0.99 \pm 0.18^{cd}$
0113	Protocorms	$26.00 \pm 0.40^{de}$	$36.38 \pm 1.31^{a}$	$24.17 \pm 1.15^{\rm df}$	$10.39 \pm 0.14^{abd}$	$2.61 \pm 0.21^{\rm ac}$	$0.99 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$ $0.45 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$
Ethanol	Protocorms	$28.65\pm0.79^{cd}$	$31.59 \pm 1.54^{abc}$	$21.09\pm0.61^{bcd}$	$12.73 \pm 1.03^{d}$	$4.83\pm0.48^{b}$	$1.11\pm0.10^{bc}$
PAC	Protocorms	$35.92\pm0.67^{\text{fh}}$	$30.44\pm0.54^{bc}$	$19.03\pm0.41^{abc}$	$9.62\pm0.26^{abd}$	$3.74\pm0.07^{ab}$	$1.25\pm0.19^{bc}$





- A: Basal KC medium.
- **B**: Basal KC medium with GA<sub>3</sub>.
- C: Basal KC medium with absolute ethanol.
- **D**: Basal KC medium with PAC.



Fig 4.6. Protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured for 6 weeks in liquid basal KC medium or medium supplemented with GA<sub>3</sub>, absolute ethanol or PAC, bar: 0.5 cm.

- A, B: Basal KC medium (A: Protocorms with leaves).
- **C**, **D**: Basal KC medium with GA<sub>3</sub> (**C**: Elongated protocorms).
- **E**: Basal KC medium with absolute ethanol.
- **F**: Basal KC medium with PAC.

## 4.4 Discussion

#### 4.4.1 Effect of BA

Cytokinins are generally recognised as a requirement for the completion of mitosis and cytokinesis in plant cells (Jouanneau and De Marsac 1973, Liscum and Hangarter 1991). The presence of cytokinin in the culture medium often results in the reduction of endoreduplication in the cells. For instance, in the suspension cell cultures of the orchid *Doritaenopsis*, culture medium containing BA or thidiazuron reduced endoreduplication in the cells as indicated by the decrease in the mean frequency of 8C and 16C nuclei and an increase in 4C nuclei in the cells (Mishiba et al. 2001). In tobacco cells cultured in medium containing only auxin, cell elongation and an increase in endoreduplication were observed. However, medium containing both cytokinin and auxin induced cell division and reduced endoreduplication in the tobacco cells (Valente et al. 1998).

In this present study, a decrease in endopolyploidy was observed in the protocorms of D. Chao Praya Smile cultured in media containing BA for 3 weeks compared to the protocorms cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.1). The inhibitory effect of BA on endopolyploidy in the protocorms of D. Chao Praya Smile cultured in media containing BA increased with increasing concentrations of BA in the media (Table 4.1). This implies that the effect of cytokinin on endopolyploidy in the protocorms is possibly dosage dependent. Moreover, higher ploidy variation was observed in the protocorms cultured in 10.0  $\mu$ M BA for 6 weeks compared to that cultured in the same medium for 3 weeks (Table 4.1). This demonstrated that the presence of BA in the culture medium did not result in the total inhibition of endoreduplication in the

protocorms, suggesting that other factors may be involved in the regulation of this process.

It was reported that the levels of endogenous auxin and cytokinin would influence the activity of protein kinase, p34<sup>cdc2</sup>, which might be involved in the regulation of endoreduplication (John et al. 1993, Nagl 1993, Valente et al. 1998). Endoreduplication was induced in pea root cortex cells cultured in medium containing both cytokinin and auxin. However, in medium containing auxin alone, no effect on endopolyploidy was observed (Libbenga and Torrey 1973). In maize endosperm, a sharp decline in the cytokinin/auxin ratio was found to coincide with an increase in endoreduplication (Lur and Setter 1993). This implies that endoreduplication may be affected by the balance of endogenous cytokinin-to-auxin ratio rather than the absolute concentration of cytokinin or auxin. The addition of cytokinin or auxin to the culture medium may have affected endoreduplication in the protocorms by altering the cytokinin/auxin ratio within the tissues. Further analyses on the changes in the endogenous auxin and cytokinin levels of the protocorms after culturing in medium containing cytokinin or auxin are needed to elucidate this.

## 4.4.2 Effect of 2,4-D

Auxin, such as 2,4-D, has been reported to increase chromosome instability of cells in cultures when incorporated in culture medium at high concentration (Gould 1986, Karp 1994). Auxin has also been reported to affect endopolyploidy in orchid cultures (Mishiba et al. 2001, Lim and Loh 2003). In this present study, culture media containing 2,4-D resulted in an increase in endopolyploidy in the protocorms of D. Chao Praya Smile as compared to those cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.2). This is consistent with Lim and Loh (2003) who reported an increase in

endopolyploidy in the protocorms of V. Miss Joaquim cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M NAA. In the suspension cells of *Doritaenopsis*, the presence of 4.5  $\mu$ M 2,4-D or 20.7  $\mu$ M picloram in the culture medium resulted in an increase in endoreduplication in the cells (Mishiba et al. 2001).

In maize, the application of lanolin paste containing 2,4-D on the exposed pericarp surface of kernel at 5 or 7 days after pollination resulted in a rapid increase in endoreduplication in the endosperm (Lur and Setter 1993). This coincided with the accumulation of zein storage materials (indicator of cellular differentiation) in the maize endosperm (Lur and Setter 1993). These results demonstrated that the application of 2,4-D hastened the development of endosperm via the increase in endoreduplication (Lur and Setter 1993). Since the parenchymatous region of the orchid protocorms was suggested to be analogous to the endosperm of other angiosperms (Alvarez 1968), culturing of *D*. Chao Praya Smile protocorms in medium containing auxin might have hastened the protocorm development by increasing endoreduplication in the parenchymatous region. However, further investigation on the cellular differentiation of protocorms cultured in medium containing auxin is required to establish such a link.

# 4.4.3 Effect of GA<sub>3</sub>

GAs control a range of growth and developmental processes in plants (Yamaguchi 2008). They have been reported to release seed dormancy and promote seed germination in tobacco (Leubner-Metzger 2001), enhance vegetative growth in maize (Evans and Poethig 1995) and promote flowering in *B. napus* (Rood et al. 1989) and *Arabidopsis* (Tyler et al. 2004), just to name a few. At the cellular level, GAs have

been reported to promote cell division and elongation (Kende and Zeevaart 1997) and are involved in endoreduplication (Joubes and Chevalier 2000).

In the present study, GA<sub>3</sub> resulted in a slight increase in endoreduplication in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 3 weeks (Table 4.3). This is consistent with Lim and Loh (2003) who reported a slight increase in endopolyploidy in the protocorms of *V*. Miss Joaquim cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub>. In GA-deficient mutants of *Arabidopsis*, the hypocotyls exhibited reduced ploidy level, while an addition of GA to the culture medium restored the ploidy level to that of the wild-type (Gendreau et al. 1999). On the other hand, the enhancing effect of GA on endopolyploidy was found to be cultivar-dependent in *Pisum sativum* (Callebaut et al. 1982) and *Triticum durum* (Cavallini et al. 1995).

The effect of GA on endoreduplication seems to be dependent on other environmental factors as well. For instance, the presence of  $GA_3$  resulted in an increase in endopolyploidy in the leaf cells of *T. durum* cultivated in the dark (Cavallini et al. 1995). However, no increase in endopolyploidy in the leaf cells was observed when the plants were grown in the light (Cavallini et al. 1995). This implies that the effect of GAs on endopolyploidy could be the consequence of the responses to GAs rather than a direct effect on endoreduplication (Gendreau et al. 1999).

In the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile, a further increase in endopolyploidy was resulted when cultured in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks (Table 4.3). At the same time, protocorms with leaves were not observed and elongation of protocorms was apparent after culturing in medium containing 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 6 weeks (Fig 4.2O). Endopolyploidy in these elongated protocorms was found to be
higher than non-elongated protocorms in the same medium (Table 4.3). This suggests that the elongation of protocorms could be due to the increase in endopolyploidy which in turn increased the cell size of the protocorms. Several studies had found positive correlation between cell size and variation in endopolyploidy (Melaragno et al. 1993, Folkers et al. 1997, Cebolla et al. 1999, Kondorosi et al. 2000). Endoreduplication was also suggested to be required for the expansion and differentiation of plant cells (Kondorosi et al. 2000, Barow 2006). On the other hand, cell elongation was reported to be uncoupled from endoreduplication in *Arabidopsis* (Gendreau et al. 1998). The root cells from different ecotypes of *Arabidopsis* had varied sizes, but no correlation was found between cell size and ploidy level (Beemster et al. 2002). Therefore, determining the nuclear and cell size of the protocorms of D. Chao Praya Smile cultured in media containing varying concentrations of GA<sub>3</sub> would be useful in verifying the correlation between cell size and endopolyploidy variation in the protocorms.

#### 4.4.4 Effect of TIBA

During tissue culture, an increase in ploidy variations in the cultures was reported to result in the loss of regenerative ability of cells (Gould 1986). For instance, in *Rosa hydrida* tissue cultures, an increase in the number of polyploid cells would result in a decline in regeneration potential (Moyne et al. 1993). The addition of TIBA to the culture medium, however, would enhance shoot regeneration from the low-regenerative callus cultures of *R. hydrida* (Singh and Syamal 2000). This implies that TIBA may have reduced the ploidy level in the cells to restore their regeneration potential.

TIBA is an auxin polar transport inhibitor and has been used to study the role of auxin in plant development (Dhonukshe et al. 2008). Auxin polar transport inhibitors (Katekar and Geissler 1980) and inhibitor of auxin action ( $\alpha$ -(p-chlorophenoxy) isobutryic acid (PCIB)) (Oono et al. 2003) have antagonistic effects on auxin activity. Some of the reported effects of these inhibitors include inhibition of root growth (Ramanayake et al. 2008) and lost of apical dominance in plants (Ishikawa et al. 1997). In maize endosperm, application of lanolin paste supplemented with PCIB to the exposed pericarp surface of the kernel resulted in a significant decrease in endopolyploidy in the endosperm (Lur and Setter 1993). However, the effect of TIBA on endopolyploidy in plants has yet to be reported.

In this study, *D*. Chao Praya Smile protocorms cultured in medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA for 3 weeks did not result in a significant decrease in endopolyploidy compared to those cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.4). However, the ploidy variation in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA for 6 weeks was significantly lower than those cultured in basal KC medium (Table 4.4). Moreover, endopolyploidy variations in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 50.0  $\mu$ M TIBA for 3 and 6 weeks were similar (Table 4.4). This suggests that TIBA inhibited further increase in endoreduplication in the protocorms after 3 weeks of culture. However, direct effect on endoreduplication in the cells via TIBA has yet to be reported. TIBA is recognised to have an antagonistic effect on auxin activity (Katekar and Geissler 1980). Therefore, it is possible that the presence of TIBA in the culture medium might have inhibited auxin activity in the protocorms which in turn inhibited endoreduplication. Further study into the regulatory mechanism of TIBA on endoreduplication will therefore aid in the understanding of the role of TIBA in this process.

#### 4.4.5 Effect of PAC

The study on the effect of endogenous GAs levels on endoreduplication in the protocorms is necessary to further understand the role of GA on endoreduplication. Endogenous GAs levels can be reduced by four groups of GA biosynthesis inhibitors. These four groups are a) compounds with a nitrogen-containing heterocycle (triazole-type compounds), b) "onium" compounds, c) structural mimics of 2-oxoglutaric acid and d) 16,17-dihydo-GAs (Rademacher 2000). Each of these inhibitor groups inhibits a distinct step in the GA biosynthesis pathway (Rademacher 2000).

In this study, PAC, a triazole-type GA biosynthesis inhibitor, was used. As aforementioned, the presence of GA<sub>3</sub> in the culture medium was found to enhance endoreduplication in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile (Table 4.3). The reduction of endogenous GAs levels using GA biosynthesis inhibitor would, therefore, inhibit this process. However, an increase in endopolyploidy was resulted in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC for 3 weeks compared to the protocorms cultured in medium with 2.0 ml I<sup>-1</sup> absolute ethanol (Table 4.5). On the other hand, this increase in endopolyploidy in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC was lower than that in the protocorms cultured in medium supplemented with 10.0  $\mu$ M GA<sub>3</sub> for 3 weeks (Table 4.5).

Desgagne-Penix and Sponsel (2008) reported that the presence of 5.0  $\mu$ M PAC in culture medium would increase the expression of GA20-oxidase mRNAs (*AtGA20ox1*) in the cotyledons and leaves of 6-day-old *Arabidopsis* seedlings. GA20-oxidase catalyses the conversion of inactive GA (GA<sub>20</sub>) to bioactive GA (GA<sub>1</sub>) (Fig 4.7) and over-expression of *AtGA20ox1* in the tissues of transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants was found to increase the endogenous levels of bioactive GAs (Coles et al. 1998, Huang et



Fig 4.7. A simplified GA biosynthesis pathway showing the points of PAC activities (adapted from Rademacher 2000).

al. 1998). Therefore, in this present study, the presence of 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC in the culture medium could have induced the expression of GA20-oxidase mRNAs in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile. This probably increased the conversion of the remaining endogenous inactive GAs into their active forms (Fig 4.7) and resulted in the initial increase in endopolyploidy observed in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC for 3 weeks (Table 4.5).

In contrast, no further increase in endopolyploidy was observed in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC for 6 weeks as compared to those cultured in the same medium for 3 weeks (Table 4.5). PAC reduces the production of endogenous GA by inhibiting the activity of monooxygenases which catalyse the oxidative steps from *ent*-Kaurene to *ent*-Kaurenoic acid (Fig 4.7) (Graebe 1987, Kende and Zeevaart 1997, Rademacher 2000). Further synthesis of the inactive GAs in the protocorms cultured in medium containing 2.0  $\mu$ M PAC would be prevented. This could result in the decrease in the levels of bioactive GAs in these would possibly inhibit endoreduplication in these protocorms.

In conclusion, the presence of BA in the culture medium was found to reduce endoreduplication, while 2,4-D and GA enhanced this process in the protocorms of *D*. Chao Praya Smile. Unlike BA, the addition of TIBA or PAC to the culture medium inhibited endoreduplication and further increase in endopolyploidy (due to development) was not observed in the protocorms cultured in these media for 6 weeks. These results are consistent with the suggestion that plant growth regulators would affect the genetic stability of the tissues by influencing the cell cycle or endoreduplication cycle (Brar and Jain 1998). However, the effects of some of these growth regulators in endoreduplication in the plant tissues varied in different plants (Callebaut et al. 1982, Cavallini et al. 1995, Joubes and Chevalier 2000). It has been suggested to be cultivar dependent in plants such as *P. sativum* (Callebaut et al. 1982) and *T. durum* (Cavallini et al. 1995). It could also be due to the nuclear stability in the plant cells before culturing in medium containing plant growth regulator. To provide more evidence on this, further investigations into the effects of plant growth regulators on endoreduplication in the tissues from plants which exhibited minimum ploidy variations are required.

# Chapter 5 Tissue culture and endopolyploidy in *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'

#### 5.1 Introduction

Beside orchids, anthuriums are the other horticulturally important plants. In the global market, anthurium is second only to orchid among the tropical cut flowers (Dufour and Guerin 2003). *A. andraeanum* is a highly cultivated *Anthurium* species because of its large and showy spathes (Henny 1999). Due to their popularity, specific small hybrids such as *A. andraeanum* cv 'Lady Jane', 'Southern Blush' and 'Red Hot' have been developed as potted plants (Henny et al. 1988, Henny 1999).

Some *Anthurium* cultivars fail to produce viable seeds due to incompatibilities (Sheffer and Kamemoto 1976a). For those that produce viable seeds, propagation via seeds led to progenies that are heterozygous (Matsumoto et al. 1998, Martin et al. 2003). Therefore, anthuriums are usually propagated through asexual means (Matsumoto et al. 1998, Martin et al. 2003). However, conventional propagation method via separation from adult anthurium plants is time consuming and inefficient in developing commercial quantities of the elite clone (Pierik et al. 1974). To solve these problems, micro-propagation has been widely used.

Due to the difficulty in obtaining large numbers of nodal explants, anthuriums are normally micro-propagated using explants such as leaf, petiole, spathe and spadix via indirect organogenesis (Martin et al. 2003). Micro-propagation of plants via organogenesis through callus culture may risk the presence of somaclonal variants (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). Such variations could be due to karyotype changes (endopolyploidy) which occur as a result of chromosomal replication in the absence of cell and nuclear division (endoreduplication) during the normal process of cell division (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). The extent of polyploidy in the cultures was suggested to be affected by the age of explant source or the use of plant growth regulators during tissue culture (D'Amato 1977, Sulistyaningsih et al. 2006).

The extent of endopolyploidy in the tissues also affects the regeneration potential of callus tissues (Gould 1986). For instance, increased occurrence of multiploid cells in cell suspension cultures of rose plants could decrease regeneration potential of the cells (Moyne et al. 1993). In asparagus, cells of callus cultures with high regeneration potential contained mostly 2C nuclei, while in non-organogenic callus cultures, 4C and 8C nuclei were detected (Reuther and Becker 1987).

Therefore, analyses on the endopolyploidy profiles of the tissues used in micropropagation and the effects of plant growth regulators such as BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues are required to provide an insight on the nuclear stability of the tissues of *A. andraeanum* plants and their callus cultures. Hence, the objectives of this chapter are: (1) to determine the optimum medium for callus induction, shoot regeneration and shoot multiplication; (2) to analyse the occurrence of multiploid cells within different tissues in greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets and (3) to study the effects of BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'.

#### 5.2 Materials and methods

#### 5.2.1 Plant materials

Vegetatively propagated *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' (*A. andraeanum* cv 'Southern Blush' × *A. andraeanum* cv 'Lady Jane') were grown in pots in the greenhouse in the Department of Biological Sciences, National University of Singapore, at 28 ± 4 °C with natural lighting of intensity 90.4 ± 12.4  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Tissue-cultured plantlets

Young leaf laminas of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' at the olive-brown unopened stage (see Fig 5.1A) were harvested and washed with detergent, surface sterilised by soaking in 80 % (v/v) ethanol for 2 min, followed by 20 % (v/v) Clorox<sup>TM</sup> solution with a drop of Tween 20 for 15 min, with constant agitation. The lamina segments were then rinsed five times with autoclaved water. The sterilised leaf laminas were cut into 1-cm<sup>2</sup> and cultured in 90 mm petri dishes containing 25 ml of basal medium (modified Murashige and Skoog (1962) media (MS) containing: half-strength MS macro-elements and full strength MS micro-elements, iron and vitamins) supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and varying concentrations of 2,4-D, indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) or NAA, 2 % (w/v) sucrose and solidified with 0.3 % (w/v) gelrite at pH 5.5.

Greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets for endopolyploidy analyses

For flow cytometric analyses of greenhouse-grown plants, petioles and laminas (proximal and distal lamina sections) of young unopened leaves with 5-cm long petioles and fully expanded leaves (30 days after opening) (see Fig 5.1A) were analysed. For roots, entire of 2- and 8-cm long roots were chosen for sample

preparation. For flowers, spadices and spathes of flowers at 10 days before anthesis (with 10-cm long peduncles) and at 30 days after anthesis (see Fig 5.1B) were analysed. For tissue-cultured plantlets, petioles and laminas (proximal and distal lamina sections) of young unopened leaves (with 2-cm long petioles) as well as fully expanded leaves (30 days after opening) and entire of 8-cm long roots were analysed.



Fig 5.1. Developmental stages of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' leaves and flowers.

A: Leaves at different developmental stages, bar: 2.24 cm.

Left to right: Unopened, newly opened and fully expanded leaves (fully expanded for 30 days).

B: Flowers at different days of anthesis, bar: 1.92 cm.

Left to right: Ten days before anthesis (with 8- to 10-cm peduncle), 1 day before anthesis, 3 days and 30 days after anthesis.

#### 5.2.2 Callus induction and shoot regeneration

Young unopened lamina segments  $(1-cm^2)$  and petioles  $(1-cm \ long)$  from tissuecultured plantlets were used as explants for callus induction. The explants were cultured in 90 mm petri dishes containing 25 ml of basal media supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2,4-D at four concentrations (0, 1.13, 2.26, 4.52  $\mu$ M), 2 % (w/v) sucrose and solidified with 0.3 % (w/v) gelrite at pH 5.5.

After 3 months of culture, explants with callus were used for shoot regeneration. Callus explants were randomly transferred into 90 mm petri dishes containing 25 ml of basal media supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2,4-D at four concentrations (0, 1.13, 2.26, 4.52  $\mu$ M), 2 % (w/v) sucrose and solidified with 0.3 % (w/v) gelrite at pH 5.5.

#### 5.2.3 Shoot multiplication

Tissue-cultured plantlets about 5-cm tall (measured from youngest leaf tip to the base of the plant) with three fully expanded leaves were used. Roots from the plantlets were trimmed and transferred into Magenta  $GA7^{TM}$  containers containing 50 ml of basal media supplemented with BA of varying concentrations, 2 % (w/v) sucrose and solidified with 0.3 % (w/v) gelrite at pH 5.5.

Tissue-cultured plantlets were also cultured in Magenta GA7<sup>TM</sup> containers containing 50 ml of basal media supplemented with 11.1  $\mu$ M of cytokinin (BA, zeatin, 6-( $\gamma$ - $\gamma$ -dimethylallylamino) purine (2-iP) or kinetin), 2 % (w/v) sucrose and solidified with 0.3 % gelrite at pH 5.5. Unless otherwise stated, all cultures were maintained at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity 45.9 ± 1.3  $\mu$ E m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Subculturing was done every 3 weeks.

#### 5.2.4 Measurement of plant growth and development

The lengths of leaves and petioles of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets as well as spathes and peduncles of greenhouse-grown plants were measured for a period of 40 to 50 days. Measurements were first made (Day 0 of growth) when the petioles or peduncles were about 0.5- to 1.0-cm long. Time taken for the leaves and spathes to be fully expanded was recorded.

#### 5.2.5 Effects of plant growth regulators on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues

Callus cultures were maintained in liquid basal medium (see section 5.2.1) for 6 weeks. These callus tissues were then transferred into liquid basal media supplemented with BA, or 2,4-D of varying concentrations. The cultures were maintained on a rotary shaker at 120 rpm at 25 °C under 16 hours illumination of intensity  $45.9 \pm 1.3 \,\mu\text{E m}^{-2}$  s<sup>-1</sup>. Subculturing was done every 3 weeks. Callus tissues were harvested after culturing in liquid media containing BA or 2,4-D for 6 weeks and flow cytometric analyses were conducted.

#### 5.2.6 Nuclei isolation for flow cytometric analyses

Nuclei were extracted according to section 3.2.2 with some modifications. Tissue samples were chopped with a sterile doubled-sided razor blade in extraction buffer; 0.03 g tissue to 1 ml extraction buffer ratio for spadix, 0.15 g tissue to 1 ml extraction buffer ratio for callus tissues and 0.08 g of tissue to 1 ml of buffer ratio for other sample types.

#### 5.2.7 Flow cytometric analyses

Method described in section 3.2.3 was used for flow cytometric analyses.

#### 5.2.8 Statistical analyses

All percentage data were analysed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test at 95 % confidence level was performed for multiple pair-wise comparisons. Data were arcsine-transformed to meet assumptions of ANOVA (normality and homogeneity of variance) and analysed with Minitab<sup>™</sup> 15.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Effects of auxins on callus induction and shoot regeneration

Callus induction from young leaf lamina explants

All leaf lamina explants from greenhouse-grown plants expanded and became double in size within 2 weeks of culturing on media supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and varying concentrations of 2,4-D, IAA or NAA. Their colour changed from olivebrown to dark green. After culturing in these media for 2 months, calli began to develop at the cut end of some explants (Fig 5.2A). 33.33 % of the leaf lamina explants cultured on auxin-free medium produced callus. 64.86 % and 75 % of the leaf lamina explants cultured on media containing 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D and 5.71  $\mu$ M IAA, respectively were observed to develop callus (Table 5.1). However, no callus was observed in the explants cultured on media supplemented with NAA (Table 5.1). After 3 months of culture, shoot buds were observed from the callus explants cultured on medium containing 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (Fig 5.2B). Regeneration of shoots were observed in the leaf lamina explants after 6 months of culturing in medium supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (Fig 5.2C).

Table 5.1. Effects of auxins (2,4-D, IAA and NAA) on callus induction of young leaf lamina explants from greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants (n = 6 to 25 per replicate). (Duplicates were conducted and results were presented as the means of duplicates).

Concentration of Auxin (µM)		Auxin (µM)	Percentage of Explants with Callus (%) $\pm$ SE
2,4-D	IAA	NAA	
-	-	-	33.33 ± 16.7
2.26	-	-	$64.86 \pm 20.9$
4.52	-	-	$43.75 \pm 6.30$
9.05	-	-	$2.27\pm2.28$
-	2.85	-	$45.83 \pm 12.5$
-	5.71	-	$75.00\pm25.0$
-	11.4	-	$25.00 \pm 8.33$
-	-	2.69	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
-	-	5.37	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
-	-	10.7	$0.00 \pm 0.00$



Fig 5.2. Young leaf lamina explants from greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' cultured on basal medium supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D.

- A: Two-month-old explants with callus, bar: 0.35 cm.
- **B**: Three-month-old explants with shoot buds, arrows indicate shoot buds, bar: 0.4 cm.
- C: Callus explants with regenerated shoots after 6 months of culture, bar: 0.12 cm.

Callus induction with young leaf laminas and petioles of tissue-cultured plantlets

Regenerants from the leaf laminas of greenhouse-grown plants were used for further experiments on callus induction and shoot regeneration. The unopened leaf laminas (proximal and distal sections) and petioles of the regenerants were used.

The lamina explants doubled in size after 2 weeks of culturing in media supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and varying concentrations of 2,4-D. After about 2 months, 86 % of petiole explants cultured on medium containing 1.13  $\mu$ M 2,4-D produced callus (Fig 5.3A). In medium containing 4.52  $\mu$ M 2,4-D, only 45 % of petiole explants was observed to produce callus (Fig 5.3A). In the proximal leaf lamina cultures, increasing concentrations of 2,4-D (0 to 4.52  $\mu$ M) did not result in significant changes to the percentage of explants with callus. The percentage of explants with callus ranged from 23 to 63 % (Fig 5.3B). In the distal leaf lamina cultures, no callus was observed in the explants cultured on 2,4-D-free medium, while callus was observed in 44 % of the explants cultured on medium containing 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (Fig 5.3C).

#### Shoot regeneration

Regeneration of shoots from the callus explants was observed about 3 months after subculturing to medium supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and varying concentrations of 2,4-D (Fig 5.4). The average number of shoots regenerated from callus tissues cultured on medium supplemented with 1.13 and 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (21 and 16 shoots, respectively) were significantly higher, as compared to those cultured on 2,4-D-free medium and medium supplemented with 4.52  $\mu$ M 2,4-D (Fig 5.4).



Fig 5.3. Effect of 2,4-D on callus induction of different types of explant from tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets (n = 5 to 18 per replicate). A: Petiole explants. B: Proximal leaf lamina explants. C: Distal leaf lamina explants. Data were expressed as the mean of triplicates  $\pm$  SE. Different letters on each bar indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.



Fig 5.4. Effect of 2,4-D on shoot regeneration from callus explants cultured in media containing 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2,4-D for 3 months. Data were expressed as the average of 8 to 12 replicates  $\pm$  SE. Different letters on each bar indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

#### 5.3.2 Effects of cytokinins on shoot multiplication of tissue-cultured plantlets

Plantlets cultured in medium containing 11.1  $\mu$ M BA produced an average of 3 shoots after 28 days of culture and was significantly higher than those cultured with media containing other concentrations of BA (Fig 5.5A). About 6 leaves were produced in plantlets cultured in media containing 4.44 to 22.2  $\mu$ M BA (Fig 5.5B). Roots were observed in all the plantlets grown in basal medium and an average of 3 roots per plantlet was produced (Figs 5.5C and 5.6A). In plantlets cultured in medium supplemented with 44.4  $\mu$ M BA, roots were not observed (Figs 5.5C and 5.6E).

Plantlets cultured in medium containing 11.1  $\mu$ M zeatin produced an average of 9 shoots per plantlet and was significantly higher as compared to those cultured with 11.1  $\mu$ M BA, kinetin or 2-iP (Fig 5.7A). The average number of leaves produced per plantlet cultured in medium with 11.1  $\mu$ M zeatin was 21 (Fig 5.7B).



Fig 5.5. Effect of BA on shoot multiplication from tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets cultured in media containing BA for 28 days. A: Average shoots per plantlet. B: Average leaves per plantlet. C: Average roots per plantlet (n = 15). Different letters on each bar indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.



Fig 5.6. Shoots cultured for 28 days in basal medium or media supplemented with BA.

- A: Basal medium, bar: 1.3 cm.
- **B**: Basal medium with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA, bar: 1.4 cm.
- C: Basal medium with 11.1  $\mu$ M BA, bar: 1.0 cm.
- **D**: Basal medium with 22.2  $\mu$ M BA, bar: 1.0 cm.
- **E**: Basal medium with 44.4  $\mu$ M BA, bar: 1.0 cm.



Fig 5.7. Effect of 11.1  $\mu$ M of cytokinin (BA, kinetin, zeatin or 2-iP) on shoot multiplication and leaf production of tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets cultured in media containing cytokinin for 56 days (n = 20). Different letters on each bar indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

.

#### 5.3.3 Growth patterns of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets

The growth patterns of petioles, laminas and peduncles of greenhouse-grown *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants followed a sigmoidal growth curve (Figs 5.8A - C) which consisted of an initial lag phase, followed by an exponential growth phase and lastly a stationary growth phase. The spathes of the plants showed a gradual increase in length (from an average of 1.7 to 4.7 cm) and reached stationary phase after 30 days of growth (Fig 5.8D).

Young leaves opened at around day 14 of growth and average length of their petioles was 6.7 cm (Fig 5.8). The colour of leaf laminas changed from olive-brown to green and eventually dark green when the leaf laminas were fully expanded (Fig 5.1A). The spathes of newly emerged flowers were unopened. The opening of spathes (anthesis) were observed at about 29 days of growth (Fig 5.8D).

The development of petioles and laminas of tissue-cultured plantlets also followed a sigmoidal growth curve (Fig 5.9). However, the lag and exponential growth phases were less distinct. The lag phase of leaf petioles was from day 0 to day 2 of growth. The lag phase of leaf laminas was not distinct. Both leaf petioles and laminas reached stationary growth phase on day 25 of growth. The leaves remained dark green from day 0 to day 40 of growth. The average length of the petioles when leaf laminas opened was 2.6 cm (Fig 5.9).



Fig 5.8. Growth curves of leaf petioles, laminas, peduncles and spathes of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants (n = 25). A: Leaf petiole. B: Leaf lamina. C: Peduncle. D: Spathe. Black arrows: Leaf opened; Blue arrows: Day of anthesis.



Fig 5.9. Growth curves of leaf petioles and laminas of tissue-cultured A. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets (n = 25). A: Leaf petiole. B: Leaf lamina. Black arrows: Leaf opened.

## 5.3.4 Endopolyploidy analyses of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets

In the leaf lamina, petiole and root tissues of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants analysed, only nuclei with 2C and 4C DNA content were detected (Table 5.2). Over 90 % of the nuclei in these tissues contained 2C DNA content. The 4C nuclei in these tissues accounted for a mean frequency of 0.87 to 8.88 % of the total population of nuclei. There was no significant difference in the endopolyploidy patterns of the leaf lamina, petiole and root tissues (Table 5.2).

The floral organs of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants consist of spathes and spadices (see Fig 2.4). From 10 days before to 30 days after anthesis, no significant changes in the endopolyploidy patterns of the floral organs were observed (Table 5.2). The spathes were found to contain over 95 % of 2C nuclei (Table 5.2). Compared to the leaf petiole, lamina and root tissues, no significant difference in the mean frequencies of 2C and 4C nuclei in the spathes was observed (Table 5.2).

The spadices contained nuclei of up to 8C DNA content (Table 5.2). For the spadices at 10 days before and 30 days after anthesis, the mean frequencies of 2C nuclei ranged from 58.24 to 75.16 %, while the mean frequencies of 8C nuclei ranged from 5.25 to 11.71 % (Table 5.2). In addition, the spadices were found to contain less 2C nuclei than that in the leaf petioles and laminas, roots and spathes (Table 5.2).

For tissue-cultured plantlets, only nuclei with 2C and 4C DNA content were detected in the leaf petiole, lamina and root tissues (Table 5.3). Over 85 % of the nuclei in these tissues contained 2C DNA content and the mean frequency of the 4C nuclei ranged from 2.93 to 11.48 % (Table 5.3).

Table 5.2. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Type of Organ	Parts / Floral	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE		
	Stage	2C	4C	8C
Leaf				
Unopened	Tip	$96.10 \pm 2.46^{\mathrm{ac}}$	$3.90 \pm 2.46^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	Base	$97.61 \pm 2.39^{a}$	$2.39 \pm 2.39^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
	π.	$07$ $24$ $0$ $\mathbf{cc}^{\mathbf{a}}$		0.00.000
Fully Expanded	Tip	$97.34 \pm 2.66^{\circ}$	$2.66 \pm 2.66^{\circ}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
	Base	$99.13 \pm 0.87^{\circ}$	$0.8/\pm0.8/^{*}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
Patiala of				
Linopened Leaf	Whole	$94.99 + 2.89^{ac}$	$5.01 + 2.89^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
Chopened Lear	Whole	(-1, -1, -1, -1, -1, -1, -1, -1, -1, -1,	$5.01 \pm 2.07$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$
Fully Expanded Leaf	Whole	$91.12 \pm 5.85^{ac}$	$8.88 \pm 5.85^{a}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
5 1				
Roots				
2-cm	Whole	$94.56\pm2.63^{ac}$	$5.44 \pm 2.63^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$
8-cm	Whole	$95.22 \pm 3.50^{\mathrm{ac}}$	$4.78 \pm 3.50^{a}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
Flower		zo e a zob	a cart carb	z z z z o zah
Spadix	10 Days Before	$58.24 \pm 3.59^{\circ}$	$36.51 \pm 4.29^{\circ}$	$5.25 \pm 1.93^{ab}$
Spathe	Anthesis	$99.11 \pm 0.80^{\circ}$	$0.89 \pm 0.80^{\circ}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$
C	20 D A &	7516 525bc	12.12 1 70ab	11.71 · 5.20b
Spacix	30 Days After	$/5.10 \pm 5.35^{\circ}$	$15.15 \pm 1.78^{\circ}$	$11./1 \pm 5.30^{\circ}$
Spathe	Anthesis	97.91 ± 1.8/*	$2.09 \pm 1.8$ /*	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{-1}$

Table 5.3. Mean proportion of nuclei of various DNA contents (C-values) from different parts of tissue-cultured *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets during development. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Type of Organ	Parts	Mean Proportion of	of Nuclei (%) ± SE
		2C	4C
Leaf			
Unopended	Tip	$91.27 \pm 4.14^{a}$	$8.73 \pm 4.14^{a}$
	Base	$93.85\pm2.09^a$	$6.15\pm2.09^a$
Fully Expanded	Tip	$97.07 \pm 2.93^{a}$	$2.93 \pm 2.93^{a}$
<b>J</b>	Base	$88.52\pm1.20^a$	$11.48 \pm 1.20^{a}$
Petiole of			
Unopened Leaf	Tip	$89.69 \pm 3.69^{a}$	$10.3 \pm 3.69^{a}$
Fully Expanded	Tip	$96.57 \pm 3.43^{a}$	$3.43 \pm 3.43^{a}$
Leal			
Roots			
8-cm	Whole	$93.48 \pm 4.17^{a}$	$6.52 \pm 4.17^{a}$

#### 5.3.5 Effects of BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues

Callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' were cultured in media containing different concentrations of BA or 2,4-D for 6 weeks. In the callus tissues cultured in media containing BA for 6 weeks, over 90 % of the nuclei in these callus tissues contained 2C DNA content, while the rest were 4C nuclei (Table 5.4). No significant difference was observed in the ploidy variations in the callus tissues cultured in basal medium and media containing different concentrations of BA (Table 5.4).

Similar results were obtained in callus tissues cultured in media containing 2,4-D. Only nuclei with 2C (over 90 %) and 4C (less than 10 %) DNA content were detected (Table 5.5). Table 5.4. Effect of BA on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the callus tissues of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' after 6 weeks of culturing in media containing BA, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Concentration of BA (µM)	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) ± SE		
	2C	4C	
0.0	$93.54 \pm 3.44^{a}$	$6.46 \pm 3.44^{a}$	
4.44	$95.76 \pm 2.13^{a}$	$4.24\pm2.13^a$	
11.1	$95.79 \pm 2.14^{a}$	$4.21\pm2.14^a$	
22.2	$96.14 \pm 2.01^{a}$	$3.86\pm2.01^a$	
44.4	$97.14 \pm 2.86^{a}$	$2.86 \pm 2.86^{a}$	

Table 5.5. Effect of 2,4-D on the pattern of endopolyploidy in the callus tissues of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' after 6 weeks of culturing in media containing 2,4-D, based on flow cytometric analyses of 10 000 nuclei per replicate. Different letters following the standard error within the same column indicate significant difference based on Tukey's test at 95 % confidence interval.

Concentration of 2,4-D (µM)	Mean Proportion of Nuclei (%) $\pm$ SE		
	2C	4C	
0.0	$92.76 \pm 3.67^{a}$	$7.27 \pm 3.67^{a}$	
1.13	$99.11 \pm 2.66^{a}$	$0.89 \pm 2.66^{a}$	
2.26	$91.30\pm1.21^{a}$	$8.70 \pm 1.21^{a}$	
4.52	$98.21 \pm 1.44^{a}$	$1.79\pm1.44^a$	
9.05	$96.83 \pm 1.51^{a}$	$3.17\pm1.51^{\rm a}$	

#### 5.4 Discussion

#### 5.4.1 Tissue culture

Effects of auxins on callus induction

Induction of callus or somatic embryos often involved combinations of varying concentrations of auxins and cytokinins. For instance in *Citrus mitis* cotyledon explants, medium containing auxin promoted callus and root formation, while high concentration of BA and low concentration of auxin resulted in shoot production (Sim et al. 1989). In the present study, concentration of BA in the medium was kept constant, while the concentration and the type of auxin varied. Here, using 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D or 5.71  $\mu$ M IAA in culture media was optimal in inducing callus in leaf laminas of greenhouse-grown *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' (Table 5.1). However, using supra-optimal concentrations of 2,4-D or IAA inhibited callus induction. This is consistent with Kuehnle et al. (1992) who reported inhibition of embryogenic callus in the leaf lamina explants of other *A. andraeanum* cultivars (UH780, UH965 and UH1060) cultured in media supplemented with 2,4-D higher than 18.1  $\mu$ M.

NAA was found to be ineffective in callus induction of leaf lamina explants in *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' (Table 5.1), although it has been reported to enhance callus formation in *A. andraeanum* cv 'Tinora Red' and 'Senator' (Martin et al. 2003). Such differences in response could be due to genetic variations between cultivars or differences in levels of endogenous auxin and cytokinin already present in the explants. This has been demonstrated in *Pennisetum Purpureum* where the embryogenic potential in leaf explants was found to be positively correlated with endogenous plant growth regulators such as IAA and abscisic acid (Rajasekaran et al. 1987). As a result of variations among *A. andraeanum* cultivars, various media have to be formulated for callus induction in leaf lamina explants of different cultivars (Pierik et al. 1974, Kuehnle and Sugii 1991, Kuehnle et al. 1992, Teng 1997).

Effect of explant source on callus formation

2,4-D (2.26 µM) was found to be effective in callus induction for different types of explant obtained from the tissue-cultured plantlets (Fig 5.3). Explants from the distal end of leaf lamina were found to be least responsive to low concentration of 2,4-D (0 to 1.13  $\mu$ M). The petiole and the proximal end of leaf lamina were found to be the better sources of explants for callus induction (Fig 5.3). This is consistent with Martin et al. (2003) who reported that explants from the proximal end of leaf lamina of A. andraeanum cv 'Tinora Red' and 'Senator' plants having higher callus induction and shoot regeneration potential than explants from the distal end. In Sorghum bicolor, callus was not observed in explants from mature, expanded leaf segments (Wernickle and Brettell 1980). The difference in the regeneration potential of the proximal and distal sections of leaf lamina explants of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' plantlets could be due to differences in maturity of these parts as leaves reached maturity in a basipetal manner where distal end of the leaves matured first (Welander 1988). Another possible reason could be due to the difference in the concentration of endogenous plant growth regulators. This has been demonstrated in the leaf cultures of *P. purpureum* where high levels of endogenous IAA and abscisic acid were present at the proximal end of the leaves as compared to other regions and were positively correlated with their competence to form embryogenic callus (Rajasekaran et al. 1987).

Shoot regeneration from callus tissues

Organogenesis of callus culture involves shoot and root induction phases (Dunstan and Thorpe 1986). Auxin and cytokinin play important roles in plant morphogenesis and have great influence on the formation of roots and shoots (Dunstan and Thorpe 1986). The control of shoot and root formation in callus culture by varying the auxin to cytokinin ratio has been shown in *Medicago sativa* (Walker et al. 1979). In general, a low auxin-to-cytokinin ratio in the culture medium would induce shoot formation, while the reverse would promote root formation (Dunstan and Thorpe 1986). However, in leaf callus explants of *Brachycome dichromosomatica*, increasing auxinto-cytokinin ratio in the culture medium initiated shoot formation (Gould 1979).

In the present study, callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' cultured on medium supplemented with 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 1.13  $\mu$ M 2,4-D produced the highest number of shoots (21 shoots per callus explant) (Fig 5.4). This result demonstrated that shoot formation from callus explants was favoured in medium containing low auxin and high cytokinin concentration in the ratio of 1:4. In media containing 2,4-D of concentration higher than 1.13  $\mu$ M, a decrease in the average number of shoots produced per callus explants was observed (Fig 5.4). This is consistent with Goh et al. (1994) who reported that high auxin levels in the culture medium inhibited the organogenetic process in mangosteen leaf cultures. This suggests that high concentration of auxin in the culture medium has inhibitory effect on shoot formation.

#### Shoot multiplication with cytokinin

Cytokinin alone in culture medium has been reported to induce shoot multiplication in plants such as *Houttuynia cordata* (Chakraborti et al. 2006), *Tinospora cordifolia* 

(Raghu et al. 2006) and *Helianthus annuus* (Shin et al. 2000). Cytokinin such as BA was also reported to encourage shoot multiplication in some *A. andraeanum* cultivars (Martin et al. 2003). In the current study, the presence of cytokinin in the culture medium was found to induce shoot multiplication in *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets (Fig 5.5A). The optimum BA concentration for shoot multiplication of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets was 11.1  $\mu$ M. Furthermore, zeatin at 11.1  $\mu$ M was the most effective cytokinin for shoot multiplication (Fig 5.7). The optimum cytokinin concentration for shoot multiplication of other anthurium cultivars, 'Tinora Red' and 'Senator', was 0.44  $\mu$ M BA (Martin et al. 2003). In other plant, *H. cordata*, the optimum BA concentration for shoot multiplication was 8.87  $\mu$ M (Chakraborti et al. 2006). These findings imply that the optimum concentration of cytokinin for shoot multiplication of multiplication of cytokinin for shoot multiplication of multiplication of cytokinin for shoot multiplication was 8.87  $\mu$ M (Chakraborti et al. 2006). These findings imply that the optimum concentration of cytokinin for shoot multiplication could be genotype dependent.

In *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', the presence of supra-optimal concentrations of BA (higher than 11.1  $\mu$ M) in the culture medium decreased the average number of shoots produced per plantlet (Fig 5.5A). This is consistent with Martin et al. (2003) who reported the inhibition of shoot production in the plantlets of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Tinora Red' and 'Senator' cultured in media containing BA higher than 0.44  $\mu$ M. In *H. cordata*, the number of shoots produced per plantlet was also reduced when cultured in media containing BA higher than 8.87  $\mu$ M (Chakraborti et al. 2006).

In addition, it was observed that root production of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plantlets was significantly reduced with increasing concentrations of BA in the culture medium (Fig 5.5C). BA may possibly have inhibitory effect on root formation. Indeed, several studies using transgenic *Arabidopsis* and tobacco showed that severe root inhibition occurred in transgenic plantlets with high endogenous cytokinin (Li et al.

1992, Hewelt et al. 1994, Guo and Hu 2008). Inhibition of lateral root initiation was also reported in rice germinated in cytokinin (kinetin or zeatin) solution (Debi et al. 2005).

#### 5.4.2 Growth patterns of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets

The growth patterns of leaves and flowers of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' were investigated to determine the growth stages of the leaves and flowers to be used for flow cytometry analysis. The leaf petioles, laminas and flower peduncles of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' exhibited an initial slow growth phase and an elongation phase, which was followed by a stationary phase where the organs matured and growth ceased (Figs 5.8A - C). However, the spathes of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' did not exhibit similar growth pattern (Fig 5.8D). The development of the spathes of anthuriums began before the emergence of flowers from the leaf sheaths and was characterised by a double sigmoidal growth curve (Dai and Paull 1990). Hence, the spathes of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' analysed could be at the second exponential growth phase when they emerged from the leaf sheaths.

In both greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', the leaf laminas opened when the petioles reached stationary growth phase (Figs 5.8A and 5.9A). Similar finding was described in *A. andraeanum* Andre cv 'Kaumana' (Dai and Paull 1990). The young olive-brown leaves of *A. andraeanum* Andre cv 'Kaumana' were also reported to have net negative rate of photosynthesis, while mature fully expanded leaf (dark green) had the highest net positive rate of photosynthesis (Dai and Paull 1990). This suggests that the opening of leaves when maximum growth of petioles were reached could be an adaptation of the plant to

ensure that the leaves would receive maximum light once they were fully opened and their photosynthesis systems became fully developed.

### 5.4.3 Endopolyploidy in the tissues of greenhouse-grown plants and tissuecultured plantlets

Endoreduplication was reported to be common in the reproductive organs of angiosperms (D'Amato 1984) and specific cell types or tissue (Nagl 1976, Galbraith et al. 1991, Carvalheira 2000). In the present study, multiploid cells were detected in the floral organ (spadix) of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' plants (Table 5.2). In the flowers of cabbage (Kudo and Kimura 2001b), Portulaca (Mishiba and Mii 2000) and D. Chao Praya Smile (section 3.3.5), multiploid cells were also detected. The presence of multiploid cells in the reproductive tissues was suggested to be advantageous for their specialised function (Kudo and Kimura 2001b) as observed in the endosperm of maize kernels (Kowles et al. 1990) and suspensor cells of Phaseolus (Brodsky and Uryvaeva 1977). It was proposed that endoreduplication was required to increase transcriptional and metabolic activities that were essential for the function of specific cell types (D'Amato 1984). For instance, in the parenchyma cell of cotyledons of P. sativum, increased in polyploidy coincided with rapid increase in RNA and protein synthesis (Scharpe and Van Parijs 1973). In the development of maize endosperm, the extent of endoreduplication in the endosperm was positively correlated with the increase in storage proteins (zein) and starch (Lur and Setter 1993). Therefore, the higher ploidy level in the spadices of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' may be required for their function as a reproductive organ.

On the other hand, endopolyploidy was not observed in most of the tissues of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'. Leaf lamina, petiole and root tissues of both greenhouse-
grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets consisted of majority 2C nuclei and some 4C nuclei (Tables 5.2 and 5.3). The low percentage of 4C nuclei (0.87 to 11.48 %) (Tables 5.2 and 5.3) could be due to some of the 2C nuclei that have entered or are arrested at the G2 phase of cell cycle. At the G2 phase of cell cycle, the amount of DNA in the nuclei will double (4C) (Doonan 2005).

The occurrence of minimal ploidy variations in the leaf lamina, petiole, root and spathe tissues was not unique to *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'. Endopolyploidy was also not observed in some members of the Aroid family (*Philodendron andreanum*, *Monstera deliciosa, Scindapsus aureus* (Olszewska and Osiecka 1982) and *A. scherzerianum* (Geier 1988)). In other plant such as *Helianthus*, polyploid cells were not found in the roots, cotyledons, stems, leaves, sepals, petals, pistils and stamens (Evans and Van't Hof 1975). These observations suggest that endopolyploidy is not an essential requirement for cell differention in all plants.

## 5.4.4 Effects of BA and 2,4-D on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues

Callus tissues are useful for genetic transformation, protoplast isolation and fusion (Ault and Siqueira 2008). For genetic transformation and micro-propagation, plants regenerated from the callus cultures have to be genetically stable. However, organogenesis from callus cultures holds the potential risk of somaclonal variation (Larkin and Scowcroft 1981). One of the possible factors affecting somaclonal variation is the occurrence of polyploid cells in the cultures (Gould 1986). Polyploid and aneuploid cells often occurred in callus and suspension cell cultures (Swedlund and Vasil 1985). The extent of polyploidy in callus and suspension cell cultures could be affected by the age of culture (Swedlund and Vasil 1985). In the *Pennisetum americanum*, 96 % of the cells in the calli induced with MS medium supplemented

with 11.3  $\mu$ M 2,4-D was diploid. However, after 6 months of culturing in the same medium, the percentage of polyploid and aneuploid cells in the callus cultures increased (Swedlund and Vasil 1985).

Another factor affecting the occurrence of polyploid cells in cultures is the use of plant growth regulators in culture medium (Gould 1986). For instance, in the suspension cell cultures of the orchid *Doritaenopsis*, culture medium containing BA or thidiazuron reduced endoreduplication in the cells (Mishiba et al. 2001), while in culture medium supplemented with 2,4-D or picloram, an increase in endoreduplication in the cells was resulted (Mishiba et al. 2001).

In contrast, the addition of BA or 2,4-D to the culture medium has no effect on endopolyploidy in the callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' (Tables 5.4 and 5.5). Moreover, polyploid cells were not observed in the callus tissue cultured in plantgrown-regulator-free medium for 6 weeks (Tables 5.4 and 5.5). These results indicated that the callus tissues of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' were genetically stable. This is not unique to *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'. For instance, in alfalfa, callus cultures induced using high concentration of 2,4-D were also found to be karyologically stable (Binarova and Dolezel 1988).

As aforementioned, nuclear stability was observed in the leaves and petioles of tissuecultured plantlets of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' (section 5.4.3), which were the explant sources for callus induction. Therefore, the nuclear stability observed in the callus tissues could be attributed to the genetic stability in the explant source. In addition, callus cultures induced using medium containing 4.44  $\mu$ M BA and 2.26  $\mu$ M 2,4-D was observed to be genetically stable. This genetic stability suggests that callus cultures of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' could be used for micro-propagation, genetic transformation and protoplast isolation and fusion with minimal risk of somaclonal variation.

## Chapter 6 Concluding remarks

Two horticulturally important plants, an orchid hybrid (*D*. Chao Praya Smile) and an anthurium hybrid (*A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'), were used in this study. *D*. Chao Praya Smile showed high degree of endopolyploidy in the tissues, while *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' was relatively stable. The maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of greenhouse-grown and aseptically-grown *D*. Chao Praya Smile plants and *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants are summarised in Figs 6.1 - 6.3.





- A: Plants during vegetative growth phase.
- **B**: Plants flowered for the first time.



7-Month-Old Seedlings with Unopened 1st Leaf

10-Month-Old Seedlings with 5 Fully Expanded Leaves



Fig 6.2. Maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of aseptically-grown

- D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings.
- A: Seven-month-old seedlings with unopened 1<sup>st</sup> leaf.
- B: Ten-month-old seedlings with five fully expanded leaves.
- **C:** Seedlings during bolting.



Fig 6.3. Maximal C-values found in the nuclei of different parts of greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets of *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot'.

- A: Greenhouse-grown plants.
- **B**: Tissue-cultured plantlets.

Multiploid cells were found in majority of the tissues with varying patterns in both greenhouse-grown plants and aseptically-grown seedlings of D. Chao Praya Smile (Figs 6.1 and 6.2). This indicates the presence of systemic control of endopolyploidy in D. Chao Praya Smile plants. Endoreduplication in the protocorms, leaves and roots were found to be developmentally regulated. These findings are in line with the observations in V. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003) and S. plicata (Yang and Loh 2004). This current study also showed that the fully expanded leaves of greenhousegrown plants exhibited higher ploidy variation than that of aseptically-grown seedlings of D. Chao Praya Smile. The roots of aseptically-grown D. Chao Praya Smile seedlings were found to exhibit higher ploidy level as compared to that from the greenhouse-grown plants (Figs 6.1A and 6.2B). These results imply that the endoreduplication process in D. Chao Praya Smile is affected by tissue-culture conditions such as light and the presence of plant growth regulators. The addition of plant growth regulators such as BA, 2,4-D, GA<sub>3</sub>, TIBA or PAC to the culture medium was found to affect endopolyploidy in the protocorm cultures of D. Chao Praya Smile. These suggest that the use of these plant growth regulators during micro-propagation of *Dendrobium* could possibly affect endoreduplication in the cells during tissue culture. This in turn may affect the degree of somaclonal variation exhibited among the regenerants.

In both *D*. Chao Praya Smile and *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', endopolyploidy was detected in the reproductive tissues and was found not to be developmentally regulated. In *D*. Chao Praya Smile, nuclei of up to 16C DNA content were detected in the column of flowers (Figs 6.1A and 6.2B). In *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', nuclei of up to 8C DNA content were found in the spadices (Fig 6.3A). The presence of

multiploid cells in the reproductive tissues was suggested to be advantageous for their specialised function (Kudo and Kimura 2001b). D'Amato (1984) also proposed that endoreduplication was required to increase transcriptional and metabolic activities that were essential for the function of specific cell types. In the development of maize endosperm, the extent of endoreduplication in the endosperm was positively correlated with the increase in storage proteins (zein) and starch (Lur and Setter 1993). In *P. sativum*, increased in polyploidy in the parenchyma cell of cotyledons coincided with rapid increase in RNA and protein synthesis (Scharpe and Van Parijs 1973). Therefore, the higher degree of endopolyploidy in the reproductive tissues of *D*. Chao Praya Smile and *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' could possibly serve to increase their RNA and protein synthesis for their function as reproductive organs.

Unlike *D*. Chao Praya Smile, the nuclei in the tissues of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' plants were found to be relatively stable and had minimum ploidy variations. In both greenhouse-grown plants and tissue-cultured plantlets of *A*. *andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', endoreduplication was not observed in the tissues of leaves, petioles, roots and spathes. The maximal C-value detected in these tissues were 4C (Fig 6.3). Endopolyploidy was also not observed in the callus tissues. Addition of 2,4-D or BA to the culture medium did not affect endopolyploidy variation in the callus tissues.

In previous studies, endoreduplication was not observed in some members of the Aroid family, namely *Philodendron andreanum*, *Monstera deliciosa*, *Scindapsus aureus* (Olszewska and Osiecka 1982) and *A. scherzerianum* (Geier 1988). In the present study, *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot', which is an Aroid, also exhibited minimal ploidy variations. In contrast, endoreduplication is common in the Orchidaceae family and was observed in orchids such as *V. sanderiana* (Alvarez 1968), *Doritaenopsis* 

(Mishiba et al. 2001), *Cymbidium* (Fukai et al. 2002), *V*. Miss Joaquim (Lim and Loh 2003), *S. plicata* (Yang and Loh 2004) and *D*. Chao Praya Smile (sections 3.3 and 3.4). These results suggest that the occurrence of endopolyploidy is not ubiquitous among plant families.

The findings on endopolyploidy in this study have provided a better insight on the relation between endopolyploidy and somaclonal variation. Somaclonal variation is common in micro-propagated plants (Lee and Phillips 1988). The degree of endoreduplication in the original explants has been suggested to affect the extent of somaclonal variation in cultures (Evans 1989). In cucumber, the occurrence of multiploid cells was found to be common in the leaves (Gilissen et al. 1993) and the degree of somaclonal variation was reported to be related to the type of explants used (Plader et al. 1998, Ladyzynski et al. 2002). This implies that the degree of ploidy variation in the initial explants might affect the extent of somaclonal variation in the regenerants. For instance, in tomato, the existence of multiploid cells in the original explants was found to be positively correlated with the frequency of variants observed in the regenerants (Van den Bulk et al. 1990). In the current study, multiploid cells were not detected in the initial explant sources (young leaf petioles and laminas), callus tissues and the regenerants (sections 5.4.3 and 5.4.4) of A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot'. The absence of multiploid cells in the initial explant sources could possibly result in the nuclei stability of the regenerants. However, the results from the present study on A. andraeanum cv 'Red Hot' were insufficient to suggest that pre-existing genetic differences in somatic cells of the initial explants used was a possible cause of somaclonal variation during micro-propagation as hypothesised by Evans (1989).

Further investigations to validate this speculation in *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' are required.

In orchids, there is also little direct evidence to correlate such variations in the regenerants with variations in the karyotype of the parental cells. This study has provided some insight in the cellular ploidy levels in different plant parts of *D*. Chao Praya Smile and *A. andraeanum* cv 'Red Hot' and enhanced the understanding on the nature of the various explants used for micro-propagation. Knowledge obtained from this study would facilitate future work on elucidating the relationship between somaclonal variation and endopolyploidy in these two plants.

## Chapter 7 References

Albani D, Mariconti L, Ricagno S, Pitto L, Moroni C, Helin K, Cella R (2000) DcE2F, a functional plant E2F-like transcriptional activator from *Daucus carota*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275:19258-19267

Alvarez MR (1968) Quantitative changes in nuclear DNA accompanying postgermination embryonic development in *Vanda* (Orchidaceae). American Journal of Botany 55:1036-1041

Alvarez MR (1969) Cytophotometric study of nuclear proteins and nucleic acids in parenchymatous tissue of the orchid embryo. Experimental Cell Research 57:179-184

Alvarez MR (1970) Microfluorometric comparison of Feulgen-deoxyribonucleic acid hydrolysis in meristematic and differentiated cells of the orchid embryo. Experimental Cell Research 61:191-198

Anova MI, Rost TL (1998) Cytokinins and the plant cell cycle: Problems and pitfalls of proving their function, pp 45-58. In: Plant Cell Proliferation and its Regulation in Growth and Development, Bryant JA and Chiatante D (eds). John Wiley and Sons, New York

Arditti J (1992) Fundamentals of Orchid Biology. John Wiley and Sons, New York

Arditti J (2008) Micropropagation of Orchids Vol 1. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford

Artlip TS, Madison JT, Setter TL (1995) Water deficit in developing endosperm of maize: Cell division and nuclear DNA endoreduplication. Plant, Cell and Environment 18:1034-1040

Arumuganathan K, Earle ED (1991) Estimation of nuclear DNA content of plants by flow cytometry. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 9:229-241

Ault JR, Siqueira SS (2008) Morphogenetic response of *Lilium michiganense* to four auxin-type plant growth regulators *in vitro*. HortScience 43:1922-1924

Barlow PW (1975) The polytene nucleus of the giant hair cell of *Bryonia* anthers. Protoplasma 83:339-349

Barow M (2006) Endopolyploidy in seed plants. BioEssays 28:271-281

Bebeli P, Karp A, Kaltsikes PJ (1988) Plant regeneration and somaclonal variation from cultured immature embryos sister lines of rye and triticale differing in their content of heterochromatin I. morphogenetic response. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 75:929-936

Beemster GTS, De Vusser K, De Tavernier E, De Bock K, Inze D (2002) Variation in growth rate between *Arabidopsis* ecotypes is correlated with cell division and A-type cyclin-dependent kinase activity. Plant Physiology 129:854-864

Bergounioux C, Brown SC (1990) Plant cell cycle analysis with isolated nuclei, pp 563-573. In: Methods in Cell Biology Vol 33, Flow Cytometry, Darzynkiewicz Z and Crissman HA (eds). Academic Press Inc, USA

Berta G, Fusconi A, Sampo S, Lingua G, Perticone S, Repetto O (2000) Polyploidy in tomato roots as affected by *Arbuscular mycorrhizal* colonization. Plant and Soil 226:37-44

Besse I, Verdeil JL, Duval Y, Sotta B, Maldiney R, Miginiac E (1992) Oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) clonal fidelity: Endogenous cytokinins and indoleacetic acid in embryogenic callus cultures. Journal of Experimental Botany 43:983-989

Binarova P, Dolezel J (1988) Alfalfa embryogenic cell-suspension culture – Growth and ploidy level stability. Journal of Plant Physiology 133:561-566

Bino RJ, Devries JN, Kraak HL, Van Pijlen JG (1992) Flow cytometric determination of nuclear replication stages in tomato seeds during priming and germination. Annals of Botany 69:231-236

Biradar DP, Rayburn AL (1993) Intraplant nuclear DNA content variation in diploid nuclei of maize (*Zea mays* L.). Journal of Experimental Botany 44:1039-1044

Borchert T, Fuchs J, Winkelmann T, Hohe A (2007) Variable DNA content of *Cyclamen persicum* regenerated via somatic embryogenesis: Rethinking the concept of long-term callus and suspension cultures. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 90:255-263

Boudolf V, Vlieghe K, Beemster GTS, Magyar Z, Acosta JAT, Maes S, Van Der Schueren E, Inze D, De Veylder L (2004) The plant-specific cyclin-dependent kinase CDKB1;1 and transcription factor E2Fa-DPa control the balance of mitotically dividing and endoreduplicating cells in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 16:2683-2692

Bradley MV, Crane JC (1955) The effect of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid on cell and nuclear size and endopolyploidy in parenchyma of apricot fruits. American Journal of Botany 42:273-281

Brar DS, Jain SM (1998) Somaclonal variation: Mechanism and applications in crop improvement, pp 15-38. In: Somaclonal Variation and Induced Mutations in Crop Improvement, Jain SM, Brar DS and Ahloowalia BS (eds). Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston

Brettell RIS, Thomas E, Ingram DS (1980) Reversion of Texas male-sterile cytoplasm maize in culture to give fertile, T-toxin resistant plants. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 58:55-58

Brodsky WY, Uryvaeva IV (1977) Cell polyploidy: Its relation to tissue growth and function. International Review of Cytology 50:275-332

Brooker RJ (1999) Genetics: Analysis and principles. Addison-Wesley, California

Callebaut A, Van Oostveldt P, Van Parijs R (1982) Endomitosis and the effect of gibberellic acid in different *Pisum sativum* L. cultivars. Planta 156:553-559

Carlsward BS, Stern WL, Judd WS, Lucansky TW (1997) Comparative leaf anatomy and systematic in *Dendrobium*, sections *Aporum* and *Rhizobium* (Orchidaceae). International Journal of Plant Sciences 158:332-342

Carter NP, Ormerod MG (2000) Introduction to the principles of flow cytometry, pp 1-22. In: Flow Cytometry: A Practical Approach, Ormerod MG (ed). Oxford University Press, New York

Carvalheira GMG (2000) Plant polytene chromosomes. Genetics and Molecular Biology 23:1043-1050

Castellano MM, Boniotti MB, Caro E, Schnittger A, Gutierrez C (2004) DNA replication licensing affects cell proliferation or endoreduplication in a cell type-specific manner. Plant Cell 16:2380-2393

Castellano MM, Del Pozo JC, Ramirez-Parra E, Brown S, Gutierrez C (2001) Expression and stability of *Arabidopsis* CDC6 are associated with endoreduplication. Plant Cell 13:2671-2686

Cavallini A, Baroncelli S, Lercari B, Cionini G, Rocca M, D'Amato F (1995) Effect of light and gibberellic acid on chromosome endoreduplication in leaf epidermis of *Triticum durum* Desf. Protoplasma 186:57-62

Cavallini A, Natali L, Cionini G, Balconi C, D'Amato F (1997) Inheritance of nuclear DNA content in leaf epidermal cells of *Zea mays* L. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 94:782-787

Cebolla A, Vinardell JM, Kiss E, Olaih B, Roudier F, Kondorosi A, Kondorosi E (1999) The mitotic inhibitor ccs52 is required for endoreduplication and ploidydependent cell enlargement in plants. The EMBO Journal 18:4476-4484

Ceccarelli M, Santantonio E, Marmottini F, Amzallag GN, Cionini PG (2006) Chromosome endoreduplication as a factor of salt adaptation in *Sorghum bicolor*. Protoplasma 227:113-118

Chakraborti S, Sinha S, Sinha RK (2006) High frequency induction of multiple shoots and clonal propagation from rhizomatous nodal segments of *Houttuynia cordata* Thunb. – An ethnomedicinal herb of India. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 42:394-398

Chen JT, Chang WC (2005) TIBA affects the induction of direct somatic embryogenesis from leaf explants of *Oncidium*. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 79:315-320

Chen FC, Kuehnle AR, Sugii N (1997) Anthurium roots for micropropagation and Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated gene transfer. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 49:71-74

Chen FC, Yu JY, Chen PY, Huang YW (2008) Somaclonal variation in orchids and the application of biotechnology. Acta Horticulturae 766:315-321

Churchman ML, Brown ML, Kato N, Kirik V, Hulskamp M, Inze D, De Veylder L, Walker JD, Zheng Z, Oppenheimer DG, Gwin T, Churchman J, Larkin JC (2006) SIAMESE, a plant-specific cell cycle regulator, controls endoreplication onset in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Cell 18:3145-3157

Coffman JA (2004) Cell cycle development. Developmental Cell 6:321-327

Coles JP, Phillips AL, Croker SJ, Garcia-Lepe R, Lewis MJ, Hedden P (1998) Modification of gibberellin production and plant development in *Arabidopsis* by sense and antisense expression of gibberellin 20-oxidase genes. Plant Journal 17:547-556

Dai J, Paull RE (1990) The role of leaf development on *Anthurium* flower growth. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 115:901-905

D'Amato F (1964) Endopolyploidy as a factor in plant tissue development. Caryologia 17:41-52

D'Amato F (1977) Cytogenetics of differentiation in tissue and cell cultures, pp 343-357. In: Applied and Fundamental Aspects of Plant Cell, Tissue, and Organ Culture, Reinert J and Bajaj YPS (eds). Springer-Verlag, New York

D'Amato F (1984) Role of polyploidy in reproductive organs and tissues, pp 519-566. In: Embryology of Angiosperms, Johri BM (ed). Springer-Verlag, New York

Dan H, Imaseki H, Wasteneys GO, Kazama H (2003) Ethylene stimulates endoreduplication but inhibits cytokinesis in cucumber hypocotyl epidermis. Plant Physiology 133:1726-1731

Day SJ, Lawrence PA (2000) Measuring dimensions: The regulation of size and shape. Development 127:2977-2987

Debi BR, Taketa S, Ichii M (2005) Cytokinin inhibits lateral root initiation but stimulates lateral root elongation in rice (*Oryza sativa*). Journal of Plant Physiology 162:507-515

De Jager SM, Maughan S, Dewitte W, Scofield S, Murray JAH (2005) The developmental context of cell-cycle control in plants. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 16:385-396

De Jager SM, Menges M, Bauer UM, Murray JAH (2001) *Arabidopsis* E2F1 binds a sequence present in the promoter of S-phase regulated gene AtCDC6 and is a member of a multigene family with differential activities. Plant Molecular Biology 47:555-568

De La Pena TC, Brown S (2001) Flow cytometry, pp 85-106. In: Plant Cell Biology, Hawes C and Satiat-Jeunemaitre B (eds). Oxford University Press, New York

Del Pozo JC, Diaz-Trivino S, Cisneros N, Gutierrez C (2006) The balance between cell division and endoreplication depends on E2FC-DPB, transcription factors regulated by the ubiquitin-SCF<sup>SKP2A</sup> pathway in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 18:2224-2235

Dennis ES, Brettell RIS, Peacock WJ (1987) A tissue culture induced *Adh1* null mutant of maize results from a single base change. Molecular and General Genetics 210:181-183

Desgagne-Penix I, Sponsel VM (2008) Expression of gibberellin 20-oxidase1 (AtGA20ox1) in *Arabidopsis* seedlings with altered auxin status is regulated at multiple levels. Journal of Experimental Botany 59:2057-2070

De Rocher EJ, Harkins KR, Galbraith DW, Bohnert HJ (1990) Developmentally regulated systemic endopolyploidy in succulents with small genomes. Science 250:99-101

De Veylder L, Beeckman T, Beemster GTS, Engler JDA, Ormenese S, Maes S, Naudts M, Van Der Schueren E, Jacqmard A, Engler G, Inze D (2002) Control of proliferation, endoreduplication and differentiation by the *Arabidopsis* E2Fa–DPa transcription factor. The EMBO Journal 21:1360-1368

De Veylder L, Beeckman T, Beemster GTS, Krols L, Terras F, Landrieu I, Van Der Schueren E, Maes S, Naudts M, Inze D (2001) Functional analysis of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors of *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 13:1653-1668

Dewitte W, Murray JAH (2003) The plant cell cycle. Annual Review of Plant Biology 54:235-264

Dewitte W, Riou-Khamlichi C, Scofield S, Healy JMS, Jacqmard A, Kilby NJ, Murray JAH (2003) Altered cell cycle distribution, hyperplasia, and inhibited differentiation in *Arabidopsis* caused by the D-type cyclin CYCD3. Plant Cell 15:79-92

Dewitte W, Scofield S, Alcasabas AA, Maughan SC, Menges M, Braun N, Collins C, Nieuwland J, Prinsen E, Sundaresan V, Murray JAH (2007) *Arabidopsis* CYCD3 D-type cyclins link cell proliferation and endocycles and are rate-limiting for cytokinin responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 104:14537-14542

Dhillon SS, Miksche JP (1982) DNA content and heterochromatin variations in various tissues of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*). American Journal of Botany 69:219-226

Dhonukshe P, Grigoriev I, Fischer R, Tominaga M, Robinson DG, Hasek J, Paciorek T, Petrasek J, Seifertova D, Tejos R, Meisel LA, Zazimalova E, Gadella Jr TWJ, Stierhof YD, Ueda T, Oiwa K, Akhmanova A, Brock R, Spang A, Friml J (2008) Auxin transport inhibitors impair vesicle motility and actin cytoskeleton dynamics in diverse eukaryotes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 105:4489-4494

Dolezel J (1991) Flow cytometric analysis of nuclear DNA content in higher plants. Phytochemical Analysis 2:143-154

Dolezel J, Bartos J (2005) Plant DNA flow cytometry and estimation of nuclear genome size. Annals of Botany 95:99-110

Dolezel J, Lucretti S, Schubert I (1994) Plant chromosome analysis and sorting by flow cytometry. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 13:275-309

Doonan JH (2005) The plant cell cycle: An overview, pp 31-50. In: Cell Cycle Control: Mechanisms and Protocols, Humphrey T and Brooks G (eds). Humana Press, New Jersey

Dosier LW, Riopel JL (1978) Origin, development and growth of differentiating trichoblasts in *Elodea canadensis*. American Journal of Botany 65:813-822

Dufour L, Guerin V (2003) Growth, developmental features and flower production of *Anthurium andraeanum* Lind. in tropical conditions. Scientia Horticulturae 98:25-35

Dunstan DI, Thorpe TA (1986) Regeneration in forest trees, pp 223-241. In: Cell Culture and Somatic Cell Genetics of Plants Vol 3, Vasil IK (ed). Academic Press, London

Edgar BA, Orr-Weaver TL (2001) Endoreplication cell cycles: More for less. Cell 105:297-306

Endemann M, Hristoforoglu K, Stauber T, Wilhelm E (2001) Assessment of agerelated polyploidy in *Quercus robur* L. somatic embryos and regenerated plants using DNA flow cytometry. Biologia Plantarum 44:339-345

Engelen-Eigles G, Jones RJ, Phillips RL (2000) DNA endoreduplication in maize endosperm cells: The effect of exposure to short-term high temperature. Plant, Cell and Environment 23:657-663

Evans DA (1989) Somaclonal variation - Genetic basis and breeding applications. Trends in Genetics 5:46-50

Evans LS, Van't Hof J (1975) Is polyploidy necessary for tissue differentiation in higher plants? American Journal of Botany 62:1060-1064

Evans MMS, Poethig RS (1995) Gibberellins promote vegetative phase change and reproductive maturity in maize. Plant Physiology 108:475-487

Ezura H, Oosawa K (1994) Ploidy of somatic embryos and the ability to regenerate plantlets in melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). Plant Cell Reports 14:107-111

Fadelah AA (2006) Breeding for tropical miniature pot *Dendrobium* orchids. Acta Horticulturae 714:51-57

Ferreira WD, Kerbauy GB, Costa APP (2006a) Micropropagation and genetic stability of a *Dendrobium* hybrid (Orchidaceae). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 42:568-571

Ferreira WD, Kerbauy GB, Kraus JE, Pescador R, Suzuki RM (2006b) Thidiazuron influences the endogenous levels of cytokinins and IAA during the flowering of isolated shoots of *Dendrobium*. Journal of Plant Physiology 163:1126-1134

Folkers U, Berger J, Hulskamp M (1997) Cell morphogenesis of trichomes in *Arabidopsis*: Differential control of primary and secondary branching by branch initiation regulators and cell growth. Development 124:3779-3786

Foster AS (1956) Plant idioblasts: Remarkable examples of cell specialization. Protoplasma 46:184-193

Fowler MR, Eyre S, Scott NW, Slater A, Elliott MC (1998) The plant cell cycle in context. Molecular Biotechnology 10:123-153

Franceschi VR, Nakata PA (2005) Calcium oxalate in plants: Formation and function. Annual Review of Plant Biology 56:41-71

Francis D (1998) Environmental control of the cell cycle in higher plants, pp 79-98. In: Plant Cell Proliferation and its Regulation in Growth and Development, Bryant JA and Chiatante D (eds). John Wiley and Sons, New York

Francis D (2007) The plant cell cycle - 15 years on. New Phytologist 174:261-278

Francis D, Inze D (2001) The plant cell cycle, pp 1-18. In: The Plant Cell Cycle and Its Interfaces, Francis D (ed). Sheffield Academic Press Ltd, UK

Franklin KA, Whitelam GC (2004) Light signals, phytochromes and cross-talk with other environmental cues. Journal of Experimental Botany 55:271-276

Fukai S, Hasegawa A, Goi M (2002) Polysomaty in *Cymbidium*. HortScience 37:1088-1091

Galbraith DW (1989) Analysis of higher plants by flow cytometry and cell sorting. International Review of Cytology 116:165-228

Galbraith DW (1990) Flow cytometric analysis of plant genomes, pp 549-562. In: Methods in Cell Biology Vol 33, Flow Cytometry, Darzynkiewicz Z and Crissman HA (eds). Academic Press Inc, USA

Galbraith DW, Harkins KR, Knapp S (1991) Systemic endopolyploidy in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiology 96:985-989

Galbraith DW, Harkins KR, Maddox JM, Ayres NM, Sharma DP, Firoozabady E (1983) Rapid flow cytometric analysis of the cell cycle in intact plant tissues. Science 220:1049-1051

Galbraith DW, Lambert GM (1996) Advances in the flow cytometric characterization of plant cells and tissues, pp 311-326. In: Flow Cytometry Applications in Cell Culture, Al-Rubeai M and Emery AN (eds). Marcel Dekker, New York

Galli MG (1988) The role of DNA synthesis during hypocotyl elongation in light and dark. Annals of Botany 62:287-294

Ge L, Yong JWH, Goh NK, Chia LS, Tan SN, Ong ES (2005) Identification of kinetin and kinetin riboside in coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) water using a combined approach of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, high performance liquid chromatography and capillary electrophoresis. Journal of Chromatography B 829:26-34

Ge L, Yong JWH, Tan SN, Yang XH, Ong ES (2004) Analysis of some cytokinins in coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) water by micellar electrokineic capillary chromatography after solid-phase extraction. Journal of Chromatography A 1048:119-126

Geier T (1986) Factors affecting plant regeneration from leaf segments of *Anthurium scherzerianum* Schott (Araceae) cultured *in vitro*. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 6:115-125

Geier T (1988) Ploidy variation in callus and regenerated plants of Anthurium scherzerianum Schott. Acta Horticulturae 226:293-298

Geitler L (1939) Die Entstehung der polyploiden Somakerne der Heteropteren durch Chromosomenteilung ohne Kernteilung. Chromosoma 1:1-22 (cited in Joubes and Chevalier 2000)

Gendreau E, Hofte H, Grandjean O, Brown S, Traas J (1998) Phytochrome controls the number of endoreduplication cycles in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* hypocotyl. Plant Journal 13:221-230

Gendreau E, Orbovic V, Hofte H, Traas J (1999) Gibberellin and ethylene control endoreduplication levels in the *Arabidopsis thaliana* hypocotyl. Planta 209:513-516

Gilissen LJW, Van Staveren MJ, Creemers-Molenaar J, Verhoeven HA (1993) Development of polysomaty in seedlings and plants of *Cucumis sativus* L. Plant Science 91:171-179

Goh CJ, Lakshmanan P, Loh CS (1994) High frequency direct shoot bud regeneration from excised leaves of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana* L.). Plant Science 101:173-180

Goh CJ, Sim AA, Lim G (1992) Mycorrhizal associations in some tropical orchids. Lindleyana 7:13-17

Gould AR (1979) Chromosomal and phenotypic stability during regeneration of whole plants from tissue cultures of *Brachycome dichromosomatica* (2n = 4). Australian Journal of Botany 27:117-121

Gould AR (1986) Factors controlling generation of variability *in vitro*, pp 549-567. In: Cell Culture and Somatic Cell Genetics of Plants Vol 3, Vasil IK (ed). Academic Press, London Graebe JE (1987) Gibberellin biosynthesis and control. Annual Review of Plant Biology 38:419-465

Grafi G, Burnett RJ, Helentjaris T, Larkins BA, DeCaprio JA, Sellers WR, Kaelin WG (1996) A maize cDNA encoding a member of the retinoblastoma protein family: Involvement in endoreduplication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 93:8962-8967

Guo J, Hu X (2008) Noninvasive expressions of *ipt* in whole plants or roots through pOp/LhG4 indicate a role of plant aerial parts and light in cytokinin synthesis and root inhibition. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation 27:251-262

Gutierrez C, Ramirez-Parra E, Castellano MM, Del Pozo JC (2002) G1 to S transition: More than a cell cycle engine switch. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5:480-486

He J, Woon WL (2008) Source-to-sink relationship between green leaves and green petals of different ages of the CAM orchid *Dendrobium* cv Burana Jade. Photosynthetica 46:91-97

Hee KH, Loh CS, Yeoh HH (2007) Early *in vitro* flowering and seed production in culture in *Dendrobium* Chao Praya Smile (Orchidaceae). Plant Cell Reports 26:2055-2062

Heller FO (1973) DNS-bestimmung an keimwurzeln von *Vicia faba* L. mit hilfe der impulscytophotometrie. Bericht der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft 86:437-441 (cited in Dolezel and Bartos 2005)

Henny RJ (1999) 'Red Hot' Anthurium. HortScience 234:153-154

Henny RJ, Hamilton RL (1992) Flowering of *Anthurium* following treatment with gibberellic acid. HortScience 27:1328-1328

Henny RJ, Poole RT, Conover CA (1988) 'Southern Blush' Anthurium. HortScience 23:922-923

Hew CS, Ong TK, Yap WP (1994) Circadian rhythm of carbon dioxide production by *Anthurium* flowers. HortScience 29:1025-1027

Hew CS, Yong JWH (2004) The Physiology of Tropical Orchids in Relation to the Industry. World Scientific, Singapore

Hewelt A, Prinsen E, Schell J, Van Onckelen H, Schmulling T (1994) Promoter tagging with a promoterless *ipt* gene leads to cytokinin-induced phenotypic variability in transgenic tobacco plants: Implications of gene dosage effects. Plant Journal 6:879-891

Horiguchi G, Ferjani A, Fujikura U, Tsukaya H (2006) Coordination of cell proliferation and cell expansion in the control of leaf size in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Plant Research 119:37-42

Huang S, Raman AS, Ream JE, Fujiwara H, Cerny RE, Brown SM (1998) Overexpression of 20-oxidase confers a gibberellin-overproduction phenotype in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiology 118:773-781

Hulskamp M, Schnittger A, Folkers U (1999) Pattern formation and cell differentiation: trichomes in *Arabidopsis* as a genetic model system. International Review of Cytology 186:147-178

Imamura JS, Higaki T (1988) Effect of GA<sub>3</sub> and BA on lateral shoot production on *Anthurium scherzerianum*. HortScience 23:353-354

Ishikawa K, Kamada H, Harada H (1997) Another evidence for inhibitory effect of auxin in adventitious bud formation of decapitated flax (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) seedlings. Journal of Plant Research 110:387-392

Jain SM, Ahloowalia BS, Veilleux RE (1998a) Somaclonal variation in crop improvement, pp 203-218. In: Somaclonal Variation and Induced Mutations in Crop Improvement, Jain SM, Brar DS and Ahloowalia BS (eds). Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston

Jain SM, Buiatti M, Gimelli F, Saccardo F (1998b) Somaclonal variation in improving ornamental plants, pp 81-104. In: Somaclonal Variation and Induced Mutations in Crop Improvement, Jain SM, Brar DS and Ahloowalia BS (eds). Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston

Jaligot E, Rival A, Beule T, Dussert S, Verdeil JL (2000) Somaclonal variation in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.): The DNA methylation hypothesis. Plant Cell Reports 19:684-690

Jasinski S, Riou-Khamlichi C, Roche O, Perennes C, Bergounioux C, Glab N (2002) The CDK inhibitor NtKIS1a is involved in plant development, endoreduplication and restores normal development of cyclin D3;1-overexpressing plants. Journal of Cell Science 115:973-982

Jin S, Mushke R, Zhu H, Tu L, Lin Z, Zhang Y, Zhang X (2008) Detection of somaclonal variation of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) using cytogenetics, flow cytometry and molecular markers. Plant Cell Reports 27:1303-1316

John PCL, Qi R (2008) Cell division and endoreduplication: Doubtful engines of vegetative growth. Trends in Plant Science 13:121-127

John PCL, Zhang K, Dong C, Diederich L, Wightman F (1993) p34(cdc2) related proteins in control of cell-cycle progression, the switch between division and differentiation in tissue-development, and stimulation of division by auxin and cytokinin. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 20:503-526

Johnson HB (1975) Plant pubescence: An ecological perspective. Botanical Review 41:233-258

Jones WE, Kuehnle AR (1998) Ploidy identification using flow cytometry in tissues of *Dendrobium* species and cultivars. Lindleyana 13:11-18

Jones WE, Kuehnle AR, Arumuganathan K (1998) Nuclear DNA content of 26 orchid (Orchidaceae) genera with emphasis on *Dendrobium*. Annals of Botany 82:189-194

Jouanneau JP, De Marsac NT (1973) Stepwise effects of cytokinin activity and DNA synthesis upon mitotic cycle events in partially synchronized tobacco cells. Experimental Cell Research 77:167-174

Joubes J, Chevalier C (2000) Endoreduplication in higher plants. Plant Molecular Biology 43:735-745

Jovtchev G, Barow M, Meister A, Schubert I (2007) Impact of environmental and endogenous factors on endopolyploidization in angiosperms. Environmental and Experimental Botany 60:404-411

Kamemoto H, Amore TD, Kuehnle AR (1999) Breeding *Dendrobium* Orchids in Hawaii. University of Hawaii Press, Honolulu

Karp A (1994) Origins, causes and uses of variation in plant tissue cultures, pp 139-152. In: Plant Cell and Tissue Culture, Vasil IK and Thorpe TA (eds). Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston

Katekar GF, Geissler AE (1980) Auxin transport inhibitors: IV. Evidence of a common mode of action for a proposed class of auxin transport inhibitors: The phytotropins. Plant Physiology 66:1190-1195

Kato Y, Nair KK, Dyer KA, Riddiford LM (1987) Changes in ploidy level of epidermal cells during last larval instar of the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*. Development 99:137-143

Kausch AP, Horner HT (1984) Increased nuclear DNA content in raphide crystal idioblasts during development in *Vanilla planifolia* L. (Orchidaceae). European Journal of Cell Biology 33:7-12

Kawata M, Ohmiya A, Shimamoto Y, Oono K, Takaiwa F (1995) Structural changes in the plastid DNA of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) during tissue culture. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 90:364-371

Kende H, Zeevaart JAD (1997) The five "classical" plant hormones. Plant Cell 9:1197-1210

Kerbauy GB (1991) *In vitro* conversion of *Cattleya* root tip cells into protocorm-like bodies. Journal of Plant Physiology 138:248-251

Kinoshita I, Sanbe A, Yokomura EI (1991) Increases in nuclear DNA content without mitosis in benzyladenine-treated primary leaves of intact and decapitated bean plants. Journal of Experimental Botany 42:667-672

Knudson L (1946) A new nutrient solution for the germination of orchid seeds. American Orchid Society Bulletin 15:214-217

Kondorosi E, Kondorosi A (2004) Endoreduplication and activation of the anaphasepromoting complex during symbiotic cell development. FEBS Letters 567:152-157

Kondorosi E, Roudier F, Gendreau E (2000) Plant cell-size control: Growing by ploidy? Current Opinion in Plant Biology 3:488-492

Kostenyuk I, Oh BJ, So IS (1999) Induction of early flowering in *Cymbidium niveo*marginatum Mak in vitro. Plant Cell Reports 19:1-5

Kowles RV, Phillips PL (1985) DNA amplification patterns in maize endosperm nuclei during kernel development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 82:7010-7014

Kowles RV, Srienc F, Phillips RL (1990) Endoreduplication of nuclear DNA in the developing maize endosperm. Developmental Genetics 11:125-132

Kudo N, Kimura Y (2001a) Patterns of endopolyploidy during seedling development in cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L.). Annals of Botany 87:275-281

Kudo N, Kimura Y (2001b) Flow cytometric evidence for endopolyploidization in cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L.) flowers. Sexual Plant Reproduction 13:279-283

Kudo N, Kimura Y (2001c) Flow cytometric evidence for endopolyploidy in seedlings of some *Brassica* species. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 102:104-110

Kuehnle AR, Chen FC, Sugii N (1992) Somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration in *Anthurium andraeanum* hybrids. Plant Cell Reports 11:438-442

Kuehnle AR, Sugii N (1991) Callus induction and plantlet regeneration in tissuecultures of Hawaiian *Anthuriums*. HortScience 26:919-921

Kunisaki JT (1980) *In vitro* propagation of *Anthurium andraeanum* Lind. HortScience 15:508-509

Kuo HL, Chen JT, Chang WC (2005) Efficient plant regeneration through direct somatic embryogenesis from leaf explants of *Phalaenopsis* 'Little Steve'. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 41:453-456

Ladyzynski M, Burza W, Malepszy S (2002) Relationship between somaclonal variation and type of culture in cucumber. Euphytica 125:349-356

Larkin PJ, Scowcroft WR (1981) Somaclonal variation - A novel source of variability from cell cultures for plant improvement. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 60:197-214

Larkins BA, Dilkes BP, Dante RA, Coelho CM, Woo YM, Liu Y (2001) Investigating the hows and whys of DNA endoreduplication. Journal of Experimental Botany 52:183-192

Lee HC, Chen YJ, Markhart AH, Lin TY (2007) Temperature effects on systemic endoreduplication in orchid during floral development. Plant Science 172:588-595

Lee HC, Chiou DW, Chen WH, Markhart AH, Chen YH, Lin TY (2004) Dynamics of cell growth and endoreduplication during orchid flower development. Plant Science 166:659-667

Lee M, Phillips RL (1988) The chromosomal basis of somaclonal variation. Annual Review of Plant Biology 39:413-437

Leiva-Neto JT, Grafi G, Sabelli PA, Dante RA, Woo YM, Maddock S, Gordon-Kamm WJ, Larkins BA (2004) A dominant negative mutant of cyclin-dependent kinase A reduces endoreduplication, but not cell size or gene expression in maize endosperm. Plant Cell 16:1854-1869

Leubner-Metzger G (2001) Brassinosteroids and gibberellins promote tobacco seed germination by distinct pathways. Planta 213:758-763

Levan A (1939) Cytological phenomena connected with the root swelling caused by growth substances. Hereditas 21:87-96

Levan A, Hauschka TS (1953) Endomitotic reduplication mechanisms in ascites tumors of the mouse. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 14:1-43

Lewis-Smith AC, Chamberlain M, Smith SM (1990) Genetic and chromosomal variation in *Petunia hybrida* plants regenerated from protoplast and callus cultures. Biologia Plantarum 32:247-255

Li JC, Choo TM, Ho KM, Falk DE, Blatt R (2001) Barley somaclones associated with high yield or resistance to powdery mildew. Euphytica 121:349-356

Li WL, Berlyn GP, Ashton PMS (1996) Polyploids and their structural and physiological characteristics relative to water deficit in *Betula papyrifera* (Betulaceae). American Journal of Botany 83:15-20

Li Y, Hagen G, Guilfoyle TJ (1992) Altered morphology in transgenic tobacco plants that overproduce cytokinins in specific tissues and organs. Developmental Biology 153:386-395

Libbenga KR, Torrey JG (1973). Hormone induced endoreduplication prior to mitosis in cultured pea root cortex cells. American Journal of Botany 60:293-299

Lim WL, Loh CS (2003) Endopolyploidy in *Vanda* Miss Joaquim (Orchidaceae). New Phytologist 159:279-287

Linacero R, Vazquez AM (1993) Somaclonal variation in rye. Mutation Research 302:201-205

Liscum E, Hangarter RP (1991) Manipulation of ploidy level in cultured haploid Petunia tissue by phytohormone treatments. Journal of Plant Physiology 138:33-38

Lopez RG, Runkle ES (2005) Environmental physiology of growth and flowering of orchids. HortScience 40:1969-1973

Lorz AP (1947) Supernumerary chromonemal reproductions: Polytene chromosomes, endomitosis, multiple chromosome complexes, polysomaty. Botanical Review 13:597-624

Lukaszewska E, Sliwinska E (2007) Most organs of sugar-beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) plants at the vegetative and reproductive stages of development are polysomatic. Sexual Plant Reproduction 20:99-107

Lur H, Setter TL (1993) Role of auxin in maize endosperm development (Timing of nuclear DNA endoreduplication, zein expression, and cytokinin). Plant Physiology 103:273-280

Ma Z, GE L, Lee ASY, Yong JWH, Tan SN, Ong ES (2008) Simultaneous analysis of different classes of phytohormones in coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) water using high-performance liquid chromatography and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry after solid-phase extraction. Analytica Chimica Acta 610:274-281

Magyar Z, Atanassova A, De Veylder L, Rombauts S, Inze D (2000) Characterization of two distinct DP-related genes from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. FEBS Letters 486:79-87

Martin KP, Madassery J, Joseph D, Philip VJ (2003) Direct shoot regeneration from lamina explants of two commercial cut flower cultivars of *Anthurium andraeanum* Hort. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 39:500-504

Martin KP, Madassery J (2006) Rapid *in vitro* propagation of *Dendrobiu*m hybrids through direct shoot formation from foliar explants, and protocorm-like bodies. Scientia Horticulturae 108:95-99

Matsumoto TK, Kuehnle AR, Webb DT (1998) Zygotic embryogenesis in *Anthurium* (Araceae). American Journal of Botany 85:1560-1568

Mauricio R, Rausher MD (1997) Experimental manipulation of putative selective agents provides evidence for the role of natural enemies in the evolution of plant defense. Evolution: International Journal of Organic Evolution 51:1435-1444

Melaragno JE, Mehrotra B, Coleman AW (1993) Relationship between endopolyploidy and cell size in epidermal tissue of *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 5:1661-1668

Menges M, De Jager SM, Gruissem W, Murray JAH (2005) Global analysis of the core cell cycle regulators of *Arabidopsis* identifies novel genes, reveals multiple and

highly specific profiles of expression and provides a coherent model for plant cell cycle control. Plant Journal 41:546-566

Menges M, Samland AK, Planchais S, Murray JAH (2006) The D-type cyclin CYCD3;1 is limiting for the G1-to S-phase transition in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 18:893-906

Mishiba K, Mii M (2000) Polysomaty analysis in diploid and tetraploid *Portulaca* grandiflora. Plant Science 156:213-219

Mishiba K, Okamoto T, Mii M (2001) Increasing ploidy level in cell suspension cultures of *Doritaenopsis* by exogenous application of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid. Physiologia Plantarum 112:142-148

Moyne AL, Souq F, Yean LH, Brown SC, Boulay M, Sangwan-Norreel BS (1993) Relationship between cell ploidy and regeneration capacity of long term *Rosa hybrida* cultures. Plant Science 93:159-168

Muller E, Brown PTH, Hartke S, Lorz H (1990) DNA variation in tissue-culturederived rice plants. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 80:673-679

Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiologia Plantarum 15:473-497

Murray JA, Doonan J, Riou-Khamlichi C, Meijer M, Oakenfull EA (2001) G1 cyclins, cytokinins and the regulation of the G1/S transition, pp 19-41. In: The Plant Cell Cycle and Its Interfaces, Francis D (ed). Sheffield Academic Press Ltd, UK

Nagl W (1972) Evidence of DNA amplification in the orchid *Cymbidium in vitro*. Cytobios 5:145-154

Nagl W (1976) DNA endoreduplication and polytene understood as evolutionary strategies. Nature 261:614-615

Nagl W (1993) Induction of high polyploidy in *Phaseolus* cell-cultures by the proteinkinase inhibitor, K-252a. Plant Cell Reports 12:170-174

Nakagami H, Kawamura K, Sugisaka K, Sekine M, Shinmyo A (2002) Phosphorylation of retinoblastoma-related protein by the cyclin D/cyclin-dependent kinase complex is activated at the G1/S-phase transition in tobacco. Plant Cell 14:1847-1857

Nayak NR, Rath SP, Patnaik S (1997) *In vitro* propagation of three epiphytic orchids, *Cymbidium aloifolium* (L.) Sw., *Dendrobium aphyllum* (Roxb.) Fisch. and *Dendrobium moschatum* (Buch-Ham) Sw. through thidiazuron-induced high frequency shoot proliferation. Scientia Horticulturae 71:243-250

Nayak NR, Sahoo S, Patnaik S, Rath SP (2002) Establishment of thin cross section (TCS) culture method for rapid micropropagation of *Cymbidium aloifolium* (L.) Sw and *Dendrobium nobile* Lindl. (Orchidaceae). Scientia Horticulturae 94:107-116

Neff MM, Fankhauser C, Chory J (2000) Light: An indicator of time and place. Genes and Development 14:257-271

Nishi T, Yamada Y, Takahashi E (1968) Organ redifferentiation and plant restoration in rice callus. Nature 219:508-509

Olszewska MJ, Osiecka R (1982) The relationship between 2C DNA content, lifecycle type, systematic position and the level of DNA endoreduplication in nuclei of parenchyma cells during growth and differentiation of roots in some monocotyledonous species. Biochemie und Physiologie der Pflanzen 177:319-336

Oono Y, Ooura C, Rahman A, Aspuria ET, Hayashi KI, Tanaka A, Uchimiya H (2003) *p*-chlorophenoxyisobutyric acid impairs auxin response in *Arabidopsis* root. Plant Physiology 133:1135-1147

Palomino G, Dolezel J, Cid R, Brunner I, Mendez I, Rubluo A (1999) Nuclear genome stability of *Mammillaria san-angelensis* (Cactaceae) regenerants induced by auxins in long-term *in vitro* culture. Plant Science 141:191-200

Park JA, Ahn JW, Kim YK, Kim SJ, Kim JK, Kim WT, Pai HS (2005) Retinoblastoma protein regulated cell proliferation, differentiation, and endoreduplication in plants. Plant Journal 42:153-163

Park SY, Murthy HN, Paek KY (2002) Rapid propagation of *Phalaenopsis* from floral stalk-derived leaves. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 38:168-172

Peschke VM, Phillips RL (1991) Activation of the maize transposable element suppressor-mutator (Spm) in tissue culture. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 81:90-97

Pierik RLM, Steegmans HHM, Van Der Meys JAJ (1974) Plantlet formation in callus tissues of *Anthurium andraeanum* Lind. Scientia Horticulturae 2:193-198

Plader W, Malepszy S, Burza W, Rusinowski Z (1998) The relationship between the regeneration system and genetic variability in the cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.). Euphytica 103:9-15

Puente RDL, Gonzalez AI, Ruiz ML, Polanco C (2008) Somaclonal variation in rye (*Secale cereale* L.) analyzed using polymorphic and sequenced AFLP markers. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 44:419-426

Rademacher W (2000) Growth retardants: Effects on gibberellin biosynthesis and other metabolic pathways. Annual Review of Plant Biology 51:501-531

Raghu AV, Geetha SP, Martin G, Balachandran I, Ravindran PN (2006) *In vitro* clonal propagation through mature nodes of *Tinospora cordifolia* (Willd.) Hook. F. & Thoms.: An important ayurvedic medicinal plant. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 42:584-588

Rajasekaran K, Hein MB, Davis GC, Carnes MG, Vasil IK (1987) Endogenous growth regulators in leaves and tissue cultures of *Pennisetum purpureum* Schum. Journal of Plant Physiology 130:13-25

Ramanayake SMSD, Maddegoda KMMN, Vitharana MC, Chaturani GDG (2008) Root induction in three species of bamboo with different rooting abilities. Scientia Horticulturae 118:270-273

Ramirez-Parra E, Xie Q, Boniotti MB, Gutierrez C (1999) The cloning of plant E2F, a retinoblastoma-binding protein, reveals unique and conserved features with animal  $G_1/S$  regulators. Nucleic Acids Research 27:3527-3533

Ramos GBA, Engler JDA, Ferreira PCG, Hemerly AS (2001) DNA replication in plants: Characterization of a *cdc6* homologue from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Experimental Botany 52:2239-2240

Ranamukhaarachchi DG, Henny RJ, Guy CL, Li QB (2001) DNA fingerprinting to identify nine *Anthurium* pot plant cultivars and examine their genetic relationship. HortScience 36:758-760

Rayburn AL, Auger JA, Benzinger EA, Hepburn AG (1989) Detection of intraspecific DNA content variation of *Zea mays* L. by flow cytometry. Journal of Experimental Botany 40:1179-1183

Reuther G, Becker U (1987) Relationships between ploidy variations and organogenic potency in long-term callus cultures of *Asparagus off*. Acta Horticulturae 212:143-149

Roberts AV (2007) The use of bead beating to prepare suspensions of nuclei for flow cytometry from fresh leaves, herbarium leaves, petals and pollen. Cytometry Part A 71A:1039-1044

Rood SB, Mandel R, Pharis RP (1989) Endogenous gibberellins and shoot growth and development in *Brassica napus*. Plant Physiology 89:269-273

Roy J, Naha S, Majumdar M, Banerjee N (2007) Direct and callus-mediated protocorm-like body induction from shoot-tips of *Dendrobium chrysotoxum* Lindl. (Orchidaceae). Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 90:31-39

Sabelli PA, Burgess SR, Kush AK, Young MR, Shewry PR (1996) cDNA cloning and characterisation of a maize homologue of the MCM proteins required for the initiation of DNA replication. Molecular and General Genetics 252:125-136

Sabelli PA, Larkins BA (2007) The endoreduplication cell cycle: Regulation and function, pp 75-100. In: Plant Cell Monographs (9), Cell Division Control in Plants, Verma DPS and Hong Z (eds). Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg

Sauer K, Knoblich JA, Richardson H, Lehner CF (1995) Distinct modes of cyclin E/cdc2c kinase regulation and S-phase control in mitotic and endoreduplication cycles of Drosophila embryogenesis. Genes and Development 9:1327-1339

Scharpe A, Van Parijs R (1973) The formation of polyploid cells in ripening cotyledons of *Pisum sativum* L. in relation to ribosome and protein synthesis. Journal of Experimental Botany 24:216-222

Schnittger A, Schobinger U, Bouyer D, Weinl C, Stierhof YD, Hulskamp M (2002) Ectopic D-type cyclin expression induces not only DNA replication but also cell division in *Arabidopsis* trichomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 99:6410-6415

Schnittger A, Weinl C, Bouyer D, Schobinger U, Hulskamp M (2003) Misexpression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor *ICK1/KRP1* in single-celled *Arabidopsis* trichomes reduces endoreduplication and cell size and induces cell death. Plant Cell 15:303-315

Schultze M, Kondorosi A (1998) Regulation of symbiotic root nodule development. Annual Review of Genetics 32:33-57

Schweizer L, Yerk-Davis GL, Phillips RL, Srienc F, Jones RJ (1995) Dynamics of maize endosperm development and DNA endoreduplication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) 92:7070-7074

Sekine M, Ito M, Uemukai K, Maeda Y, Nakagami H, Shinmyo A (1999) Isolation and characterization of the E2F-like gene in plants. FEBS Letters 460:117-122

Serna L, Martin C (2006) Trichomes: Different regulatory networks lead to convergent structures. Trends in Plant Science 11:274-280

Serrani JC, Sanjuan R, Ruiz-Rivero O, Fos M, Garcia-Martinez JL (2007) Gibberellin regulation of fruit set and growth in tomato. Plant Physiology 145:246-257

Setter TL, Flannigan BA (2001) Water deficit inhibits cell division and expression of transcripts involved in cell proliferation and endoreduplication in maize endosperm. Journal of Experimental Botany 52:1401-1408

Shantz EM, Steward FC (1952) Coconut milk factor: The growth-promoting substances in coconut milk. Journal of the American Chemical Society 74:6133-6135

Shantz EM, Steward FC (1955) The identification of compound A from coconut milk as 1,3-diphenylurea. Journal of the American Chemical Society 77:6351-6353

Sheffer RD, Croat TB (1983) Chromosome numbers in the genus *Anthurium* (Araceae) II. American Journal of Botany 70:858-871

Sheffer RD, Kamemoto H (1976a) Cross compatibility in the genus *Anthurium*. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 101:709-713

Sheffer RD, Kamemoto H (1976b) Chromosome numbers in the genus Anthurium. American Journal of Botany 63:74-81

Shen WH (2002) The plant E2F-Rb pathway and epigenetic control. Trends in Plant Science 7:505–511

Shepard JF, Bidney D, Shalin E (1980) Potato protoplasts in crop improvement. Science 208:17-24

Shin DH, Kim JS, Kim IJ, Yang J, Oh SK, Chung GC, Han KH (2000) A shoot regeneration protocol effective on diverse genotypes of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology (Plant) 36:273-278

Sim GE, Goh CJ, Loh CS (1989) Micropropagation of *Citrus mitis* Blanco – Multiple bud formation from shoot and root explants in the presence of 6-benzylaminopurine. Plant Science 59:203-210

Sim GE, Loh CS, Goh CJ (2007) High frequency early *in vitro* flowering of *Dendrobium* Madame Thong-In (Orchidaceae). Plant Cell Reports 26:383-393

Sim GE, Loh CS, Goh CJ (2008) Induction of *in vitro* flowering in *Dendrobium* Madame Thong-In (Orchidaceae) seedlings is associated with increase in endogenous  $N^{6}$ -( $\Delta^{2}$ -isopentenyl)-adenine (iP) and  $N^{6}$ -( $\Delta^{2}$ -isopentenyl)-adenosine (iPA) levels. Plant Cell Reports 27:1281-1289

Singh G, Sandhu SK, Meeta M, Singh K, Gill R, Gosal SS (2007) *In vitro* induction and characterization of somaclonal variation for red rot and other agronomic traits in sugarcane. Euphytica 160:35-47

Singh SK, Syamal MM (2000) Anti-auxin enhance *Rosa hybrida* L. micropropagation. Biologia Plantarum 43:279-281

Skirvin RM, Janick J (1976) Tissue culture induced variation in scented *Pelargonium* spp. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 101:281-290

Sliwinska E, Lukaszewska E (2005) Polysomaty in growing *in vitro* sugar-beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) seedlings of different ploidy level. Plant Science 168:1067-1074

Smulders MJM, Rus-Kortekaas W, Gilissen LJW (1994) Development of polysomaty during differentiation in diploid and tetraploid tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) plants. Plant Science 97:53-60

Springer PS, Holding DR, Groover A, Yordan C, Martienssen RA (2000) The essential Mcm7 protein PROLIFERA is localized to the nucleus of dividing cells during the G1 phase and is required maternally for early *Arabidopsis* development. Development 127:1815-1822

Stepinski D (2003) Effect of chilling on DNA endoreplication in root cortex cells and root hairs of soybean seedlings. Biologia Plantarum 47:333-339

Stern WL, Morris MW, Judd WS (1994) Anatomy of the thick leaves in *Dendrobium* section *Rhizobium* (Orchidaceae). International Journal of Plant Sciences 155:716-729

Sugimoto-shirasu K, Roberts K (2003) "Big it up": Endoreduplication and cell-size control in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6:544-553

Sulistyaningsih E, Aoyagi Y, Tashiro Y (2006) Flower bud culture of Shallot (*Allium cepa* L. Aggregatum group) with cytogenetic analysis of resulting gynogenic plants and somaclones. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 86:249-255

Swedlund B, Vasil IK (1985) Cytogenetic characterization of embryogenic callus and regenerated plants of *Pennisetum americanum* (L.) K. Schum. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 69:575-581

Tanaka R, Kamemoto H (1984) Chromosomes in orchids: Counting and numbers, pp 325-410. In: Orchid Biology: Reviews and Perspectives III, Arditti J (ed). Comstock Publishing Associates, New York

Teng W (1997) Regeneration of *Anthurium* adventitious shoots using liquid or raft culture. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 49:153-156

Tsuge T, Tsukaya H, Uchimiya H (1996) Two independent and polarized processes of cell elongation regulate leaf blade expansion in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. Development 122:1589-1600

Tsumoto Y, Yoshizumi T, Kuroda H, Kawashima M, Ichikawa T, Nakazawa M, Yamamoto N, Matsui M (2006) Light-dependent polyploidy control by a CUE protein variant in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Molecular Biology 61:817-828

Tyler L, Thomas SG, Hu JH, Dill A, Alonso JM, Ecker JR, Sun TP (2004) DELLA proteins and gibberellin-regulated seed germination and floral development in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiology 135:1008-1019

Uijtewaal BA (1987) Ploidy variability in greenhouse cultured and *in vitro* propagated potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) monohaploids (2n = x = 12) as determined by flow cytometry. Plant Cell Reports 6:252-255

Vajrabhaya T (1977) Variations in clonal propagation, pp 177-202. In: Orchid Biology: Reviews and Perspectives I, Arditti J (ed). Comstock Publishing Associates, New York

Valente P, Tao W, Verbelen JP (1998) Auxins and cytokinins control DNA endoreduplication and deduplication in single cells of tobacco. Plant Science 134:207-215

Van den Bulk RW, Loffler HJM, Lindhout WH, Koornneef M (1990) Somaclonal variation in tomato: Effect of explant source and a comparison with chemical mutagenesis. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 80:817-825

Van Oostveldt P, Van Parijs R (1975) Effect of light on nuclei-acid synthesis and polyploidy level in elongating epicotyl cells of *Pisum sativum*. Planta 124:287-295

Van Staden J, Drewes SE (1975). Identification of zeatin and zeatin riboside in coconut milk. Physiologia Plantarum 34:106-109

Vasil IK (1987) Developing cell and tissue culture systems for the improvement of cereal and grass crops. Journal of Plant Physiology 128:193-218

Vellupillai M, Swarup S, Goh CJ (1997) Histological and protein changes during early stages of seed germination in the orchid, *Dendrobium crumenatum*. Journal of Horticultural Science 72:941-948

Verkest A, Manes CDO, Vercruysse S, Maes S, Van Der Schueren E, Beeckman T, Genschik P, Kuiper M, Inze D, De Veylder L (2005) The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor KRP2 controls the onset of the endoreduplication cycle during *Arabidopsis* leaf development through inhibition of mitotic CDKA;1 kinase complexes. Plant Cell 17:1723-1736

Vinardell JM, Fedorova E, Cebolla A, Kevei Z, Horvath G, Kelemen Z, Tarayre S, Roudier F, Mergaert P, Kondorosi A, Kondorosi E (2003) Endoreduplication mediated by the anaphase-promoting complex activator CCS52A is required for symbiotic cell differentiation in *Medicago truncatula* nodules. Plant Cell 15:2093-2105

Walker JD, Oppenheimer DG, Concienne J, Larkin JC (2000) *SIAMESE*, a gene controlling the endoreduplication cell cycle in *Arabidopsis thaliana* trichomes. Development 127:3931-3940

Walker KA, Wendeln ML, Jaworski EG (1979) Organogenesis in callus tissue of *Medicago sativa*. The temporal separation of induction processes from differentiation processes. Plant Science Letters 16:23-30

Weinl C, Marquardt S, Kuijt SJH, Nowack MK, Jakoby MJ, Hulskamp M, Schnittger A (2005) Novel functions of plant cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, ICK1/KRP1, can act non-cell-autonomously and inhibit entry into mitosis. Plant Cell 17:1704-1722

Weiss H, Maluszynska J (2001) Molecular cytogenetic analysis of polyploidization in the anther tapetum of diploid and autotetraploid *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants. Annals of Botany 87:729-735

Welander M (1988) Plant regeneration from leaf and stem segments of shoots raised *in vitro* from mature apple trees. Journal of Plant Physiology 132:738-744

Werker E (2000) Trichome: Diversity and development. Advances in Botanical Research 31:1-35

Wernickle W, Brettell R (1980) Somatic embryogenesis from *Sorgbum bicolor* leaves. Nature 287:138-139

Wilhelm E, Biradar DP, Bullock DG, Rayburn AL (1995) Endopolyploidization of mesocotyls in Nebraska maize populations selected for cold tolerance. Crop Science 35:958-961

Winkelmann T, Geier T, Preil W (2006) Commercial *in vitro* plant production in Germany in 1985 - 2004. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 86:319-327

Xu YF, Teo LL, Zhou J, Kumar PP, Yu H (2006) Floral organ identity genes in the orchid *Dendrobium crumenatum*. Plant Journal 46:54-68

Yamaguchi S (2008) Gibberellin metabolism and its regulation. Annual Review of Plant Biology 59:225-251

Yang MC, Loh CS (2004) Systemic endopolyploidy in *Spathoglottis plicata* (Orchidaceae) development. BMC Cell Biology 5:33

Yanpaisan W, King NJC, Doran PM (1999) Flow cytometry of plant cells with applications in large-scale bioprocessing. Biotechnology Advances 17:3-27

Yen CYT, Starman TW, Wang YT (2008) Timing of nutrient termination and reapplication affects growth, flower differentiation, and flowering of a hybrid nobile dendrobium. HortScience 43:1095-1096

Yoshizumi T, Tsumoto Y, Takiguchi T, Nagata N, Yamamoto YY, Kawashima M, Ichikawa T, Nakazawa M, Yamamoto N, Matsui M (2006) Increased level of polyploidy1, a conserved repressor of *CYCLINA2* transcription, controls endoreduplication in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 18:2452-2468

Young TE, Gallie DR (2000) Programmed cell death during endosperm development. Plant Molecular Biology 44:283-301

Yu H, Goh CJ (2000) Identification and characterization of three orchid MADS-box genes of the AP1/AGL9 subfamily during floral transition. Plant Physiology 123:1325-1336

Yu H, Yang SH, Goh CJ (2000) *DOH1*, a class 1 *knox* gene, is required for maintenance of the basic plant architecture and floral transition in orchid. Plant Cell 12:2143-2160

Zha XQ, Luo JP, Jiang ST, Wang Y (2007) Carbon and nitrogen metabolism during *Dendrobium huoshanense* protocorm-like body development in suspension culture. Plant Biosystems 141:62-68